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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

To the Shareholders of NH Hotel Group, S.A.,

Report on the Financial Statements

*O.pin.ion

We have audited the financial statements of NH Hotel Group, S.A. (the Company), which
comprise the balance sheet as at 31 December 2017, and the income statement, statement
of changes in equity, cash flows statement and notes to the financial statements for the year

then ended.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the equity and financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2017, and its results and
its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with the regulatory financial reporting
framework applicable to the Company (identified in Note 2-a to the financial statements) and,
in particular, with the accounting principles and rules contained therein.

Basis fo erinibn

We conducted our audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain. Our
responsibilities under those regulations are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements, including
those pertaining to independence, that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in
Spain pursuant to the audit regulations in force. In this regard, we have not provided any
services other than those relating to the audit of financial statements and there have not been
any situations or circumstances that, in accordance with the aforementioned audit regulations,
might have affected the requisite independence in such a way as to compromise our
independence.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our opinion.

Delcite, S.L. Inscritz en el Registra Marcantil de Madrid, tomo 13.650. seccién 82, fchio 1388, hoja M-54<14, inscripcidn 369,
C.LF.: B-79104459. Demicilio social. Plaza Pablo Ruiz Plcasse, 1, Torre Picasso, 28020, Madrid.



Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recoverability of deferred tax assets

Description

The balance sheet as at 31 December
2017 includes deferred tax assets
amounting to EUR 100 million, of which
EUR 91 million relate to tax assets (mainly
tax loss and tax credit carryforwards) of
the Company.

At the end of the year the Company
prepares financial models to assess the
recoverability of the tax losses recognised,
taking into consideration new legislative
developments and the most recently
approved business plans.

We identified this matter as key in our
audit, since the preparation of these
models requires a significant level of
judgement, largely in connection with the
projections of business performance,
which affect the estimate of the
recoverability of the tax assets.

Procedures applied in the audit

Our audit procedures included, among others,
the review of the design and implementation
of the relevant controls, as well as tests to
verify that those controls operate effectively,
the review of the afarementioned financial
madels, including the analysis of the
consistency of the actual results obtained by
the Company with the results projected in the
previous year’s maodels, the obtainment of
evidence of the approval of the budgeted
results included in the current year’s models
and the tax legislation applicable where the
deferred tax assets are recognised, as well as
the reasonableness of the projections for future
years and the cansistency of these projections
with those used in other areas of estimation,
such as those used in the assessment of
impairment on financial investments relating to
Group companies and associates or in the
impairment test on hotel assets. We also
involved our internal experts from the tax
area in the analysis of the reasonableness
of the tax assumptions considered on the

basis of the applicable legislation.

Lastly, we assessed whether Note 14 to
the accompanying financial statements
contains the disclosures required in this
connection by the regulatory financial
reporting framework applicable to the
Company.



Measurement of ownership interests in Group companies and associates

Description

The Company has ownership interests in the
share capital of Group companies and
associates that are not listed on regulated
markets, as detailed in Note 8.2.

The measurement of these ownership
interests requires the use of significant
judgements and estimates by management,
both in determining future cash flow
discounting as the valuation method and in

considering the key assumptions established.

As a result of the foregoing, as well as the
significance of the investments held, which
emounted to EUR 1,887 million at year-end
and for which a net impairment loss of EUR
51 million was reversed in the statement of
profit or lass for 2017, this situation was
determined to be a key matter in our audit.

Procedures applied in the audit

Our audit procedures included, among
others, obtaining and analysing the valuation
studies conducted by Company management
on the aforementioned ownership interests,
and verifying the clerical accuracy thereof
and the adequacy of the valuation method
used in relation to the investment held. For
this purpose, we analysed whether the future
cash flow estimates considered in the
analysis carried out were consistent with the
budgets approved by the Board of Directors,
and with external data and historical
information on the investees.

In this context, we analysed the
reasonableness of the main assumptions
used (basically those relating to the
estimated future cash flows, the terminal
value and the discount rates) and whether
they were consistent with the actual data
relating to the performance of the ownership
interests held, as well as other key
assumptions considered (such as the
revenue growth, the assumptions on gross
margins, cost inflation and perpetuity growth
rates) and with public data on the sectors in
which the investees operate. We also
considered the ability to distribute dividends
based on historical information and existing
agreements that do not preclude their
distribution in the future, and performed a
sensitivity analysis of the key assumptions
identified.

We involved our internal valuation experts in
order to evaluate, mainly, the discount rates
considered and the terminal value,
expressed in perpetuity growth terms, of the
projected future cash flows. Lastly, we
evaluated whether the disclosures included
in Note 8.2 to the accompanying financial
statements in connection with this matter
are in conformity with those required by the
applicable accounting regulations.



Impairment test on assets associated with the hotel activity

Description

As indicated in Note 18-a) to the financial
statements, at 31 December 2017 the
Company was carrying on its activity through
hotel establishments that it operates and
owns, or was receiving income from leasing
hotel assets owned by it. The carrying
amount of all the assets associated with the
hotel activity -property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets- amounted to EUR 163
million at 31 December 2017.

At the end of each reporting period,
management performs an impairment test in
order to determine the recoverable amount
of the aforementioned assets. In order to
calculate the recoverable amount of each
cash-generating unit ("CGU"), Company
management generally considers the
calculation of the value in use of each of
these units based on the estimate of future
cash flows and applying specific growth rates
and a specific discount rate

The valuation of the hotel assets is a key
audit matter, since it requires the use of
estimates with a significant degree of
uncertainty. Specifically, the valuation
method generally applied to hotel assets is
the discounted cash flow method, which
requires estimates to be made, inter alia, of:

- The future room rental revenue of each
CGU (projected as the occupancy rate
multiplied by the average price per room
and by the total number of rooms
available per year).

- The rest of the revenue projected as the
average ratio of the room rental revenue
to that revenue.

- Staff costs and other direct expenses
associated with each CGU.

The internal rate of return or opportunity
cost used when discounting.

The residual value of the assets at the end of
the projection period.

Procedures applied in the audit

We obtained the impairment test performed
by management and, with the involvement
of our internal experts, our audit procedures
included, among others:

- The review of the design and
implementation of the relevant controls
that mitigate the risks associated with
the process to assess the potential
impairment of the assets associated with
the hotel activity, as well as tests to
verify that the aforementioned controls
operate effectively;

- The comparison of the consistency of the
methodology used in 2017 with that of
the previous year;

The clerical review of the calculations;

- Based on a sample of assets, taken on 2
selective basis, the assessment of the
reasonableness of the main assumptions
applied in relation to roem rental
revenue, as well as the future
investments and the comparison with
objective publically available data;

- The analysis of the reascnableness of the
discount rate used and review of the
sensitivity analyses;

A retrospective review, based on a
sample of predictions with the objective
of identifying bias in management's
assumptions and the assessment of the
historical achievement of the Company's
budgets.

We also assessed whether the disclosures
made by the Company in relation to these
matters, which are included in Notes 4-c, 5
and 6 to the accompanying financial
statements for 2017, contain the information
required by the applicable accounting
legislation.



Other Information: Directors’ Report”

The other information comprises only the directors' report for 2017, the preparation of which
is the responsibility of the Company's directors and which does not form part of the financial

statements.

Our audit opinion on the financial statements does not cover the directors' report. Our
responsibility relating to the directors’ report is defined in the audit regulations in force, which

establish two distinct levels of review:

a) A specific level that applies to the non-financial information statement, as well as to certain
information included in the Annual Carporate Governance Report, as defined in Article 35.2.b)
of Spanish Audit Law 22/2015, which consists solely of checking that the aforementioned
information has been provided in the directors' report and, if this is not the case, reporting

this fact.

b) A general level applicable to the other information included in the directors' report,
which consists of evaluating and reporting on whether the aforementioned information is
consistent with the financial statements, based on the knowledge of the entity obtained in the
audit of those financial statements and excluding any information other than that obtained as
evidence during the audit, as well as evaluating and reporting on whether the content and
presentation of the directors’ report are in conformity with the applicable regulations. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there are material misstatements, we are

required to report that fact.

Based on the work performed, as described above, we have checked that the specific
information described in section a) above has been provided in the corporate responsibility
report for 2017 to which a reference is included in the directors’ report, and that the other
information in the directors' report is consistent with that contained in the financial statements
for 2017 and its content and presentation are in conformity with the applicable regulations.

Responsibilities of the Directors and of the Audit Committee for the
Financial Statements

The directors are responsible for preparing the accompanying financial statements so that they
present fairly the Company's equity, financial position and results in accordance with the
regulatory financial reporting framework applicable to the Company in Spain, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the
Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to

do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the process involved in the preparation and
presentation of the financial statements.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor's report that includes our opinion.



Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is included
in Appendix I to this auditor's report. This description, which comes later in this report, forms

part of our auditor's report.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

Additional Report to the Audit Committee

The opinion expressed in this report is consistent with the content of our additional report to
the Company's audit committee dated 27 February 2018.

Engaée%ent Period

The Annual General Meeting held on 29 June 2017 appointed us as auditors for a period of
one year from the year ended 31 December 2016.

Previously, we were designated pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting for the pericd
of one year and have been auditing the financial statements uninterruptedly since the year
ended 31 December 1993.

DELOITTE, S.L.
Registered in ROAC under no. S0692

—

Pilar Cerezo Sobrino
Registered in ROAC under no. 16502

28 February 2018



Appendix I to our auditor's report

Further to the information contained in our auditor's report, in this Appendix we include our
responsibilities in relation to the audit of the financial statements.

Auditor’s Responsibiiit—iés for the Audit of the Financial Statements

As part of an audit in accordance with the audit regulations in force in Spain, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pu rpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the use by the directors of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we
are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Qur
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a

going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the entity's audit committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the entity's audit committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements, including those regarding independence, and we have
communicated with it to report on all matters that may reasonably be thought to jecpardise
our independence, and where applicable, on the related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the entity's audit committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current

period and are therefore the key audit matters.

We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter.
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Consolidated Financial Statements for 2017 drawn up in accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standards adupted by the European Union.
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NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT FOR THE YEARS 2017 AND 2016

{Thousands of euros)
vote 2017 2016
Revennes 24,1 1,546,086 | 1,447,903
Other >perating income 24.1 11,101 7,687
INet gains om disposal of non-current assets 7,8 and 24.1 30,148 41,526
Procurements (75,712) 1 (66,857)
Staff costs 243 (427,140) | (415,889)
Depreciatwm and amortisation charges 7 and § (123,085) | (114,170)
Net Profitsi(Losses) from assel impairment 6,7and 8 | 8,005 (2,686)
Qther opesaling expenses 1 (815,011) | {7¢1,011)
Variation fz dhe provision for onerous contracts 17 4216 4,163
Other cpereting expenses 24.4 (8IY.227)1 (795,174)
Gains on fisancial assets and liabilitics and other (1,927) 9,856
Profit {Loss) from entities valued through the equity method 9 (349) 119
Financial iscome 24.2 2,955 3,310
Changs in fair value of financial instruments 24.2 (7) 435
Financia! expenses 24.6 (76,747y| (72,304)
MNet exchaege differences (Income/(Expense)) {6,360) (3,561)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX
FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 72,997 44,357
[ncome tax 18 {33,512) (7,935}
PROFIT FOR THE PERIOD - CONTINUING 39,485 36,422
Profit (loss} for the year from discontinued operations net of tax 11 (278) (2,274)
PROFIT FOR THE FERIOD 39,207 34,148
Lxchange dhfferences (26,494) (3,203)
Income z=x expenses recognised directly in equity (26,494) (3,203)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE PROFIT 12,713 30,945
Profit / {Lawss) for the year atiributable to:
Parent Caaspany Shareholders 35,489 30,749
Non-conmolling interests 3,718 3,399
Non-ccnwafling interests in discontinued operations - -
Comprzheasive Profit / (Loss) attributable to:
Parent CGampany Shareholders 11,712 27332
Non-contwalling interests i44 1,081 3,614
Profit pex share in euros {basic) 5 0.104 0.090

Notes | to 31 set forth in the Consolidated Annual Report and Annexes I/1I form an integral part of the consolidated
comprehensive profit and loss statement for 2017.
The Censolidated Comprehensive Profit and Loss Siatement for 2016 is presented solely for the purposes of comparison.,
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NH HOTEL GROLP, 5.4. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENTS FRODUCED IN THE PERIDDS 2117 AND 2016

{Thousands nlaums}

31122017 I J1.12.2016

Noie
1. OPERANNG ACLIVIIES
Couns alidated profit (logs) before tax: 72,997 44 358
Adjuntrments:
depreciatinn nftanpibls and amostisation of mtangible assets (1) 7 and 6 123,085 114,171
Irpairment losses {net) {(+-) fi, 7 and A {9,005} 2,685
Allocations for provisiona (net) {+/-) 17 (4216} 4,163
GamzilLosses on the salke of 1angible and mtangible assets (/- 7,8 and 24.1 (30,148} {41,
Gamns/losses on investnsuts valued usmg the equity methad (1/-) o A9 {112
Financial meome {-} 24.2 (2.995) (3,310
Financial expenses and varation in fair valuc of fmencal nstoumenls (+) 24.6 76754 71,869
Net eachange differences (Incowe!/(Expense)) 6,360 3,561
Profit (lass) on disparal of financial myestmeants 55 1027 (9,
{Hher non-monedary items [(+/-) 10036 19,692
Adjusced profit (loss) 245,144 197,362
N¢t variation in aggets / labilties:
{increasey¥Decrease @ mventores 6l
(Tncoeace¥Nesrease b trade debtors and other accounts neceivable 10,405
{Incrcase¥Devreuse i olher cument assets 6,072
Inercase/(Meerease) i trade pavables (3,088}
Increase:{Decrease) t ather curremt habilities (196}
Inermse/(Decrease) o provisions for continpenckes and expenses (7,196)|
{Increase¥ecrease i non-gwment assets 748
Incrcasc/(Decrease) B non-cwrent habilifies 412)|
Income tax paid 21,903)
Tutal oet cash Now Irem operating sctivities (T) 329,635
1. NVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
Finange hwnme
Tovesbioenls (-):
Group compan s, 3ol ventures and associales
Tang bic and mtangible pssets and nveshmenis m properly
Moo-cument financial investments
Demvestinemt {(+):
Group coupan ks, joml veniures and assonciales 62 .
Tangible and intangible assets ond mvestments m propety 60,301 88,590
Non-urent financial mvestments - 30,723
68,363 119313
Totad net cash flow from knves tmen: activities (I {d2.311) 23,661
3. FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Divideads paid out (=) 14.1and 144 (18,5%2) (1,
Interest paid on debts (=) {67,781) (53,926
Financial expentes [or ieans of payment {16317) {(14,472)
haterest pakd oo debls und olher siferest (SEA64) (39454
Vanations in (+5-):
Fquity s truments
- 'I'vcasury shares - (2,422)|
Debt instriments:
- Bonds and other tradablc sccurics (+) 15 - 283,000
- Loans fromcredit institutions { +} 15 (135,000 28,217
- Loans Momeredit mstitutions (<) B (349.874)
- Finance lenscs 15 (20,772) {(1,133)
- Other financizl liabilzies (1/-) {681) 761
Toul net cush Duw frosn linanclug actl vittes (TI) (243,786} 94,4313)|
4, GROSS INCREASF/ DECRFASEIN CASH AND CASEH FQUIVALENTS (I+1+1I) {56,461) 3478
5. Bifect of exchange ratc variations on cash and ensh equivakents (1V) - 5a1
§. Kot of varistians in the s cope of consolldsd oo (V) (22) sy
7. NETINCREASE'DECREASEIN CASHAND CASH BG AVALENTS {(HFIE-[V+V) {564%4) §9.034
8. Cash s#nd eash exquivalents at the start of the financeial year 136,733 77500
9. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the fimancial year {7+8) 301,249 136,733

Notes 1 to 3l described in the cunsolidated Record and Appendicas UIT forman mtegral part afthe consolidatsd cash flaw statement for the year
2017. The consahdated cash flow statement for the vear 2016 13 prescnicd for comparison purposcs only,



NH HOTEL GRQOUP, 5.A. Y
SUBSIDIARIES
REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR 2017

1.- ACTIVITY AND COMPOSITION OF THE PARENT COMPANY

NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. (hereinafter the Parent Company)} was incorporated as a public limited company in
Spain on 23 December 1981 under the trade neme “Material para Ferrocarriles y Construcciones, S.A.”, which
was subsequently changed (0 “Material y Construcciones, S.A.” (MACOSA) and later to “Corparacion Arco,
SA”

In 1992, Corporacion Arco, S.A. took over Corporacién Financiera Reunida, S.A. (COFIR), while at the same
iime adopting the trade name of the company taken over and amending its corporate purpose to the new activity
of the Parent Company, which focused on the management of its shareholding portfolio.

During the 1998 financial vear, Corporacién Financiera Reunida, S.A. (COFIR) merged with Grupo Catalan, S.L.
and ils subsidiaries and Gestion NH, S.A. through the absorption of these companies by the former. Subsequently,
Corporacion Financiera Reunida, S.A. (COFIR) took over NH Hoteles, S.A., adopted ifs trade name and
aroadened its corperate purpose to allow for ths direct performance of hotel activities, activiiies in which it had
alrcady been engaged indirectly through its subsidiaries.

Information on these mergers can be found in the financial statements of the years in which said fransactions took
nlace.

The General Shareholders' Meeting of 21 June 2014 agreed to change the company's name [rom ‘“NH Hoteles,
S.A” to “NH Hotel Group, S.A.”

The Group entered into an agreement with Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. (hercinafter “Hesperia™) i 2009 to
merge their respective hotel management busiresses. As a result, the Group now manages certain hotels owned
or operated by Hesperia. On 7 March 2017 a new framework agreement to manage 28 hotels in Spain was signed
between NH Hotel Group, S.A. (and its subsidiaries NH Hoteles Espafia, S.A. and Hoteles Hesperia, S.A.) and
Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. (“GIHSA™) and certain subsidiaries over a 9-year period. This contract replaces
and extends the previous one, signed in 2009 (see Note 7.2).

The Parent Company is the head of a group of subsidiarics cngaged in the same activities and that constilule,
‘ogether with NH Hotel Group, S.A., the NH Hatels Group (hercinafter the “Group™ — see Appendices Iand II).

At the end of 2017, the Group was operating hotels in 31 countries, with 380 hotels and 58,926 rooms, of which
around 74% are located in Spain, Germany, [taly and the Benelux countries.

NH Hotel Group, S.A. has its registered address in Madrid.



2.- BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
CONSOLIDATION PRINCIPLES

2.1 Basis of presentation of the Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements for 2017 were drawn up by the directors of NH Hotel Group, S.A. at the
Board meeting held on 28 Tebruary 2018, in accordance with the regulatory reporting framework applicable to
the Group, as established in the Code of Commerce and all other Spanish corporate law, and in the Intcrnational
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") adopted by the European Union In accordance with Regulation (EC) No.
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and in Law 62/2003, of 30 December, the Tax, Administrative, Labour
and Social Security Measures Act as well as ir. the applicable standards and circulars of the National Securittes
Market Commission and the remaining Spanish accounting standards which mzy be applicable, and as such give
a true and fair presentation the Group’s equity and financial position at 31 Deccember 2017 and of the results of
its operations, changes in equity and consclidated cash flows for the year then ended.

I'he consolidated financial statcments for 2017 of the Group and the entities that it comprises have not yet been
approved by the shareholders at the respective Annual General Meetings or by the respective shareholders or sole
shareholders. Nonetheless, the dircetors of the Parent Company belicve that said financial statements will be
approved without any significant changes. The consolidated financial statcments for 2016 were approved by the
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting held on 29 June 2017 and fled with the Companies Registry of
Madrid.

Since the accounting standards and valuation criteria applied in the preparation of the Group’s ¢onsolidated
financial stalements for 2017 may differ from these used by some of its component companies, the necessary
adjustments and reclassifications have been meade to standardise them and adapt them to the IFRS adopted by the

European Unicn.

2.1.1 Standards and interpretations effective in this perind

In 2017 new accounting standards came into force and were therefore taken into account when preparing the
accompanying consolidated fmancial statements, but which did not give rise to a change in the Graup’s
accounting policies:

(1) New obligatory regulations, amendments and interpretations for the year commencing 01 Januatry
2017.

Obligatory
application in the

years beginning on or
after:

New standards, amendments and interpretations

Amendments and/or interpretations

Amendment to IAS 7 disclosura
initiative {published in January
2016)

Introduces additional disclosure requirements in order fo
improve information provided to users.

01] 2017
Amendment to IAS 12: anuary

Deferred Lax: recovery of Classification of the principles set up in relation to the
underiying asscts { published in recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses.
January 2016}

These regulations and amcndments have besn applied to these consolidated financial statements without
significant impacts on either the reported figures or the presentation and breakdown of the information, either
because thev do nol entail relevant changes or “ecause they refer to cconomic facts that do not affect the Group.

(2) New regulations, amendments and interpretations which wili be obligatory in the years following
the year commencing 01 January 2{(17

The following standards and interpretations had been published by the IAST on the date the consolidated financial
statements were drawn up but had not yet entered into force, either because the date of their entry into force was

10



subsequent to the date of these consolidated financial statements or because they had not yet becn adopted by the
European Union:

Obligatory
application in the
years beginning on or
after:

New standards, amendments and interpretations

Approved for use in the European Union

IT'RS 15 - Revenue [rom Ncow standard on revenue recognition, replacing IAS 18,
Contracts with Customers TFRIC 15, TFRIC 18 and SIC-31

It replaces the requirements for classification, valuation,

[FRS 9 - Financ:ial recognition and derecognition of financial assets and
Instruments: lizbilities in accounts, hedge accounting and impairment of
IAS 39.

01 January 2018

——r

It allows entities under the scope of IRS 4 the option of
applying IFRS 2 ("overlay approach”) or their temporary
excmption.

Amendment Lo IFRS 4
nsurance contracts

— — - —

Improvements to TFRS 2014-
20186 cycle

Minor amendmants to a series of standards

— —— — O W~ &

Replaces LAS 17 and associated interpretations. The main
change hinges on a single accounting maodel for lessces who
will include all leases (with some exceptions) on the balance
sheet with a similar impact to that of the current financial
leases (the asset will depreciate due to the right of use and a
financial expense for the cost of amortising the liability).

IFRS 16 Teases 01 Janmuary 2019

Awaiting approval for use in the European Union as of the date of publication of this document

Narrow-scope amendments clarifving specific matters such

Amendment to IFRS 2 as the effects o vesting and non-vesting conditions in cash-
Classification and measurement settled share-besed payvments, the classification of share-
ol share-based payment based pavments where there are net settlement clauses and
transactions some aspects o the modifications to terms of a share-based
payment.
Amendment to IAS 40 The amendmert clarifies that the reclassificalion of an O Sty 2045
Rcclassification of real estate investment from or to real estate investment is only permitted
investments when there is ¢vidence of a change in its use.

This interpretaion establishes the "transaction datc" for the
purpose of detexmining the exchangs ratc applicable in
transactions with foreign currency advances.

TFRIC 22 Foreign currency
transactions and advances

This interpretation clarifies application ol recognitior and
TFRIC 23 Uncertainty over measurement requirements in IAS [2 when there is
income lax (reatments uncertainty over acceptability by the tax authorities of a
certain income X treatment nsed by the entity

Amendment to [FRS 9 [t allows for the valuation of some financial instruments with

Charucteristics of early early pavment characteristics at amortised cost altowing the Ol JTanuary 2019
cancellation with negative pavment of an zmount less than the unpaid amounts of

offset principal and irterest.

Amendment Lo TAS 28 Long- Clarifies that IFRS 9 must be applied to long-term interests in

term inlerest in associates and an associate or foint venture if the equity method is not

joint ventures applied.

11



In accardance with the proposed amendments, when there is

Amendment to LAS 19 a chanpe in a defined benefit plan (due to at emendment,
Amendment, reduction or reduction or licuidation), the entily will use updated
liquidation of a plan assumptions to detcrmine the costs of the services and net

interest for the period alter the change to the plan.

Replaces TFRE 4 and reflects the principles of registration,
valuation, pressnlaiion and breakdown of insurance contracts
with the objeclive that the entity provides relevant and

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts reliable information which allows users of the Information 1o 01 January 2021
determine the effect which conlracts have on the financial
statements.

Amendment to II'RS 10 and

TAS 28 Sale or Contribution of Clarification or. the result of these aperations if dealing with No date set

Assets between an Investor and businesses or assets.
118 Asgocigte or Jeint Venture

(1)  The approval status of the standards by the European Union can be consulted on [he EFRAG website.

(3) Analysis of IFRS 9 first application

:FRS 9 will replace IAS 39 as of the year beginning on 1 January 2018 and affects both financial instruments for
assets and liabilities, cuvering three large blocks: classification and measurement, impairment and hedge
accounting. There are very relevant differences with the current standard of recognition and measurement of

financial instruments, the most significant being:

¢ I[nvestments in financial assets whose contractual cash flows comsist exclusively of principal and tnterest
payments and, if the management model of such asscts is to hold them to obtain the contractual flows
will, in general, be valued at amortised cost. For the same assets, when the business model 13 to obtain
the contractual flows and the sale of the assets, they will be measured at fair value with changes in other
comprehensive profit and loss. All other financial assets which do not consist exclusively in of principal
and interest payments and where the management model is their sale will be measured at fair value with
changes in profit and loss. However, the Group may irrevocably choose to present the subsequent
changes in the fair value of certain ‘nvestments in equity instruments under "Other comprehensive
income” (equity} and, in this case, generally only the dividends will be subsequently recognised in profit
and loss.

» [Inrcgard to the valuation of financial liabilities optionally designated in fair value with changes in profit
and {oss, the amount of the change ir the fair value of the financial liability which is attributable to
changes in the credit risk itsclf must be presented in the "Other comprehensive profit and loss" {equity),
unless this creates or increases an accounting asymmetry in prafit and loss, and it will not be
subsequently reclassified to the profit and loss account.

s [nrelation to the impairment of financial asscls, IFRS 9 requires the application of a model based on the
expected loss, compared to the [AS 39 model structured on the loss incurred. Under this model, the
Group will account for the expected loss, as well as the changes in this at each presentation date to reflect
the changes in credit risk from the date of initial recogaition. In other words, it is no longer necessary
for an impairment event to occur before recognising a credit loss.

The Group's intention is to apply IFRS 9 without restating the comparatives, i.e., the difference between the
aravious book values and the new values at the date of initial application of the standard will be recognised as an
adjustment in reserves (equily) From an analysis of the Group's financial assets and liabilities at 3[ December
2017, the Group's managemenl has evaluated the effect of [FRS 9 on the annual accounts, as set out below:

Classification and valuation

As aresult of the preliminary analysis, there are no significant changes in the classification and measurement
of financial assets based on. the Group's ctrrent model. The application of IFRS 9 will only have an impact
on the presentation of vther non-current financial investments (see Note 10).

12



The Group has remegotiated its financial liabilities (bonds and obligations) which, according to the
provisions of IAS 39, were considered non-material and consequently did not require derecognition of
financial liabilities. The treatment providad for by IFRS 9 requires recaleulating the amortised cost book
value of such financial liabilitics on the renegotiation date and rceognising a gain or loss for the change in
the results of the period or at the time of applying the new standard. The estimated mpact at 1 January 2018
is an 8.5 million euro decrease in the book value of financial liabilities, increasing the amount of opening
reserves at that date.

All other financial assets and financial lizbilitics will continue to be measured on the same basis currently
adopted by TAS 39.

Impairment

Financial assets measured at amortised cost, fair value through changes in other comprehensive results,
accounts receivable from leases, assels from contracts with customers or a loan commitment and a financial

enarantee contract will be subject to the provisions of IFRS 9 regarding impairment.

The new standard replaces the "incurred loss” models established in IAS 39 by the "expected loss" model.
This model requires the registration of the financial assets on the date of mitial recognition, as well as the
amounts pending collection from customers of the expected loss resulting from a "default” during the next
12 months or throughout the life of the contract.

The Group has provisiona on its trade debtors. As a result of the evaluation by the Group, it has been
confirmed that it is not ncecssary to make significant adjustments to the provision of insolvencies recorded
on the balance sheet.

(4) Analysis of IFRS IS5 first application

IFRS 15 is the new comprehensive standard for recognition of income with customers, and replaces standards
and interpretations currently in force: 1AS 18 on Revenue from ordinary activities, IAS 11 on Consfruction
Contracts, IFRIC 13 on custamer loyally programmes, IFRIC 15 on agreements for the construction of real estate,
[FRIC 18 on Transfers of assets from customers and SIC 31 of Revenue — Darter transactions involving

advertising services.

The new revenue model applies to all contracts with customers except those falling within the scope of other
IFRS, such as leases, insurance contracts and financial instraments.

The central recognition model is structured around the following five steps.
- Identify the contract with the customer.
1dentify the separate obligations of the conlract.
- Delermining the price of the transaction.
- Distribute the ransaction price between the identified obligations.
- Account for the income when it fullils the obligations.

Due to the Group's activity, as well as the relationships with its customers, the Parent Company's Directors
consider that no significant changes derive frem its application in relation fo the current record of the Group's

operations.
(5} Preliminary analysis of IFRS 16.

The directors are assessing the potential impact of the future application of these regulations, and in particular,
the application of IFRS 16 on Leases will entzil a very significant change in the Group’s consalidated financial
statements, with an increase in assets due to the recognition of the right to use the leased asset an increase in
liabilities duc to the corresponding future payment commilments and the impact of the conselidated profit and
less statements. In this regard, the scope of the transition to the application of the standard -early implementation
is not intended- and the need for the adaptation of financial and accounting reporting systems are being assessed.
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In relation to the other standards, amendments and interpretations, the Group is analysing all future impacts of
the adoption of these standards and it is not pessible to provide a reasonable catimate of their effects until that

analysis is complete.

2.2 Information on 2016

As required by TAS 1, the information on 2016 contained in this consolidated annual report is presented for salely
somparative purposes with the information on 2017 and consequently does not in itsell constitute the Group’s

sonseclidated financial statements for 2016.

2.3 Currency of presentation

These consolidated financial statements are presented in eurvs. Any foreign curtency transactions have been
recognised in accordance with the criteria described in Note 4.9.

2.4 Responsibility for the information, estimates made and sources of uncertainty

The Directors of the Parent Company are responsible for the information contained in these consolrdated financial
staterments.

Estimates made by the management of the Group and of the consolidated entities (subsequently ratified by their
Directors) have been used in preparing the Group’s consolidared financial statements to quantify some of the
assets, liabilities, revenue, expenscs and undertakings recognised. These estimates essentially reter to:

- Losses arising from assct impairment.

- The hypotheses used in the actnarial calculation of lisbilitics For pensions and other
undertakings made to the workforce;

- The useful life of the tangible and intangible assets.

- The valuation of consolidation goodwill.

- The market value of specific assets.
- Calculation of provisinns anc evaluation of contingencies,
- The recovcerability of the capitalized tax carryforward losses.

In spite of the fact that thesc cstimates were carried out using the best information available at 31 December 2017
on events analysed, it is possible that events may take place in the future which compel their amendment (upwards
or downwards) in years to come. This will be done in accordance with the provisions of 1AS §, prospectively
recognising the effects of the change in estimats on the consolidated profit and Inss statement.

2.5 Cansolidation principles applied

2.5.1 Subsidiaries (See Appendix I}

Subsidiaries are considered as any company included within the scope of censolidation in which the Parent
Company directly or indirectly controls their management due to holding the majority of voting rights in the
zovernance and decision-making body, with the ability to exercise control. This ability 1s shuwn when the Parent
Company has the power to direct an investce eriity’s financial and operating policy in order Lo obtain profits from
its activities.

The financial statements of subsidiarics are consolidated with those of the Parent Company by applying the full
zansolidation method. Consequently, all signifizant balances and effects of any transactions taking place hetween
them have been eliminated in the consolidation pracess. If necessary, adjustmenis arc made Lo the financial
statements of the subsidiaries to adapt the accounting policies used to those used by the Group.

Stakes held by non-controlling shareholders ir: the Group’s equity and results are respectively presented in the
“Non-controlling interests™ item of the consolidated balance sheet and of the consolidated comprchensive profit

and loss statement.

The profit or loss of any subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the [(inancial year are included in the
consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statzment from the effective date of acquisition or until to the effective

Jate of disposal, as appropriate.
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2.5.2 Associates (See Appendix II)

Associates are considered as any companies in which the Parent Company has the ability to exercise significant
‘nfluence, though it does not exercise either conrol or joint control. [n general terms, it is assumed that significant
influence exists when the percentage stake (direct or indirect) held by the Group exceeds 20% of the voting rights,
a8 lang as it does not exceed 50%.

Agsaciates are valued in the cansolidated finarcial statements using the equity method; in other words, through
the fraction of their net cquity vahie the Group’s stake in their capital represents once any dividends received and
sther equity retirements have been considered. In the case of transactions with an associated company, the
corresponding losses or gains are eliminated in the percentage of the Group's slake in its capital.

The profit (loss) net of tax of the associate companies is included in the Group's consolidated comprehensive
profit and loss stalement, in the item "Profit (Loss) from entities valued through the equity method", according to
the percentage of the Group's stake.

If, as a result of the Josses incurred by an associate company, its equity were negative, in the Group’s consolidated
balance sheet it would be nil: unless there were an obligation on the part of the Group to support it fmancially.

2.5.3 Foreign carrency transiation

The following criteria have been different applied for converting into euras the different items of the consolidated
walance sheet and the consolidated comprchensive profit and loss slateroent of foreign companies included within

the scope of copselidation:

e Assets and liabilities have heen converted by applying the effective exchange rate prevailing at year-
end.

e  Fquity has been converted by applying the historical exchange rate. The historical exchange rate existing
at 31 December 2003 of any companies included within the scope of consolidalion prior ta the
transitional date has been considered as the historical exchange rate.

e The consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement has been converted by applying the average
exchange rate of the financial year.

Any difference resulting from the application these criteria have been included in the *“I'ranslation differences™
item under the “Equity” heading.

Any adjustments arising from the application of IFRS at the time of acquisition of a foreign company with regard
to market value and goodwill are considered as assets and liabilities of such company and are therefore converted
using the exchange rate prevailing at year-end.

2.5.4 Changes in the scope of consolidation

The most significant changes in the scape of consolidation during 2017 and 2016 that affect the comparison
between financial years were the following:

a.l Changes in the scope of consolidation in 2017
a.1.1 Additions to the consolidation scopc

On 17 Navember 2017, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Wilan Ander S.L. and Wilan Huel, S.1..,
as well as the assignment of the credit which the seller had with thesc companies, These companies own the
properties operated by NH Hoteles Espaiia, such as the hotels NH Ciudad de Santander and NH Luz de Huelva,
until the date of taking contrel under the lease.

Said ucquisition was carried out in accordance with that stipulated in IFRS 3 Business Combinations. The effect
of the acquisition on the consolidated financial pesition statement duc to their fair values at 31 December 2017

was as follows:
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Thousands of euros
Wilan Hucl, Wilan
S.1., Ander S.L.. | TOTAL
Property, plant and equipment (Note &) 4,888 5,809 11,657
Qther non-current assets 37 32 89
Current asscts 7 69 76
Debts with credit institutions (3,676) (3,13%) | (8,811)
Other non-current liabilities (37) (52) (89)
Current liabilities (65) (4) {69)
Fair valne of the acquired entity's net assets 1,154 1,739 2,893
Loans granted prior to taking control (875) (L,117)| (1,992)
Net Consideralion (881) (1,123) | (2,004)
Goodwill (GD2) {(501)| (1,103)

Tae Group had granted subordinated loans amountng to 1,117 thousand euros to Wilan Andcer, 5.L. and 875
thousand curos toa Wilan Huel, S.L. which the Group capitalised in the respective subsidiarics; the difference of
1,103 thousand euras correspends to the Goodwill arising from the uperation (see Note 6) and has been recarded

against results.

I: addition, the detail of the book value of the assets acquired and the revaluatian carried cut is as fellows:

Thousands of euros
Bc;lolk ¥allS ol [mpairment Fair value of the
& assets : :
: rcalised assels acquired
acquired

Property, plant and equipment

(Note 8) 11,776 {79) 11,697
Other non-current assets 69 20 89
Current assets 76 - 75
Debts with credit institutions (8,811} - (8,811)
Other non-current liabilitics {89) - (89}
Currenl liabilities {68) - (68)

a.1.2 Disposals

Oa 19 April 2017 the Group soid 400,000 registered shares making up the equity capital of the commercial
company Hesperia Enterprises de Venezuela, S.A. for 70,000 US dollars. The net result of the transaction was a
scnsolidated profit of 3 thousand euros. An expenditure of 5,785 thousand euras was also recorded awing to the
ccnversion differences associated with the aforementioned shareholding, which is entered in the net exchange
differenccs itera of the abridged consoclidated comprehensive results.

a.2 Changes in the scope of consolidation in 2016

a.2.1 Additions to the eonsolidation scope

On 27 Decerber 2016, the Group acquired 4795 of the share capital of Palacio de la Merced, 5.A., for an amount
of 2,069 thousand euros, of which 621 thousand curos are outstanding.

L» to the date of purchase, the Group held a minority shareholding of 25% in that Company which was
zonsolidated using the equity methed. Following the purchase, the Group holds a 72% holding in the share capital,
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thereby acquiring control of the share capital and, therefore, becoming consolidated by the full consohidation
method.

Said acquisition was carried out in accordance with that stipulated in JFRS 3 Business Combinations. The elTect
of the acquisition of the aforementioned participating interest on the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December

2016 was as follows:

Thousands of
Curos
Property, plant and equipment 16,813
Intangble Asscts 2
Other non-current assets 2
Current assets 4353
Bank borrowings {non-gurrent) (4,372}
Rank borrowings (current) {566)
Deferred tax liabilities {698)
Other non-current habilitics (1.301}
Currcnt Tiabililies (1,094)
nterests (2.589)
Fair value of the acquired entity's net assets 6,650
Cost of the previous shareholding (1,718}
Net Consideration (2,069)
Prafit of the transaction 2,863

In addition, the detail of the book value of the assets acquired and the revaluation carried out 1s as follows:

' Thousands of euros
Bookwalieis: Revaluation | Fair value of the
e et carried out assets acquired
acquired
' Property, plant and equipment 14,021 2,792 16,813
Intangible Assets 2 - 2
Other non-current assets 2 - 2
Cwrrent assels 433 - 433
Rank borrowings (non-current) (4,372) (4,372)
Bank borrowings (current) (566) (566)
Deferred tax liabilitics - {698) (698)
(Other non-current lisbilities (1,301) - (1,301)
Current ligbilities (1,094) (1,094)
interests - (2,589) (2,589)

The effect of the acquisition of the additional swnership interest in the Company supposed a positive result of
2 863 thousand curas recorded in the "Gains on financial assets and liabilitics and other" item in the consolidated
comprehensive profit and loss statements.

On 28 December 2016, the Group acquired 50% of the imactive company Capredo Investments Gmbh for 3,190
thousand euros, of which 3,150 thousand euros is still outstanding at 2017 year-end (see Note 16), and now holds
100% of the share capital of this Company. In this regard, thc Company owns a plot of land located in the
Dominican Republic that does not have the consideration of business in accordance with 1FRS 3. Following the
acquisition, the Group acquired control of the company whose previous cost amounted to 6,764 thousand euros.
The net assets associated with Capredo Investments Gmbh are recorded as "Non-current assets classified as held
for sale and discontinued operations"” (see Ivote 11).

The elfect of the acquisition has had no effect cr the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement.
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a.[.2 Dispasals

n 16 March 2016, the Group carried out the representative sale of a 4% stake in the company Varallo Comercial,
S.A., in which it previously held a 14% stake. The net result of the transaction supposcd a consolidated profit of
194 thousand euros and a ncgative effect of 635 thousand euros owing to the conversion differences associated
with the aforementioned sharchelding, which i entered in the net exchange differcnces item of the consolidated
somprehensive profit and loss statement. As a result of this sale, the Group lost its significant influence on the
aforementioned holding, ccasing to be considered an associate company and now being recognised under the
"Other non-cwrent financial assets” heading at fair value amounting to 9,343 thousand euros (see Note 10.2).

2.5.5 Infra-group eliminations

All accounts Teceivable and accounts payable, and transactions performed between subsidiaries, with associate
sompanies and joint ventures, and among each other, have been eliminated in the consolidation process.

2.5.6 Valuation uniformity

The consolidation of the entities included in the scope of cansolidation has been performed based on therr
individual financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with the Spanish General Accounting Plan for
companies resident in Spain and in accordance with their own local regulations for foreign companies. All
significant adjustments necessary to adapt them to Intcrnational Financial Reporting Standards and/or
humagenise them with the accounting principles of the parent company have been considered in the consolidation

DIOCCSS.

3.- PROPOSED DISTRIBUTION OF PROFITS

The praposed distribution of profits for the yea- prepared by the Company's Directors and that will be submitied
for approval by the Shareholders at the General Shareholders' Mesting is as follows (in thousands of euros):

2017 |
To legal reserve 2,817
T'o distribution of dividends 25,355
Total 28,172

Additionally, the distribution of dividends in the amount of 8,731 thousand curos with & charge to voluntary
reserves is proposed, with the total estimated dividends to distribute at approximately 34,086 thousand euros.
Both amounts are derived from a maximum amount to be distributed: gross 0.10 euros per share for all outstanding
shares} The final amount in euros to be distribwred will be updated accarding to the number of outstanding shares

at the date of the dividend's approval by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

4. VALUATION STANDARDS

The main principles, accounting policies and valuation stavdards applied by the Group to draw up these
consolidated financial statements, which comply with IFRS in force on the date of the relevant financial

statements, have been the following:

4.1 Tangible fixed asscts

Tangible fixed assets are valued at their origina’ cost. They are subsequently valued at their reduccd costresulting
from cumulative depreciation and, as approprigte, from any impairment losses they may have suflered.

Due to the transition to IFRS, the Group reapyraised the value of some land to its market valuc on the basis of
appraisals made by an independent expert for & total amount of 217 milkion euros. The reappraised cost of such
land was considered as a cost attributed to the transition to the IFRS. The Group fellowed the criterion of not re-

valuing any of its tangible fixed asscts at subsequent year-ends.

Enlargement, modernisation and improvement costs entailing an increase in productivily, capacity or efficiency
or a lengthening of the asscis’ usetul life are recognised as increases in the cost of such asscts. Conscrvation and
maintenance costs are charped against the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statcment for the year in

which they are incurred.
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(Withdrawn assets and items, whether arising as a result of a modernisation process or due to any other cause, are
accomnted for by derecognising the balances presented in the corresponding cost and accumulated depreciation

accounts.

T1e Group depreciates its property, plant and equipment following the straight line method, distributing the cost
of the assets over their estimated useful lives, ic accordance with the following table:

Estimated vears of useful

life
Buildings 33-50
Plant and machinery 10-30
Other plant, fixtures and furniture 5-10
Other fixed assets 4-5

These items are depreciated based on their estimated uscful life or the remaining term of the lease, 1f this is less
than the useful life.

The profit or foss resulting from the dispesal or withdrawal of an asset is calculated as the difference between the
orofit from the sale and the asset’s book value, and is recognised in the consolidated comprehensive profit and

lzs8 statement.

4,2 Consolidation goodwill

The goodwill penerated on consolidation represents the excess af the cost of acquisition over the Group's share
in the market value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of a subsidiary.

Any positive differences between the cost of irterests in the capital of consolidated and associated entities and
the corresponding theoretical carrying amours acquired, adjusted en the date of the first consolidation, are

recognised as follows:

1. If they are assignable to specific equity elements of the companies acquired, by increasing the value of
any assets the market value of which is above their carrying amount appearing m the balance statcments.

2. If they are assignable to specific intangible assets, by explicitly recognising them in the consolidated
balance sheet, provided their market value on the date of acquisition can be reliably determined.

3, Any remaining differences are recognised as goodwill, which is assigned 10 one or more specific cash-
generating units (in general hotels) which are expected to make a profit.

Goodwill is recognised only when it has been acquired for valuable consideration and represents, therefore,
advance payments made by the acquirer of the future economic benefits derived from the assets of the acquired
entity that are not individually and separately identifiable and recognisable.

Any goodwill generated through acquisitions prior to the TFRS transition date, 1 January 2004, is kept at its net
value recogniscd at 31 December 2003 in accordance with Spanish accounting standards.

At the time of the disposal of a subsidiary or jointly controlled entity, the amount attributable to the goodwill is
included when determining the profits or losses arising from the disposal.

Guodwill arising on the acquisition of comparres with a functional currency other than the euro is valued in the
fimctional currency of the acquired company, with the conversion to euros being made at the exchange rate
prevailing at the balance sheet date.

Goodwill is not amortised. In this regard, at the end of every year, or whenever there are indications of a loss of
vilue, (he Group estimates, using the so-called “Impairment 1'est”, the possible existence of permancnt losses of
value that would reduce the recoverable amoust of goodwill to less than the net cost recoguised. Sheuld this be
the case, it is written down in the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement. Any write-downs
recogniscd eannot subsequently be reversed.

All goodwill is assigned to one or more cash-generating units in order to conduct the impairment test. The
recoverable amount of each cash-generating urit is determined as the higher of the valuc in use and the fair value

less sale casts.
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The valuc in use is considered as the current va uc of expected future cash flows discounted at an after- tax rate
‘hat reflccts the current market vaination with respect to the cost of money and the specific risks associated with
the asset.

4.3 Intangible assets

Intangible assets are considered to be any specifically identifiable non-monetary assets which have been acquired
from third parties or developed by the Group. Only those whese cost can be cstimated in an objective way and
from which future economic profits are expected are recognised.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at acquisition or preduction cost and are subsequently measured at cost
less, as appropriate, their accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses they have suffered.

Any assets deemed to contribute indefinitely to the generation of profits are eonsidered to have an mdefinite
useful life. The remaining intangible assets are considered have a “finite useful life”.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised and arc hence subjected to the “impairment test”
at least once a year (3ee Note 4.4}.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortised according to the straight-line method on the basis of the
estimated years of useful life of the asset in question.

The following are the main items recoguised urder the “Intangible assets” heading:

{} Hotel Operating Rights: this item reflects, on the one hand, the right to operate Ilotel NH Plaza de
Armas in Seville, acquired in 1994, amortisation of which is recognised in the consolidated
comprehensive profit/loss over the 30-ycar term of the agreement at a rate which increases by 4%
each year. On the other hand, as a consequence of entering into the consolidation Holeles Rayal, 3.A,,

operating rights of the hotel portfolio for 35 years were recognised within this concepl.

i)  “Agreement premiums” reflect the amounts paid as a condition to obtain cortain agreements. They
are amortised on a straight-line basis depending on the term of the contract. This item includes
premiums related to leasc contracts as well as the framewerk agreement with Grupo Inversor

Hesperia, S.A. for the managemen: of 28 hotels (see note 7.2).

iii)  “Concessions, patents and trademarks” basically refiect the disbursements made by Gran Circulo de
Madrid, S$.A. for the refurbishment and remodelling of the building where the Casino de Madrid is
located. The amortisation of such =vorks is calculated on a straight-ling basis by taking into account
the term. of the concession for operating and managing the services provided in the building where
the Casino de Madrid is located, which finalises on 1 January 2037. Furthermore, this item includes
the brands of the Grupo Royal with a useful life of 20 years.

iv)  “Computer applications” inclhude the costs incurred by the Group Companies in the acquisition and
development of various computer sofrware programmcs acquired by the different consolidated
companies. The amortisation of sotware applications is performed using the straight-line method at

a rate of 20-25% per year.

4.4 Ympairment in the valuc of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

The Group evaluates the possible existence ol & loss of value each year that would oblige it to reduce the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets. A loss is deemed to exist when the recoverable value is less than the

carrying amotunt.

The recoverable amount is determined as the value in use, with the sole exception of two cases, not significant in
the context of the assets as a whole, in which the valuation of an independent third parly was used as the
~ecoverable amount. The value in use is calculsted from the estimated future cash flows, discounted at a discount
rate after tax that reflects the current market valuation with respect to the value of money and the specific risks
associated with the asset, covering a five-ycar period and a perpetual value, except in the case of leased hotels
that correspond to the lease peried, a perpetual value therefore not being considered in the latter.
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As a peneral rule, the Group has defined each of the hotels 1t operates as cash-generating units, according to the
real management of their operations.

In the case of Hoteles Roval, S.A. which was purchased in 2015 the cash-generating wait corresponds to the Group
as a whole (Colombian, Chilean and Ecuadorian market).

For each CGU (hotel or Royal Group) the operating result is obtained at the end of the year without taking into
account non-recurring results (if any) or financial results.

Once the operating result is obtained for each CGU, the impairment test is performed for those in which there are
indications of impairment. Among others, the Group considers that a C(FU has indications of impairment if it
meets the following conditions: it has negative oocraling results and its buginess is stable (that is to say, they are
not recently opened hotels until, generally speaking, they have been open for 3 years).

[n addition, for all those CGUs in which impairment was recognised in previous years, an individual analysis and,
therefore, an impairment test is performed for them.

For the estimation of future cash [lows, the baseline information is the result of the year approved by the Group’s
Manapement and the historical inlormation relating to at least five previous years. The first projected year
correspunds to the budget approved by the Board of Directors for the year following the mmpairment test. The
orojections for the following years arc consistent with the macroeconomic information from external information

sources and the knawledge of the business by the Group's Operations Department.
There are a number of factors that are considered by the Group's Management to make the prejections, which are:

Estimate of GDP {Gross Domestic Product) growth issued by the International Monetary Fund (IMF)
in its report published in October of each year for the next five years.
Knowledge of the business/assct/local situation of the local Management of each Business Unit to
which each CGIJ belangs.

- Historical results oblained by the CGUs.

- Investments in repositioning the CGUs.

These factors are reflected in the cash flows through the following working hypotheses used to obtain Lhe
nrojections:

- Income from accommodation is projected as the product of the occupancy percentage, the averags

daily rate (ADR) per room, and the total available rooms per year.
- The other revenues are projected based on the average of the relationship between the revenne from

accommodation and those revenues.
Staff costs are calculaled based on the average staff costs with a growth in the mflation imdex (CPI).

- For its part, tax is calculated from the tax rates applicable in each country.
- Direct expenses are directly associzted with cach of the revenues and are projected on the basis of an
average ratlo, while undistributed expenscs arc projected based on the average ratio between these

and direct expenses.

For the calculation of the discount ratc the Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) methoedology has been
applied: Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC), as follows:

WACC=Ke*E/(E+D) + Kd*{1-T)*D/(E+D)
Where:

Ke: Cost of Equity
Kd: Cost of Financial Debt

E: Cwn Funds
D: Financial Debt
1: Tax Rate

The Capital Asset Pricing Model (CAPM) is usad to estimate the cost of equity (ke).

The main variables used to calculatc the discount rate are as follows:
« Risk-free rate: using the average long-term interest rates of 4 10-ycar bond over the last 12 months for
gach country, in the local currency,
o Market risk premium: defined as 6.7% (6% in 2016), based on market reports.
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¢ Beta or systematic risk: Used as outside sources of information, this information is gathered from
independent databases and concems the ratio between the risk of companies and overall market risk. The
re-leveraged beta coefficient has been eslimated on the basis of 64% de-leveraged betas (70% in 2016),
the debt structure of comparable companies (Debt / (Debt ~ Equity) of 31% (32% in 2016) and the
cotresponding tax rate in each couniry.
Market value of debt, amounting to 8% (5% m 2016).
Premium by size: based on recent expert reports.

The discount rates after tax used by the Group for these purposes range in Europe from 3.6% to 9.8% (5.8% and
8.2% in 2016), and in Latin America from 9.6% to 13.6% (9.8% and 13.4% in 2016), depending on the different
risks associated with each specific asset. In this regard, just as the cash flows resulting from the impalrment tests
were also calculated after tax. On the other hard, the book value with which the value in use is compared does
not include any deferred tax liability that could be associated with the assets.

Using a post-tax discount rate and post-tax cash flows is consistent with paragraph 51 of IAS 36, which states
that "estimated future cash flows will reflect assumptions that are consistent with the manner of determining the
discount rate”, In addition, the result of the post-tax flows updated at a post-tax discount rate would obtain the
same resullt with respect to the impairment test if a pre-lax rate were used and, therefore, the mmpairment and
reversion accounting records would be the same.

Below arc the pre-tax discount rates of the major countrics:

Discount rate before taxes:
Germany | Netherlands | Ttaly | Spain
2017 6.88% 7.46% 0.44%  B.77%
20186 T.87% 8.17% 0.35%  9.00%

Tt the recoverable amount of an asset is cstimated to be lower than its carrying amount, the latter is reduced to the
recoverable amount by recugnising the corresponding reduction through the consolidated comprehensive profit

and loss statement.

If an impairment loss is subscquently reversed. the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the limit of the
original value at which such asset was recogniszd before the loss of value was recognised.

information on impairment losscs detected in the financial year appears in Notes 7 and 8 of this Consolidated
Annual Report,

The evolution of the key assumptions in hotels with indications ol impairment in the major countries in local
currency was as [ollows:

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 ZU16 2017 2016
Germany Netherlands Italy Spain
Posi-tax WACC $55% 6.16%: | 6.00% 643% | 730% TO04%| 7.04% 7.14%
Growth rate 247%  10%% | 1.60% 127% | 1.40% LO00% | 1.56% 1.56%
Average ADR 787 FI8 | 1168 2020 1304 1147 87.1 81.5
Jgeupancy rate 6.3% 66.3% | 62.8% 68B% | 707% GEB8% | T0.8% 677

" Average Daily Rate” (ADR): is the quotient of total room revenue for a specific period divided by the rooms
sold in that specific period. This indicator is used to compare with companies in the sector the average prices per

room of the hotels.

As regards the ADR, the changes are affected by the type of the hotel that shows signs of impainment in each
year.

4.5 Lease rentals
I.cases are classified as financial leases whenever the terms of the lease assume that substantially all the risks and

benefits inherent in ownership of the leased asset are assumed by the lessee. All other leases are classified as
opcerating leases.
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The Group generally classifies all leases as operating leases. Under [AS 17, whether a lease is financial or
aperating depends on the economic background and nature of the transaction, rather than the mere form of the

Jease agreement.
The arguments used to classify the leases as opcrative are as follows:

- The ownership of the asset is transfcrrad to the lessor at the end of the lease;

- There is no option to acquire the assel at the end of the lease;
- The term of the lease does not exceed the economic life of the asset
The present value of the minimum lease payments does rnot substantially cover the market value of the

underlying asset;

- The duration of lcases is always much shorter than the economic useful life of the underlying asset;

- In the event that it is decided to extend the duration of the lease, the lerms of the new lease should be
renegotiated;

- The group can unilatcrally terminate the lease without a penalty being imposed as a consequence;,

- The increases or decreases in the resichial value of the underlying assct are nat borne by the Group, but

by the lessor.

4.53.1 Operating leases

in operating lease transactions, ownership of the leased asset and substantially all the risks and rewards deriving
from owncrship of the asset remain with the lessor.

When the Group acts as the lessor, it recognises the income from opcraling leases using the sraight-line method
according to the terms of the agreements signed. These assets are rcvorded at the acquisition cost of the leased
assets under "Property, plant and equipment” and are depreciated in accordance with the policies adopted for
similar own-use tangible assets. When the Group acts as the lessec, the leasing costs are charged on a straight-
line basis to its comprehensive consolidated income statement, the resulting asset or lability being recognised
under “cther non-current liabilities” and “other non-current assets” or “other current liabilities” and “other current

assets”,

4.5.2 Finance leases

The Group recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet at the start of lease
term at the market value of the leased asset or at the present value of the minimum lease instalments, should the
latter be lower. The interest rate eslablished in the agreement is used to calculate the present value of the lease

mstalments.

The cost of assets acquired under [inance Jeases is presented in the consolidated balance sheet, accordng 1o the
nature of the leased asset being depreciated in gccordance with the policies adopted for similar own-use tangible
assets or, where these are shorter, during the relevant lease term.

The financial expenses are distributed over the period of the lease in accordance with a financial criterion.
Contingent renl is rccognised as an expense for the year in which it is incurred.

4.6 Financial Instrumcents

4.6.1 Financial assefs

Financial assets are recognised in the consolidated balance sheet when they are acquired and initially recognised
at their fair value. The financial asscts held by Group campanies are classified as follows:

Negotiable financial assets: these include any assets acquired by the companies with the aum of talang short-
term advantage ol any changes their prices may undergo or any existing differences between their purchase
and sale price. This item also includes any financial derivatives which are not considered hedges.

Held to maturity assets: these are assets subject to a fixed or determinable redemption amount with a fixed
maturity date. The Group declares its intention and its capacity to keep these in 1ts power from the dale of
acquisition fo their maturity date.

Loans and accounts receivable originating in the company itself: these are financial assets generated by the
companies in exchange tor deliveries of cash or the supply of goods or services.
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Nagotiable financial assets are valued after their acquisition at fair value, any changes in which are recognised
through profit or loss for the year.

Rair value of a finencial instrument on a given date is construed as the amount for which it could be bought or
sold on that same date by twe knowledgeable parties acting frecly and prudently under conditions of mutual

independence.

Held to maturity financial assets and loans and accounts receivable originated by the Group are valued at their
amortised cost and accrued interest is recognised in the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement on
‘he bhasis of their effective interest rate. Amortised cost is consttued as the imifial cost minus any collections ar
amortisation of the principal, taking into accourt any potential reductions arising from Impatrment or delault.

As rogards valuation corrections made to trade and other accounts receivable in particular, the criterion used by
‘he Group to calenlate the corresponding valuation corrections, if any, generally consists of provisioning for any
balances more than 180 days overdue.

The Group derccognises financial assets when the cash flow rights of the corresponding financial assct have
expired or have been transferred and the risks and rewards incidental to its ownership have been substantially all

transferred.

Canversely, the Group does not derecognise financial assets and recognises a financial liability for an amount
ecual to the consideration received in the transfers of financial assets in which the risks and rewards inherent in

its ownership are substamtially all retained.

4.6.2. Cash and cash equivalents

“Cash and Cash Equivalents” in the consolidated balance sheet inchides cash, demand deposits and other short-
term, highly liquid investments that can be realised in cash quickly and are not subject to a risk of changes in

value.

4.0.3 Financial iabililles

Issues of bonds and other securities

Dsbt issues are initially recognised at the fzir value of the consideration received, less the costs directly
attributable to the transaction. They are subsequently valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method. Bonds with a maturity date greater than twelve months arc classified under non-current liabilities,
while those with a maturity date of less than twelve months are included in current liabilities.

Convertible bond issucs ate recognhised at the time of their issue, distributing the fair value of the consideration
received belween their equity and liability components, assigning the residual value obtained after deducting the
amount established separately for the liability component, from the tair value of these instruments as a whole, to
the equity instrument. The value of any derivative embedded in the compound financial Instrument other than the
equity component will be included in the liability component,

Bank loans

Loans recvived from banking institutions are recognised at the amount received, net of costs incurred n the
rransaction. They are subsequently valued at amortised cost. These costs incurred in the wansaction and the
financial expenses are recognised on an accrual basis in the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement
using the effcctive interest rate method, and their amount is added to liabilities to the extent to which they are not

settled in the period they were produced.

‘Frade and other payables

Trade accounts payable are initially recognised at fair value and are subsequently valued at amortised cost using
the effective interest rate method.
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Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives used to hedge the risks to which tke Group’s operations are exposed, mainly exchange and interest
rate risks, are valued al market value on the date they are contracted. Any subsequent changes in their market

value are recogniscd as [oillows:

- Concemning fair value hedges, the differences produced m both the hedging elements as well as in
the hedged clements (regarding tha kind of risk hedged) are directly recognised in the conselidated
comprechensive profit and loss statement.

- For cash flow hedges, valuatios differences in the effective part of the hedge elements are
temporarily recognised in the equity item “Equity valuation adjustments™ and not recognised as
results until the losses or gains of the hedged element are recognised in profit or loss or until the
hedged element matures. The ineffective part of Lthe hedge is directly cntcred into the conselidated
comprehensive profit and loss statement.

Hedge accounting is interrupted when the hedging instrument cxpires or is sold or finalised or exercizsed, or when
it no longer meets the hedge accounting criteria. At that time, any cumulative gain or loss corresponding to the
nedging instrument that has been recognised in equity is kept there until the expected transaction is undertaken.

When the transaction covered by the hedge is not expected to take place, the net cumulative gains or losses
recognised in equity are transferred to the profit or loss for the period. Any changes in the fair value of derivatives
which fail to meet hedse accounting criteria are recognised in the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss
statement as they arise.

Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or in other main contracts are recognised separately as
derivatives only when their risks and characteristics are not closely related to those of the main contract and
oroviding such main contracts are not valued at fair value with changes through consolidated comprehensive

profit and loss.
Valuation techniques and assumptions applying to the measurement of fair value

The fair values of financial asscts and liabilities are determined as follows:

« I'he fair value of financial assets znd liabilities under standard terms and conditions which are traded
in active [iquid markets are basec on market prices.

s The fair value of other financial assets and liabilities (excluding derivatives) is determined in
accordance with generally accepted valuation models on the basis of cash flow discounting using
the price of observable market trznsactions and contributor listings of similar instruments.

o In order to determine the fair val.e of interest rate derivatives, cash flow discounting is used based
on the implicit flow determined by the intcrest rate curve according to market conditions. In order
to determine the fuir value of op:ions, the Group uses the Black-Scholes valuation model and its
variants, using for this purpose market volatilities for the strike and maturity prices of said options.

Any financial instruments valued after their initial recognition at fair value are classified as level | to 3 based on
the extent to which fair value can be observed:

e Lcvel i: includes any instruments indexed to listed prices {without adjustment) of identical assets
or lizhilities In active markets.

« Level 2: includes any instruments indexed to other observable inputs (which are not the listed prices
included under Level 1) for assetz or liabilities, be it directly (i.e., prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived
from prices).

e Level 3; includes any instruments indexed to valuation techmques, which include inpuls [or asscts
or liabilities that are not based on chservahle market data (uncbservable inputs).

In 2015, the Group contracted several exchange rate insurance contracts, of which, in December 2014, the

remaining nominal amount of USD 11,000 thousand matured, baving been renegotiated until 1 March 2017 at an
sxchange rate of 1.2938.
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The change in fair value as of 31 December 2017 of these hedges has had a positive effect concerning the 2017
consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement of 7 thousand euros (435 thousand euros in 2016). At 31

December 2017, the Group had no cxchange rate insurance contracted.

These derivalive instruments have not been treated as hedging instruments.

£.6.4. Eguity instruments

An equity instrument represents a residual interest in the equity of the Parent Company once all its liabilities are
subtracted.

Equity instruments issued by the Parent Company are recognised in equity for the amount recerved, net of the
193UE eXpenses.

4.7 Non-current asscts and associated liabilities held for sale and discontinued aperations

Assets end liabilities the carrying amount of which is recovered through a sale and not from continued use are
classified as non-current assets held for sale and liabilitics associated with non-current assets held for sale. This
condition is considered to be met only when ths sale is highly probable and the asset is available for immediate
sale in its currert state, and it is estimated that the salc will be completed within one year from the date of

classification.

Non-current assets and associated liabilities classified as held for sale are valued at their historical cost, which in
all cases is less than their fair value less sclling expenses. For the measurement of fair value, the investment book
value plus the amount of the existing unrcalised gains of the assets owned by these companies, supported by
valuations carried out by independent experts, have been taken into account.

Discontinued operations represent components of the Gronp which will be disposed of. These compoenents arc
activities and cash flows that can be clcarly distinguished from the rest of the Group, both operationally and [or
the purposes of financial reporting, and represent lines of business or geographical areas which can be considered

as separate from the rest.

4.8 Shareholdings in associated companics

mveslments in companies over which the Parent exercises significant influence or are jointly controiled are
acoounted for using the cquity method (see Appendix II). The carrying amount of the investment in the associate
includes the poodwill and the consolidated statzment of comprehensive income includes the share in the results
of the ussaciate's operations. If the associate recognises gains or losses directly in equity, the Group also
recognises its share in such items directly m equity.

At each year-end, the existence of indicators of a potential impairment of the investment in the associate is
assessed in order to recognise the related impairment loss, where appropriate In order to determine the recoverable

araount of the investments in companies whose sole asset consists of propetty inventories, appraisals were
abtained from the same independent valuer that appraised the Group's inventories. In the case of the other
companies, discounted cash flow valuations were performed intcrnally, similar to those described in Note 4.4.

1.9 Foreign currency transactions and balances

The Group’s functional currency is the euro. Censequently, any transactions in currencies ather than the euro are
considered as “foreign currency” and are recognised according to the prevailing exchange rate on the date the

iransactions are performed.

Cash assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies arc converted into the functional currency at the
prevailing exchange rate on the date of each consolidated profit and loss statement. Any gains or losses thus
revealed are recognised directly in consolidated comprehensive profit and loss.

4.10 Classification of financial assets and dehts into current and non-current

In the attached consolidated balance sheet, finaacial assets and debts are classified on the basis of their maturity;
in other words, thuse with a maturity date equivalent to or iess than twelve months are classified as current and
those with a maturity dale exceeding this arc non-current,
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4.11 Income and expenses

Income and expenses are recognised on an accrual basis, i.e. when the real flow of goods and services they
represent oceurs, irrespective of the mement when the monetary or financial flows deriving from them arise.

More specifically, income is calculated at the fair value of the consideration to be received and represents the
amounts to be collected for the goods and services delivered within the ordinary framework of operations,
subtracting any discounts and taxes.

Income and expenses arising from interest are accrued on the basis of a financial dming criterion depending on
the outstanding principal to be received or paid and the effective interest rate that applies.

4,12 Official suhsidies

Group companies follow the criteria set out belaw in recognising official subsidies:

Non-reimbuarsable capital subsidies (connected with. asscts) are valued at the amount granted, recognised
as deferred income and taken into profiz and loss in proportion to the depreciation of the assets financed
by such subsidies during the financial year.

- Operating subsidies are recognised as inceme at the moment of their accrual.

4.13 Corporation fax

The cost of the year’s corporation tax is caleulaed through the sum of the cirrent tax resulting from applying the
tax rate to the taxable income for the year and then applying the relevant tax adjustments according to the law
plus any changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include temporary differences, being any emounts expected to be payable or
recoverable due to differences between the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities and their tax value, as
well as tax loss carry-forwards and any credits resulting from unapplied tax deductions. Said amounts are
recognised by applying to the relevant temporary difference or credit the tax rate at which they are expected to be
recovered or seftled.

In some gountries, the tax rate varies depending on whether a transfer of assets is made. In these cases, the Group’s
policy consists of applying the effective tax rate at which they are expected to be recovered or settled. In the
opinion of the Parent’s Directors, the deferred tax thus calculated covers the amount which may cventually be

settled, if any, in the foregoing case.

Deferred tax liabilities for all taxable temporary differences are recogpised, except for thuse in which the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of goodwill amortisation of which is not tax~deductible
or the initial recognition of other operating asssts and Hahilities which do not alfect eitber the tax or accounting

resullt.

Deferred tax assets identified as temporary differcnces are recognised only if it is decemed prabable that the
consolidated entities will make sufficient tax profits in the future to realise them and they do not come from. the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction which does not affect cither the tax or accounting
result. Other deferred tax assets (tax loss carry-forwards and tax credits) are recognised only if'it is likely that the
comsalidated companies will make sufficient tax profits in the future to be able lo apply them.

At each year-end, deferred taxes (buth assets and liabilities) are reviewed in order to verify that they remain in
force and the relevant corrections are made in accordance with the outcome of the analyses conducted.

4,14 Ohligations to employees

Spanish hotel companics are obliged to make & specific number of monthly salary payments to those employees
who leave the company dug ta retirement, permanent disability or upon reaching a certain age and having a certain
number of years of service and fulfilling certain pre-established requirements.

[n this regard and in compliance with Royzl Decree-Law 16/2005, the Group has outsourced its pension
obligations for its employees' pension plans.
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Also, in accordance with Italian law, employees of Ttalian companies have the right to compensation 1f they resign
ar are dismissed.

its obligations to personne] also include those arising from contracting pension fumds for certain employccs, which
in the Group, mainly affects the business units of Italy and the Netherlands.

Therefore, to provide for these obligations te fiture payments to personnel, the Group has recognised a liability
under “Provisions [or Risks and Charges” (See Note 17).

4.15 Onerous contracts

The CGroup considers onerous agresments to be those in which the inevitable costs of fulfilling the obligations
fhey entail exceed the economic benelfits expecied from them.

The Group follows the principle of recording a provision at the present value of the aforementioned differences
between the costs and benefits of the contract, or the compensation foreseen for abandonment of the contract, if

such is decided.

The methodology, assumptions and discount rates used to calculate any neecessary provisions are applied in
accordance with the criteria described in Note 4.4,

4.16 Share-based Remuneration Schemes

These schemes, which are settled in shares, are valued at the time of granting, using a financial method based on
a binomial model which takes into consideration the sirike price, volatility, the exercise period, the expected
dividends, the risk-free interest rate and the assumptions made concerning the financial year.

n accordance with TFRS 2, the above-mentioned valuation is recognised in profit or loss under personnel
expenscs during the period established as a requircment for the employee to remain in the company before
exercising the option. Said value is recognised on a straight-line basis in the consolidated comprehensive profit
and loss statement from the date the oplion is granted until the date on which it is exercised.

On each subsequent closing date, the Group reviews the estimates regarding the number of options expected Lo
be exercisable, adjusting the equity fgure if necessary.

4.17 Treasury shares

Pursuant to JAS 32, wreasury shares are presented by reducing the Group’s equity. Treasury shares are recognised
at the value of the consideration paid and are dzducted directly from equity. Gains and losses on the acquisition,
sale, issue ot retirement of treasury shares are recognised directly in equity and in no case are they recognised in
the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement.

4.18 Pravisions

The Group follows the policy of provisioning for the estimated amounts arising from ongoing litigation,
indemnities or oblications, as well as for any sureties or guaranlees granted by Group companies which could
involve the Group in a payment obligation (either legal or Implicit), provided the amount can be reliably

estimated.

Provisions are quanlified based on the best information available on the position and evalution of the events that
~ause them and are reestimated at the end of each reporting period, being totally or partially reversed when these
obligations cease to cxist or decrease.

Contingent liabilities, cxcept in business combinations, are not recognised in the consolidated financial
statements, but are reported in the notes to the financial statements, in accardance with the requirements of [AS

37,

419 Severance pay
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Tn accordance with current employment regulations and certain employment contracts, the Group is obliged to
nay indemnities to employees who are dismissed under certain conditions. The Group recognised expenses of
12,632 thousand euros for this item in 2017 (13,432 thousand curos in 2016).

The consolidated balance shect at 31 December 2017 includes, pursuant to IFRS (IAS 37), a provision of 6,429
thousand euros for this item (6,387 thousand evros at 31 December 2016).

4.20 Business combinations

Business combinations whereby the Group acquires control of an entity are accounted for using the acquisition
cost method, calculating goodwill as the difference between the sum of the consideration transfcrred, the non-
controlling interests and the fair value of uny previous stake in the acquired entity, less the identifiable net assets

of the acquired entity, measured at fair valuc.

In the cvent that the difference belween these items is megativc, income is recognised in the consalidated
comprehensive profit and loss statement,

In the case of business combinations carried o in stages, goodwill is measured and recognised only once control
of a business has been acquired. To do this, previous holdings are re-measured at fair valuc and the corresponding
gain or loss is recognised.

4.21 Environmental policy

Tnvestments arising from envircnmental activities are valued at their original cost and capitalised as increases in
the cost of fixed assets or inventory in the finarcial year in which they are incured.

Any expenses atising from environmental protection and improvement are recognised in profit or loss for the year
in which they are incurred, irrespective of the moment when the cash or financial flows deriving from them arise,

Provisions for likely or certain liahilities, ongoing litigation and cutstanding indemnities or obligations of an
indeterminate amount connected with the env'ronment and not covered by the insurance policies taken out are
astablished at the time the liability or obligation linked to the indemnities or payment arises.

4,22 Consolidated cash flow statements

The following lerms with their comresponding explanation are uscd in the consolidated cash flow statcment
prepared using the indirect method:

_ Cash flows: inflows and outflows of cash and cash equivalents, which are short-term, highly liquid
investments that are subject to an insiznificant risk of changes in value.

- Operational activities: the typical activities of the enlities forming the consolidated group, along with
other activities that cannot be classified as investing or [inancing activities.

- Investing activities: the acquisition and disposal of long-lerm assets and other investments not included
in cash and cash equivalents.

- Financing activities: activitics that result in changes in the size and composition of the equity and
liabilities that are not operating activities.
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5. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share (EPS) are calculated by dividing the net profit or loss atfributable to the Group in a period
by the weighted average number of shares in circulation during the period, excluding the average numbcr of

treasury shares held during the same period.

n accordance with this:

31/1272017 31/12/2016
Net profit for the year (thousands of curos; 35,489 30,750
Weighted average number of shares in circilation (in thousands) 340,805 341,042
Basic earnings per share in enros 0.104 0.09%)

Diluted earnings per sharc arc established on z similar basis to basic earnings per share; however, the weighted
average number of shares outstanding is increased by the maximum number of shares to be issued by the
>onvertible bonds: 50,823,338 shares (see INote 15).

3171222017 31/12/2016
Net profit for the year (thousands of euros; 35,489 30,750
Weighted average numbcr of shares with difutive effect (in thousands) 391,628 391,845
Diluted earnings per share in euros 0.091 0.078

6.- GOODWILL

The balance included under this item corresponds to the net goodwill arising from the acquisition ol certain
sompanies, and breaks down as follows (thousand of euros):

2017 2016
NH Hoteles Deutschland, GmbH and
NH Hoteles Austria, Gmbl! 72,181 80,485
Hoieles Roval, S.A. 28,629 32,719
Others 3,874 4,532
111,684 117,736
The movements in this heading of the consolidated balance sheet in 2017 and 2016 were as follows (in thousand
of euros):
Goodwill Addmions Exchange Impairment Goodwill
Company 31/12/2016 differences 31/12/2017
NH Hoteles Deutschland GmbH and
NH Hoteles Austria, Gmbl1 (Notc 4.4) 30,185 B (1,304) 79,181
Hoteles Royal, §.A. 32.719 - (4,050) - 28,629
(Others 4532 1,103 {658) (1,103) 3,874
Total 117.736 1,103 (4,748) (2,407} 111,684
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Geadwill Exchange Impairment Goodwill
Company 31/12/2015 differences 31/12/2016

NH Hateles Deutschland, GmbH and NH

Hoteles Austria, GmbH 83,180 . (4,693) 80,485
IToieles Royal, S.A. 29,651 3,068 - 32,719
Others 3,962 5370 - 4,532
Total 118,793 3,638 (4,695) 117,736

Dstails of the cash-generating units to which such goodwill arising on consolidation has been allocated is shown
below:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016

Grupo Royal CGUs 28,629 32,719
CGU a | 15,113 15,113
CGU 21 9,920 9,920
CGU 22 7,711 7.711!
CGLU 12 7.042 7.042
CGU 5 6.107 6,107
CGU 13 5,624 5,625
CGU 2 5,027 5,027
CGUs with gaodwill allocated
individually < €4 M 26,502 28,463

111,684 117,736

At 31 Tecember 2017, Goodwill was subject to an impairment test which showed 2,407 thousand euros of
impairment.

The basic assumplions used in the impairment zest of the CGUs mentioned above are detailed below:

«  After- tax discount rate: 5.55% and 6.93% (6.16% and 6.49% respectively in 2016} for CGUs subject
to the same risks (German and Ausirian market); and for Grupo Royal CGUs, rates of 12.40%
{Colombian and Ecuadorian markets) and 9.61% (Chilean market) {13.14% and 9.84% respectively in
2016).

« ‘Terminal value growth rate (g): 2.47% and 2.25% for Germany and Austria and 3% for Grupo Royal
CGlUs.

Additionally, and considering the assumplion implied in the preceding paragraph, the Group has conducted a
sensitivity analysis of the result of the impairment test of Goodwill to changes in the following situations:

NH Hoteles Deutschlard, GmbH and NH Hoteles Austria, GmbH
Average valucs
| Impairment test Scenario | Scenario 2
' Discount rate (after tax} 5.55% - 6.93% 6.55% - 7.93% 4,55% - 5.93%
 Growth tate 2.47% - 2.25% 1.47% - 1.25% 3.47% - 3.25%
' Qccupancy fate 76.45% 75.68% 77.29%
| ADR (euros) 114.0 112.9 115.2
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Hoteles Roval, S.A.
Average values
Impairment test Scenario 1 Scenario 2
Discount rate (aflcr tax) 5.61% - 12.40% 10.61% - 13.40% | 8.61% - 11.40%
Growth rate 3% 2% 4%
Qceupancy rate 61.64% 59.03% 60.23%
ADR {thousands of C(}Ps) 335.7 326 332.6

'Average Daily Rate" (ADR): is the quotient of total room revenue for a specific period divided by the rooms
seld in that specific period. This indicator is used to compare with companies in the sector the average prices per
rcom of the hotels.

Ir. the case of scenario 2, an impairment of 876 thousand euros had been recorded in 2017 in addition to that
recorded at 31 December 2017 with respect to the goodwill of NH Ilotels Deutschland, Gmbh and NH Hoteles
Austria , GmbH, and no impairment in regard ta the goodwill of Holeles Roval, S.A.

On the other hand, scenario 1 is a negative scenario where the discount rate is raised [ b.p. ahove the rate used in
the test and a prowth rate lower by 1 b.p., i.e. with minimum growth, and fails in occupancy and ADR of 3%
which would lead to an additional impairment to that registered in 2017 for an amount of 3 million euros with
respect to the goodwill of NH Hotels Deutschland, Gmbh and NH Hoteles Austria, GmbH and it would not imply
any impairment in the goodwill of Group Royal CGU.
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7.1 Hotel operating rights

T4e additions were not significant in 2017, The increase in hotel rights in 2016 came {from the investment made
in improvements under the management contract of the hotel NH Collcetion Grand Hotel Krasnapolsky. This
investment was zallacated to the consalidated comprehensive profit and loss statement over 12.5 years according
to the average useful life of the assets making it up, during which peried it is estimated that the investment made

will be recovercd.

On 28 July 1994, NH Hoteles, S.A. was granted a right of use on Hotel NH Plaza de Armas in Seville, which 1s
swned by Red Nacional de los Ferrovarriles Espafioles (RENKE), for a thirty-year period commencing on the datc
thz agreement was executed. NH Hoteles, S.A. paid RENFE the amount of 30.2 million euros in accordance with
a payment schecule which concluded in 2014, The Group has reflected the entire amount agreed upon as the
transaction's price in the "Hotel vperating rights” item. In order to correctly accrue this price, the result of
spreading out the cost over the thirty - ycar term of the agreement was assigoed to the consolidated comprehensivce
orofit and loss statement in accordance with an increasing instalment with a percentage annual growth of 4%.

7.2 Agreement premiums

As stated in Note 1, on. 7 March 2017 a new Jamework agreement to manage 28 hotels in Spain was signed
hatween NH Hotel Group, S.A., NH Hoteles Espafia, S.A., and Hotelcs Hesperia, 5.A. and Grupo Inversor
Hesperia, S.A. (“GTHSA™) and certain subsidiaries over a 9-year period. The aforementioned framework
agreement is legally cmbodied in 28 new manzgement coniracls for the aforementioned 28 hotels all located in
Spain for a period of 9 years. Due to the early cancellation of the previous management contracts, GHISA made
a payment of 6,000 thousand euros in compensation to Hoteles Hesperia, S.A.. the owner of the management
centraets which were cancelled. This amount has been rccorded under "Other Operating Income"™ m the
ccnsulidated comprehensive profit and loss statsment summarised herein.

The signing of new management contract represents a cost of 38,560 thousand euros for NE Hotel Group, S.A.
which will be paid in three instaiments. The first payment was made in the first half of 2017 for an amount of
17,000 thousand eurns, with two payments still pending, of 10,000 thousand euros to be paid on 30 April 2018
and 11,560 thousand euros to be paid on 30 April 2019 recorded respectively under short and long term "other
financial liabilities” in the accompanying Groun consolidated balance sheet. The debt pending payment accrues
4% interest.

7.3 Suftwarc applications

The most significant inclusions in the current yzar were in Spain, as a result of the investments made to develop
the corporate WEBSITE and implement frant office systems of the hotels and IT transformation plan projects.

The derecognitions are mainly rcpresented by withdrawals of software applications which were fully amortised
at year-end.

It 2016, there were reductions in software applications amounting to 1,372 thousand euros, which have been
recorded under the heading "Net result on disposal of non-current assets” in the 2016 cansolidated comprehensive

profit and loss statement.

During the year some items have been retired, replaced or dispesed, gencrating posiiive net capital gains for them
amounting to 30,148 thousand curos (see Note 8).

Alse during 2017, impairment provisions of 228 thousand euros and reversals of 1,627 thousand eures were
recognised under "Net Profits/(1.osses) from asget impairment” of the consalidated comprehensive profit and loss

statement.
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The net additions for the year in the column "Caanges in the scope of consolidation" come from the purchase of
the companics WILAN ANDER, S.L. and WILAN HUEL, 8.L. (see Note 2.5.4) and the cxit of the company

Hesperia Enterprises de Venezuela, S.A.

Ir. 2016, the net additions in the year in the column "Changes in the scope of consolidation” come from the
nurehase of 47% of the company Palacio de la Merced, S.A. (see Note 2.5 4).

The main additions and reductions in 2017 arc due to the repositioning plan carried ocut by the Group, with
refurbishments in all Business Units. The main refurbishments have been carricd out in hotels such as NH Les
Corts, NH Constanza, NII Calderén (Spain), NH Cavalieri, NH President, NH Milano Touring (ltaly) NH
Hamburg Norge, NH Berlin Mitte, NH Duesseldorf City, NH Duesseldarf City Nord (Germany), NH Collection
Eindhoven, NH Jan Tabak, NH Amsterdam Neord (Benelux) and NII Mexico City (Latin America).

ransfers to other items correspond mainly to the NH Barbizon Palace hotel classified as a non-current asset held
for sale during 2017 (see Note 14) amounting to 66,62 | thousand euros.

At 31 December 2017, there were tangible fixed asset elements with a net book value of 275 million euros (344
million euros in 2016) to guarantee several mortgage loans (see Note 15).

The breakdown of impairment by country is as follows (in thousands of curos):

2017 2016
Spain 10,834 14,415
Italy 32,182 46,463
Germany 2,392 1,673
Benelux 907 -
Others 602 973
Total impairment 47,007 63,526

Impairment amounting 1 2,730 thousand eurcs has been recegnised for certain assets due to the worsening of
Future expectations of cash flows for different reasons, including the opening of competitors’ hotels or the loss of
an important customner (13,221 thousand euros in 2016), and 12,743 thousand euros registered under "Net
Profits/(Losses) from asset impainment” of the 2017 consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statement have
bzen reversed.

Guring the year, some tangible and intangible assets, have been retired, replaced or disposed of to third parties
oatside the Group, generating positive net capital gains for them amounting to 39,148 thousand euros, recorded
mmder "Gain/(loss) on the disposal of non-cwrent assets” in the consolidated comprehensive profit and loss

statement for 2017.

The Group has taken out insurance policies to cover any possible risks to which the different elements of its
tangible fixed assets are subject, and to cover any possible claims that may be filed against it in the course of its
activities. It is understuod that such policies sufficiently cover the risks to which the Group is exposed.

At 31 December 2017, firm purchase undertatings amounted to 51.5 million eures. These mvestments will be
made between 2018 and 2020 (46.4 million euros in 2016),
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The recoverable amount of the CGUs subject to impairment or reversal (not the cntire portfolio of the Group) is

s follows:
Million euros 2017
Recoverable amount
CGU A 76
CGU B 36.3
CGUC 34.3
CGUD 249
CGUE 24.1
CGUF 15.8
CGUG 13.1
CGUH 10
CGU ] 10
CGUJ 9.3
Top Ten 256.8
Spain 83
ftaly 34.5
Benslux 21.1
(rermany 19.8
Other Couniries {8.1)
Other CGUs 173.3
Total 430.1

9. INVESTMENTS VALUED USING THE EQUITY METHOD

The movements under this heading of the consalidated balance sheet during 2017 and 2016 werc as follows (in

thousands of euros):

Net Currency | Net Balance
Rulance at | Profit (Loss) | translalion at

Company 31/1272016 2017 differcnee | 31/1272017

Inmobiliaria 3 Poniente, S.A. de C.V. 1,936 55 (131) 1,860

Mil Novecientos Doce, S.A, de TV, 1,789 154 (163) 1,780

Consorcio Grupo Hotelero T2, S.A, de C.V. Q73 245 (102) 1,116

Hotelera del Mar, S.A 1,467 - (309) 1,158

Baorokay Beach, S.L. 1,408 {(43) - 1,365
Reijing NH Grand China Hotel Management

Co, Lid 3,060 (751} (173) 2,136

ITorel & Congress Technology, S.L. 13 (9} - 4

Total 10,646 (349) (878) 3419

37



{Changes in

Net Profit Currency Scope of Net
Balance at Other {Loss) ranslation | Consolidation | Balance at
Company 31/1272015 | ~.dditions | movements 2016 dilference | (Note 2.5.4) | 31/12/2016
Varallo Cormrercial, S.A. 7,188 - - - 2,246 (5.432) -
[nmobiliaria 3 Poniente, S5.A. de C.V. 1,968 - . 298 (327) - 1,936
Palacio de la Merced, S.A. 1,542 - - 176 - (1.718) -
Mil Novecientos Doce, S.A, de C.V. 1,935 - . 149 (299) - 1,789
Censorcio Grupo Hotelero T2, S.A. dc CV. 837 - . 280 (144) - 673
Hotelera del Mar, S.A. 1,717 - . (37 (213) - 1,467
Borokay Beach, 5.L. 1,420 - - (12) - - 1,408
Beijjing NH Grand China Hoicl
Mangagement Co, Ltd - 4,149 (412) (672) (3) - 3,060
Hotel & Congress Technology, S.L. 73 - - (60) - 2 13
Total 16,678 4,149 (412) 119 1,262 (11,150) 10,646

10. NON-CURRENT FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS

10.1 Loans and accounts receivable not available for trading

1'he breakdown of this item at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Subordinated loans to companies owning hotels operated by the
Group through leases 30,689 43 085
Other ¢ollection rights 16,395 16,395
Lease advance payments 3,155 3,122
Loans to associates (Note 25) - 244
Long-term deposits and sureties 12,939 13,934
Others 1,976 1,555
Total 65.154 78,385

The main features of these agreements are as follows:

- Hotel rentals arc nol subject to evolution of the inflation rate or to that of any other index.

The Group's policy on holdings in associated ccmpanics consists of ceasing to book losses in these companies 1f
the associated company’s consolidated losses attribuiable to the Group are equivalent to or exceed the cost of its
holding in them, provided there are no additional contingencies or guarantees connected with existing losses. This
is the situation of the stake in Losan Investment, Ltd.

The “Subordinated loans to companies owning Lotels opcrated by the Group through leases™ item includes a series
af loans granted by the Group to companies which own hotels in countries such as Gemmany, Austria,
Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Italy and Spain, and which arc operated by the Group under a leasing agreement.

- The above-mentionad subordinated lozns accrue interest at a fixed rate o[ 3% per year (2.93 million euros
in 2017 and 2.31 million curos in the preceding year).
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- Lease agreements establish a purchase right on propertics subject to agreemtents that, as a general rule,
may be executed in the fifth, tenth and fifleenth year from the entry into force of the agreement.

- The model used for these lease agreements has been analysed and independent experts consider them 1o
be operating leases.

The "Other collection rights” item reflects the ¢laim filed against the insurance company that underwrote the ten-
year construction insurance. The amount claimed corresponds to the repairs made and pending in the Los Cortijos
d¢ Sotogrande housing development.

The “Lease advance payments” item consists of sdvance payments made to the owners of certain hotels operated
under a lease arrangement for the purchase of decoration and furniture; these are discounted from future rental
payments.

As regards the fair value of financial assets, it coes not differ significantty from its book valve.
10.2 Other non-current financial investments

This heading of the consolidated balance sheet comprised, at 31 December 2017 and 2018, the following cyuity
interests, valued at cost:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Varallo Comercial, S.A. (Note 2.5.4) 9,343 9.343
NH Panama 3,767 3,767
Other investments 677 67%
Provisions (3,048) (1,118)
Total 10,741 12,671

In the year 2017, a provision of 1,928 thousard curos was allocated, corresponding to the shareholding of NII
Panama based on an appraisal by an independent expert.

As regards the fair value of financial assets, it ¢oes not differ significantly frem its book value.

11.- NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE, LIABILITIES LINKED TO NON-CURRENT
ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

In accordance with ITRS 3, Non-current assets classified as held for sale and discontinued cperations (see Note
4.7), the group has classified non-strategic asszts under this heading which, pursuant te the Strategic Plan, are
undergoing divestment with committed sales plans,

The assets classified as held for sale, after deduzting their liabilities, were measurcd at the lower of their carrying
amount and the expected sales price minus costs.

Specifically, Sotocaribe, S.L. and Capredo Investments GmbH are classified as discontinued operations; these
companies represented the entircty of the Groun’s property activity.

In addition, in 2017 the Group transferred the property in which the NH Barbizon Palace hotel is lncated to non-
current assets held for sale, which was disposed of outside the Group on 30 January 2018 (see Note & and 28).
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Sotocaribe, S.L. was consolidated by the equity method, while Capredo Investments, GmbH was changed to the
global method following the acquisition of the remmining 50% of the company by the Group Company on 23

December 2016.

Consalidated balance sheets. Headings of Non-current assets and liabilities classified as held for sale:

A movement by balance headings of the assets and liabilities presented under the corresponding Held for Sale
headings at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is shown below (in thousands of euros):

Transfers (see

31.12.2016 Net Variation Note 7) 31.12.2017

Praperty, plant and equipment 12,113 (3,174) h6,621 75,561
Finatcial assets 34,556 {1,000) - 33,556

Dvesiments accounted for using the equity method 34.556 (1,000) 33,556
Cash p. - - 2
Other current assets 14 34 - 43
Non-current assefs classified as held for sale 46,685 (4,140) 66,621 109,166
Other non-current liabilitics 615 - - 615
Trade pavables 376 - - 376G
Other cwrent liabilitics 1,670 (284) - 1,386
Liabilitics associated with assets classified as held for sale 2,661 (284) - 2377

Change in
consolidation
31.02.2015 | Net Variation boundary 31.12.2014

Property, plant and equipment - - 12,113 12,113
Financial assets 45,034 (3,714) (6,764} 34,556

Investments accounted for wing the equity method 43,034 (3,714) (6,764) 34556
Cash - - 2 2
Other currentl asscts - - 14 14
Non-currenf assets classified as held for sale 45,034 (3,714) S 365 46,685
Other non-current liabilities - - 813 615
Trade payables - - 376 376
Other current liabilities - - 1,670 1,670
Linhilities assnciated with assets classified as held for sale - - 2,661 2,061

The net changes column includes impairments essociated with investments accounted for using the equity methed.

Consolidated comprehensive profit and loss statcments

The profit and loss of the discontinued operaticns shawn in the accompanying consolidated comprehensive profit
and loss staternent is broken down by company as follows (in thousands of euros):
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Capredo
Investments, Sotocaribe,
GmbH S.L, Tolal

2017

Profit {1oss) before tax (92) {186) (278)
Profit {loss) for the year from discontinued operations nct of ax (D2) (186) (278)
2016

Profit {loss) before tax (159) (2,115) (2,274)
Profit {lass) for the ycar from discontinued operations net of :ax (159) {(2,115) (2,274)

Consolidated cash flow statements

The consolidated cash flow statements for the fuily consolidated companies in 2017 and 2016 are detailed below

(in thousands of euros):

Capredo
[nvestments,
GmbH

2017

Total net cash (low from operating activities I
Total net cash flow from investment activities I
Total net cash flow from financing activities III

(I+0-+11)
Effect of variations in the scope of consalidation (1V)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start cf the financial year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

GROSS INCREASE/NECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

N

Capredo
{nvestments,
GmhbH

2016

Total net cash flow from operating activities 1
Total net cash flow from investment activities II
Total net cash flow from financing activities [11

(I+T1-+110)

Effect of variations in the scope of consclidation (IV)
Cash and cash equivalents at the start of the financial yvear
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

GROSS INCRTEASE/DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

12.- TRADE RECEIVABLES

This ilem retlects different accounts receivablz from the Group’s operations. The breakdown at 31 December

2017 and 2016 is as follows:
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Thousands of guros

2017 2016
Trade receivables for scrvices provided 141,738 | 159,885
Provision for bad dcbis (9,156)| (13,688)
Total 132582 | 146,197

As u general rule, these receivables do not accrue interest and are due at less than 90 days with no restrictions on

how they may be availed.

Movements in the provision for bad debts during the ysars ending 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Thousands of eurus
2017 2016
Balance at 1 January 13,688 12,254
Changes in scope - 58
Exchange differences (209) (7)
Additions 1,982 2,830
Applications (6,305) (1.447)
Balance at 31 December 9,156 13,688

The analysis of the agcing of financial assets in arrears but not considered mmpaired at 31 December 2017 and
2016 is as follows:

‘Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Less than 30 days 19,928 18,380
From 31 ta 60 cCays 8,728 11,488
Morc Lhan 60 days 21,813 32,122
Total 50,469 61,990

13.- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

This iterm essentially includes the Group’s cash position, along with any loans granted and bank deposits that
mature at no morc than three months. The average interest rate obtained by the Group for its cash and cash
gquivalents balances during 20117 and 2016 was a variable Eunibor-indexcd rate. These assets are recognised at

their fair value.

Therc are no restrictions on cash withdrawals, except for 1,716 thousand curos reserved in accordance with a tirm
commitment with the co-owners of Hoteles Royal (1,275 thousand euros in 20146) for future investments in the
hotels and 2,440 thousand euros reserved in accordance with a commitment acquired with the owner of a hotel in
Ttaly to underlake repasitioning investments (2,448 thousand euros in 2016).

As at 31 Dceember 2017, there were no restrictions on the receipt of dividends distributed by the companies in
which the Parent Company holds a direct or indirect minority sharcholding.
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As a result of the enactment of Royal Decree 1558/2012 of 15 November, of Article 42 bis of Royal Decree
1065/2007 of 27 July, approving the General Regulations on tax management, inspection and procedutes, and
implementing the common rulcs of the proczdures for applying taxes, which establishes certain reporting
obligations with regard to overscas assets and rights, among athers, it is disclosed that some members of the NH
Hotel Group S.A. Board of Directors have the right, as representatives or authorised otTicials, to dispose of bank
accommts located abruad, which are in the name of Group companies. The reason certain Board members have the
right to dispose of overseas bank accounts is that they arc directors or board members of said subsidiaries.

NH Hotel Group S.A. holds other accounting documents, namely the consolidaled annual accounts, from which
sufficient data can be extracted in relation to the aforementioned accounts.

14. EQUITY

14.1 Subscribed sharc capital

NH Hotel Group, S.A. share capital at the end of 2017 comprised 350,271,788 fully subscribed and paid up bearer
shares with a par value of €2 cach, All these shares carry identical voting and economic rights and are traded on

the Continuous Market of the Spanish Stock Lxchanges.

According to the latest notifications received by the Parent Company and the notices given to the National
Scenrities Market Commission before the end of every financial year, the shareholders with shareholdings above

3% at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were as foLows:

2017 2016
HNA Group Co Limited 29.35%* 29.50%
Qeeanwood Capital Management LLP 12.06% 11.97%
Hesperia Group 9.27%*" 5.27%

Although in the CNMV Records it is recorded that the stareholding of Grupo HNA in NH is 29.50% al 31 December 2017, Grupe HNA
reported a decrease to 29.35% in its shareholding in NH tr: the CNMYV on 27 February 2017, In addition, on 3 November 2017, Grupo HMA
notified the CNMY of the signing of & sales contract and repurchase agreument through which it wonld transfer WH shares representing
approximately 1,14% of the share capital. Depending on whether the sale has been furmalised and the terms and conditgons of it, Grupo HNA's
shareholding in NH could reach 28.20% of the share cupitdl. Finally, on 19 January 2018, it notified the CNMYV of the engagement to review
its shareholding in MH, including identify potential buyers of its shareholding.

*# The shareholding of Grupo Hesperia consists of the direct shareholding held by Grupa Inversor Hesperia, S.A. (9.10%) and Eurofondo

(0.17%).

At year-end 2017 and 2016, the members of the Board of Directors were the holders or proxies of sharehaldings
representing appraximately 21.38% and 21.28% of the share capital, respectively.

The main aims of the Group's capital management are to ensare short-term and long-term financial stability, a
positive trend for NH Hotel Group, S_A. share vriees, and suitable funding for investments and indebtedness. All
the above is geared towards cnsuring that the Group maintains its financial strength and the strength of'its financial
ratios, enabling it to maintain its businesses and maximise value for its shareholders.
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During recent years, the evolution of the busincss bas allowed to reduce the ratio of accounting financial leverage
fom 0.63x to 0.55x. The ratios of accounting financial leverage at 31 December 2017 and 2016 are the followmng:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016

Bonds and other marketable securtzies (Note 15) 633,910 765,370
Bank borrowings and other financial liabilities $2.470 95.946
(Note 15)

Gross accounting debt 716,880 861,816
Cash and cash equivalents {Notc 13) 80,249 136,733
Liquid assets 830,249 136,733
Total net accounting debt — 636,631 725,083
Total Equity 1,151,976 1,135,876
Accounting financial leverage (0.55x 0.63x

On 29 June 2017, the General Shareholders' Meeting approved the distribution of a dividend at 5 cents per
outstanding share, charged to 2016 profits. The tolal amount of dividends paid in 2017 amounted tc 17 million

SUros.
14.2 Parent Company Reserves
i) Legal reserve

In accordance with the Consolidatsd T'ext of the Corporate Enterprises Act, 10% of the net profit for
each year must be allocated to the legal reserve until it rcaches at leasi 20% of share capital. The legal
reserve may be used to increase capital provided the remaining balance does not fall below 10% of
the increased capital amount. With the exception of the aforementioned purpose, and when it does
not exceed 20% of share capital, this reserve may be uscd only to offset losses, provided no other
reserycs are available for this purpase.

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, t1e parent company's legal reserve was not fully constituted.
i1} Share premium

The Consolidated Text of the Carsorate Enterprises Act expressly allows the balance of this reserve
to be used to increase capital and imposes no restrictions on its availabilily.

14.3 Treasury shares and shareholdings

At the end of the year, NH Hotel Group, S.A. had 9,416,368 treasury shares on its balance sheet, whose main
composition and movements are broken down as follows:

e  Securities loan linked to the convertible band issue dated 8 November 2013, On 4 November 2013, the

Spanish National Securities Markel Commission (CNMV) was notified of the loan of 9,000,000 of own
shares to the three financial institutions inveolved in the placement of the convertible bonds or bonds

exchangeable for shares of NH Hotel Group S.A. amounting to 250 million euros. The purposc of this
loan was tu allow said financial entities to offer the shares to subscribers to the convertible debentures

requesting them.
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At 31 December 2017, the financial entities have returned 7,615,527 of those 9,000,000 shares, which

are thus now held by NH Hotel Group S.A., but which accurding to the terms of securities lending,
continue to be available to the financizl entities, who can borrow them at any time, until the convertible

bonds are cancelled or amortised (see Note 13).

e In August 20186, the Company purchased 600,000 treasury shares.

« In 2017 the first cycle of the long-term incentive plan was scitled corresponding to the year ended 31
December 2016. 'This plan was settled in March, April and July with the delivery of 183,632 shares

valued at 733 thousand euros on the settlement dates,

14.4 Minority interests

The movements in this item in 2017 and 2016 are summarised below:

Thousands of euros

Opcning balance

Comprehensive profit (loss) atiributasle to non-
controlling interests

Changes in percentage shareholdings and
purchase/sales

Dividends paid to non~controlling interests
Other movements

Clasing balance

2017 2016
43,967 37,963
1,001 3,614
- 29589
(1,456) (1,056)
- 857
43,472 43,967

The 2017 "Dividends paid 1o non-controlling interests" item mainly reflects the dividends paid out in 2017 to the
following companies: NH Marin, S.A., for 475 thousand euros, NH Las Palmas, 5.4. for 265 thousand curos and

various companics in Latin America for 756 thousand euros.
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15. DEBT IN RESPECT OF BOND ISSUES AND BANK BORROWINGS

The balances of the “Bonds and other negotizble securities™ and “Debts with credit institutions” items at 31

December 2017 and 2016 were as follows:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016

Long-term | Short-term | Long-lerm | Shorl-term

Convertible bonds - 244,606 238,724 -

Guaranteed senior bonds maturing in 2019 - - 250,000 -

Guaranteed scnior bonds maturing in 2023 400,000 - 285,000 -
Bormrowing costs - 5,125 - 6,248
| Arrangement expenses (12,285) (3,536) (10,087) (4,015)
| Debt instruments and other marketable securities 387,718 246,195 763,637 2,233
' Mortgages 32.945 7,496 33,078 4,325
' Unsecured loans 867 2,238 2,158 9,072

 Subordinated loans 40,000 - 40,000 -
| Credit lines - 2,008 - 9,944
| Arrangement expenses (2,566) (917) (2,516) (1,015)
! Borrowing costs - 894 - 200
Debts with credit institutions 71,246 11,724 72,720 23,226
Total 458,961 | 257,919 836,357 25,459

The current fair value of the convertible bonds, bearing in mind that the reference interest rate would be the one
applied to the bonds issued during 2017, would mean such bonds amounting to 242 million euros {224 million
euros im 2016). With regard te financial liabilities tied to a variable interest rate, because of their variable
configuration, their fair value does not differ from their book value.

The effect of debt movement on the Group's cash flows as reflected in the cash flow statement 1s affected by non-
cash movements generated by exchange rate differences as the group has debts in currencies other than the euro.

Convertible bonds

On 31 QOctober 2013, the Parent Company placed convertible bonds among institutional investors, for a total of

250,000 thousand euros, with the following characteristics:

Amount of the 1ssue €250,000,000
Nominal value of the bond €100,000
Maturity 5
Rank of debt Unguarantsed senior
Issue price 100%
Coupon 4%
Exchange price 4,219 euros
Conversion premium 30%
Redemption price 100%
Maximum number of shares to issue 50,823,338

Ir. certain circumstances, at the request of the tondholder or Parent Company, this instrument may be redeemed

or converted early.
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This transaction is considered an instrument comprising liabilities and cquity, with the equity at the time of
issuance worth 27,230 thousand euros.

As is commonplace for this type of issue, and in order to enhance the liquidity of the instrument on the secondary
market, NH Hote! Group, S.A. signed a security loan agreement with the placing enfities for up to 9,000,000
million treasury shares. This loan bears interesi at 0.5% and was drawn to the extent of 1,384,473 shares at 31

December 2017 (ses Note 14.3).

As the maturity of the convertible bonds will occur on 31 Cetober 2018, the Group has reclassified all debt
associated with the "Bonds and other convertiblz securitics” item of current liabilities at 31 December 2017. This
has meant that the variation between current assats and current liabilities for 2017 is negative at 205,449 thousand
curos. In this regard and based on the assumption that this instrument is not redeemed the directors of the Parent
Company consider there being no doubt as 1o tae Group being able to meet the payment of the debl at maturity
both due to the expectation of generating pusitive cash flows during the year and the fact that, as indicated In the
section "guaranteed syndicated credit linc" of this Note, the Group has & credit line of 250 million euros and a
final maturity on 29 September 2021 which, at 31 December 2017, is available in full,

Secured senior bonds maturing in 2019

Tn 30 October 2013 the Parent Company placed guaranteed senior bonds, which mature in 2019, at the nominal
value of 250,000 thousand suros. The nominal yearly interest rate for said issuance of notcs is 6.875%. At 31
December 2017, these honds are fully cancelled through early amortisation or refinancing (see section

"Refinancing 2017").
Secured senior bonds maturing in 2023

On 23 September 2016 the Parent Company placed guaranteed senior bonds, which mature in 2023, at the nominal
value of 285,000 thousand euros. The nominal vearly interest rate for said issuance of notes is 3.75%. On 4 April
2017, the parcnt company issued an extension of guaranteed senior bonds maturing in 2023 for a nominal amount
of 115,000 thousand euros with an implicit cost until maturity of 3.17%. The outstanding nominal amount at 31
December 2017 is 400,000 thousand euras (see section “Refinancing 20177).

Relinancing 2017

As indicated in the section "Guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2019", at the beginning of the year the Group
swed 250,000 thousand of bonds to their holders which have been fully refinanced or amortised in full throughout

2017

In this regard, in April 2017, the parent company issucd an extension of guaranteed senior notes maturing m 2023
for a nominal amount of 115,000 thousand euros with an implicit cost until maturity of 3.17%. This extension led
ta the conversion of 121,503 thousand euros in zuaranteed senior notes maturing in 2019 with an annual nomimal
interest of 6.875%, after having the aforementioned 121,505 thousand euros acquired by the Deutsche Bank
vranch in [.ondon On this date, the parent company reached the following milestones corresponding to the accrued
and unpaid coupon and premium for the repurchase offer:

» Conversion of the nominal amount of 12[,505 thousand eurcs of guaranteed senior nate maturing in 2019
into a new onc of 115,000 thousand euros with the same conditions as the guaranteed senior notes maturing
in 2023,

»  Payment of unpaid accrued inrerest and otter interest: 3,225 thousand euros

¢ Payment of thc amount of the repurchase premium: 9,59% thousand euros

I relation to the conversion of the notes, the Directors of the Company consider that all the qualitative and
quantitative criteria have been met (mainly, that the current value of the cash flows discounted under the new
terms, including any commission paid net of any commission received, and discounting using the original
affective interest rate, diffcrs by less than 0% from the discounted present value of the cash flows which still
remained of the syndicated notes maturing it 2019), for their accounling recognition, in accordance to their
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‘nterpretation of the standard, that the new notes maturing in 2023 and amount of 115 million euros, do not differ
significantly from those cancelled for the amount of 121.5 million euros maturing in 2019. Therefore, the new
notes mamring in 2023 are reduccd by the arrangement expenses pending of the redeemed obligations maturing
‘n 2023, as well as the new arranpement expenses incurred which could be registered as such.

In May 2017, the parent company voluntarily amortised, by paying the applicable premium, 28,495 thousand
enros of the guaranteed senior notcs maturing n 2019 with an annual nominal interest rate of’ 6.875%. The
nayments made for the repurchasc were broken down as follows:

« Nominal paid in advance: 28,495 thousand euros
¢ Unpaid accrued interest and other interest: 920 thousand euros
« Amount of the repurchase premium: 2,068 thousand euros

Finally, in November 2017, the Parent Compary vuluntarily amortised, by paying the applicable premium to the
remaining 100,000 thousand ewros of the guaracieed scnior notes maturing in 2019 with an annual nominal interest
rate of 6.875%. The payments made for the repurchase are broken down as follows:

» Nominal paid in advance: 100,000 thousand euros
e Unpaid accrued interest and other interest: 286 thousand euros
s  Amount of the repurchase premium: 3,438 thousand euros

As a result of the aforementioned three amortisations, the guarantced senior notes maturing in 2019 have been
fully refinanced or cancclled early in full.

Secured credit line

On 22 September 2016, the Parent Company ard NH Finance, S.A. entered into a revolving business credit with
credit instititions amounting to 250,000 thousand euros ("syndicated credit line") with a maturity of three years,
extendable to five years at the time of the refinancing of the guaranteed senior notes maturmg in 2019. As a
comsequence of the refinancing and early payments of the guaranteed semior notes maturing in 2015 which took
nlace in 2017, the maturity date of said financing has been extended to 29 September 2021. At 31 December 2017,

+his financing was not available i full.

Obligations required in the guaranteed senior note indentures maturing in 2023 and in the syndicated
credit line

The senior notes maturing in 2023 and the syndicated credit Line require the fulfilment of a series of ebligations
and limitations of essentially homogenecus content as regards the assumption of additional borrowing or provisicn
of puarantees in favour of third parties, the granting of rcal guarantees on assets, the sale of assets, mvestments
that are permitted, restricted payments {including the distribution of dividends to sharcholders), fransactions
between related parties, corporate transactions and disclosure obligations. ‘These obligations are detailed m the
issuc prospectus for the aforementioned notes, as well as in the credit agresment of the syndicated credit line. In
addition, the syndicated credit line requires compliance with financial ratins; in particular (i) an interest coverage
rativ of > 2.00x, (ii) a debt coverage ratio of < 5.50x and (iii) a Loan to Value ("LTVY") ratio of < 55% up to the
maturity or refinancing date of the guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2019, a fact which occurred during 2017,
On the date of expiry or refinancing of these dcbentures, the loan-to-value ratio must be < 70%, and after that
date, the applicable loan-to-value ratio will depend on the indebtedness of NH at the time, as indicated below:

- Debt-to-income ratio > 4.00x: [.TV ratio = 70%
- Debt-to-income ratio <4.00x: LTV rato = 8%
- Debt-to-income ratic <3.50x: LTV ratio = 100%

As a result of the early voluntary amortisation of all guaranteed sefior notes maturing in 2019, the LTV at 31
December 2017 is generally <70%. Subsequently, it will be reviewed according Lo the ratio of net indebtedness.
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At 31 December 2017 these ratios were compleely adhered to.
Package of guaranteed senior notes maturing in 2023 and syndicated credit line

The guaranteed seniot notes manwing in 2023 and syndicated credit line (undrawn at 31 December 2017) share
the following guarantees: (i) pledge of shares: 100% of the share capital of (A) Diegem, {(B) Immo Hotel BCC
NV, (C) Immo Hotel Belfort NV, () Immoe Hotel Brugge NV, (E} Inmoe Hotel Diegem NV, (F) Immo Hotel
Gent NV, (G) Immeo Hotel GP NV, (H) Immo Hotel Mechelen NV, (I) Immo Hotel Stephanie NV, (J} Onroerend
Goed Beheer Maatschappij Van Alphenstraat Zandvoort, B.V. and (K) NH Italia, S.p.A. (1) firsi-tier mortgage
guarantee on the following hotels located in the Netherlands: NH Conference Centre Koningshof, owned by
Koningshof, B.V.; NH Conference Cenlre LeeuweNHorst, owned by LeeuweNHorst Congres Center, B.V.; NH
Schiphol Airport, owned by Onroerend Goed Bzheer Maatschappij Kruisweg Hoofddorp, B.V.; NH Zoctermeer,
owned by Onroerend Goed Bebeer Maatschappij Danny Kayelaan Zoetermeer, B.V.; NH Conference Centre
SparreNHorst, owned by SparreNHorst, B.V.; NH Best, owned by Onroerend Goed Beheer Maatschappij Maas
Best, B.V.: NH Capelie, owned by Onrvercn¢ Goed Beheer Maatschappij Capelle aan den IIssel, B.V.; NH
Geldrop, owned by Onroerend Goed Behcer Maatschappij Bogardeind Geldrop, B.V.; NH Marquetie, owned by
Onroerend Goed Beheer Maatschappij Marquette Heemskerk, B.V.; and NH Naarden, owned by Onroerend Goed
Beheer Maatschappij IJsselmeerweg Naarden, B.V. and the joint gnarantee on first demand of the main operating

companies in the group wholly owned by the Pzrent Company.

Limitation on the distribution of Dividends

The guaranteed senior notcs maturing in 2023 and the syndicated credit Iine described above coutam clauses
limiting the distribution of dividends.

In the vase of the senior notes maturing in 2023, the distribution of dividends is generally permitted provided that
(a} the interest coverage ratio is > 2.0x and (b) tke sum of restricted payments (including dividends and repayment
of subordinated debt) made since 8 November 2013 is less than the sum of, amongst other items, (I) 50% of NH's
consolidated net income (even though in the calenlation of net income,100% of consolidated net losses must be
deducted) from 1 July 2013 to the date of the last quarterly accounts available (this is what is known as the CNI
Builder) and, (i) 100% of the net contributions to NII’s capital from & November 2013.

Additionally, as an alternative and without having to be in compliance with the previous condition:

(i) in the case of bonds maturing in 2023, NH may distribute dividends provided that the leverage ratio (gross
debt/ERITDA) does not exceed 4.5x.

Finally, and also alternatively and without having (o be concurrent with the previous ones, the notes maturing in
2023 establish a franchise to be able to make restrivicd payments (including dividends) without needing to comply
with any specific requirement, for a total aggregate amount al23,000,000 eutos as of November 2013.

In the case of the syndicated credit line, the distribution of a percentage of the NH Group’s cansolidated net profit
from the previous vear is allowed, provided that there has been no breach of the financing agreement and the Net
Finaneial Debt {(through the Dividend payment} / EBITI2A Ratio is less than 4.0x.

The maximum percentage of the consoelidated nat profit to be distributed will depend on the Debt Ratio.
Net Financial (through the payment of the Dividend) / EBITDA accarding to the following breakdown:

- Net Financial Debt / EBITDA < 4.0x: Percentage of consolidated net profit: 75%

- Net Financial Debt / GBITDA < 3.5x: Percentage of consolidated net profit: 100%
- Net Financial Debt / EBITDA < 3.0x: Percentage of consolidated net profit: unlimited

Mortgages

The detail of the mortgage loans and credits is as follaws (in thousand of euros):

49



Net book value of
Variable the mortgaged
Mortpaged asset Fixed rate | mierest Tolal assel
NH Lagasca - 4.480 4,480 17,229
Spain Wilan Ander 5,048 - 5,048 6,546
Wilan Huel 3.617 - 3,617 4,965
NH Palacio de 1a Merced - 4,372 4,372 16,498
Total Spain 8,005 8,852 17,517 45,238
Mexico NII Querétaro - 1,026 1,026 4 073
NH Santa Fe - 388 388 6,367
Total Mexico - 1,414 1,414 10,472
Netherlands NH Groningen - 198 198 6,371
Total
Netherlands - 198 198 6,571
Ttaly NH Villa San Mauro - 1,677 1,677 -
Total Italy - 1,677 1,677 -
Cile NH Antofagasta and NH Plaza de
’ Santiago 19,635 - 19,635 23,946
Total Chile 19,635 - 19,635 23,946
Total 28,300 12,141 40,441 86,227

The mortgage loans of Wilan Ander and Wilan Huel of 5,048 thousand euros and 3,617 thousand euros
respectivcly, have been consolidated nsing the global mtegration method since October 2017, the month tn which
the Parent Company, through its subsidiary NII Hoteles Espafia, S.A., acquired 100% of these companies (see
Note 2.5.4).

Assets granted as mortgage security against the syndicated credit line of 250,000 thousand (undrawn at 31
December 2017) and guaranteed senior noles ir: the joint amount of 400,000 thousand, maturing in 2023, can be
broken down as follows {in thousands of curos):

Net back
value of the
mortgaged

Mortgaged asset asset

NH Conlfcrence Centre Leeuwenhorst 52,357

NH Conferenee Centre Koningshof 37,919

NH Schiphol Airport 41,453

NII Conference Centre Sparrenhorst 16,724

NH Zoetermecr 7.676

NH Naarden 11,038

NII Capelle 6,368

NH Geldrop 7,311

NH Best 4 891

NH Muarquette 3,350

Total 189,087
Net value of assets assigned as mortgage collateral 189,087
Value uf puaranteed debt 400,000
Fixed interest 400,000
Variable interest (amount of the syndicated credit line undrawn) 250,000

There arv also companies whose shares are pledged as collateral for said lines of financing.
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Subordinated loan

A loan amounting to 40,000 thousand euros fully drawn at 31 December 2017 and with a single maturity and
repayment in 2037, are included in this item. The interest rate of thesc loans is the 3-month Euribor plus a

differential.

Credit lines

At 31 Decembet 2017, the balances under this item include the amount drawn down from credit facilities. The
joint limit of these loan agreements and credit (acilities at 31 December 2017 amounted to 68,353 thousand euros,
of which 2,008 thousand euros had been drawn down at that date. Additionally, at 31 December 2017, the Parent
Company had a guaranteed syndicated long-term credit linc amounting to 250,000 thousand euros.

Detail of current and non-current payables

The detail, by maturity, of the items included under “Non-Current and Current Payables” 18 as follows (in

thousands of euros):

NMaturity
Instrument Limit | Asailable | Disposed [ 2017 o8] 2019 amn[  ami| 20| Remander
Mo lgages 0441 - 441,441 - Tet96 2,756 2.605 2,554 2,141 22,88%
Fred rats 283m| - 283000 - 1,054 1353 1378 S 133 21480
Vunahle intecast 12,141 - 12,141 - 6,442 1,404 1,226 1.350 6l1 1409
Subordinated |aans 40000, - 404000 - - - . - - 46,000
Veriable mterest 40,000 - 40,000 - . - . 40,000
Convertible bomds 25040400 - 150,000 - 250,000 - - - -
Fizd rote soooal - 250,000 - 200w - - -
| Guaranteed cenior notes mat. in 2023 400000 - qno000| - ; - ] 400,000
{Tioed rate -0 - 400000 - - - - 400,000
Unsceured lonms 3,106 - 3,105 - 2,238 600 267 - - -
Vanahle iteest 3108 - 3105 - 22%3 &0 257 -
Secured rredit line 150,000| 250,000 - - - - - - -
Vanzhle iterest 250,000 2350,200| - - - - -
Credit lines 68353 66345| 2,008 - 2,08 ; ; ) ;
Vanshle mbirest 59,353 86,345 2.008! - 2,008 - - - -
STBTOTAL 1,081,899 3I6345| 735554 - 461,742 3358 2872 2554 2141 462289
| Areasgement CYpenses (19,304) . (19304) - @A453) o) @pR4a3)|  @avn| @68y 2,582)
Himpdicit derivative canvertible bonds {5,394) - (5,.394)] (5,394) - - - - -
Borrgwing coscs a024| - 5,024 so24) - | - - .
| Borvewing at 31/12/2017 1,035,228 316345 716880 - 257,918 92| @M  (643)| (624 460307
| Borrawing at 31 1272088 1,181,208 308908 361,818| 25459 241,379 349645 1,321 85% 1344| 341811

16 - OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

The breakdown of the “Other non-current [abilities” item in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, at 31
December 2017 and 2016, 1s as follows:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016

At amortiscd cost:
Linearisation of revenuc 15,965 16,122
Capral subsidies 17,754 10,285
Acquisition of Capredo Investment GmbH (Note 2.5.4) 3,150 3,150
Loans from shareholders - 350
Other liabilities 2,107 3,930

34,976 34,037
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At 31 December 2017, “Capital subsidies” basically included subsidies rcecived for hotel renovations, both from
public entities ard landlords, broken down by country as follows:

Thousands ol eurns

2017 2016

Germany 9,709 6,866
Netherlands 3.461 -
Spain 1,843 1,832
Italy 1,064 -
Portugal 1,005 1,124
Others 672 463

17,754 10,285

At 31 December 2017, the Directors of the Parent Company considered thal all the requirements stipulated for

such subsidies had been fuifilled and therefore deemed them as nun-reimbursable.

17.-

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES

The breakdown of "Provisions for risks and charges” at 31 December 2017 and 2016, together with the main

movements recogrised in those ycars werc as follows:

Thousands of curos

Transfers
Balancs at and other | Balance al
31/12/2016 | Additiuns | Applications/Reversals | changes | 31/12/2017
Provisions for contingencics and
extraordinary costs:
Onerous contracts 14,794 3,186 (2,813) (2,954) 12,213
Provision for pensions and similar
obligations 16,685 1,009 (1,449} - 16,245
Other claims 21421 4.776 (4,242} - 21,955
52,900 8,971 (8,504) (2,954) 50,413
Provisions for contingencies and
current expenses:
(Cmerous contracts 4275 - (4,716} 2,954 2,513
Other provision 7,187 393 (1,122) - 6,458
11,462 393 (5,838) 2,954 8,971
Total 64,362 9,364 (14,342) - 59,384

52




Thousands of euros

Balance at Applications/ Balance at
31/12/2015 | Additions Reversals Transfers 31/12/2016
Provisions for contingencies
and extraordinary costs:
Onerous contracts 16,547 6,350 {4.121) (4,022) 14,794
Provision for pensions and
similar obligations 14,292 3,502 (1.451) 432 16,685
Other claims (Note 22) 17,851 &,070 (3,756) (844) 21421
48,700 17,962 (2,328) (4,434) 52900
Provisions for contingencies
and current expenses:
Onerous contracts 4,733 - (4,995) 4,477 4,275
Other provision 537 8,349 (1,699) 7,187
5,330 8,349 (6,694) 4,477 11,462
Total 54,030 26,311 (16,022) 43 64,362

Onerous contracts

Tae Group considers onerous agreements to be “hose in which the inevitable costs of fulfiiling the obligations that
such agrcements entail exeeed the economic benefits expected from them.

The Group records as a provision [or onerous contracts the present value of the net losses derived from the contract
or the compensation forescen for abandonment of the contract, if such were decided. These provisions are reversed

at the time that either of the above two events is fulfilled.

TAe reversal of the provision for onerous contracts for the year includes, on the one hand, the amount of the
provision overdue during the year, and on the other, the re-estimation of the necessary provision at the end of the
year. The part of the provision overduc in the year corresponds to the losses recorded by the CGUSs in the income

statements, while the re-estimation of the provisian is due to the improvement in the activity of the CGlls.

The methodology, assumptions and discount rates used 10 make such estimalcs follow the same criteria as

described in Note 4.4,

The rceoneiliation between the amount recorded in the income statement and the changes in the provision for
onerous contracts for the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2G16 is as follows:

‘Thousands of euros
2017 2016

Reversal of provision for realiscd losses (3,903) (4,995)
Reversal (2.377) (4,121)
Allowances 2,064 4,953
Variation in the provision for onerous contracts (4,216) {(4,163)
Application due to exit of one of the CGUs (813) -

Allowance for financial effect provision update 1,122 1,379
Exchange rate effect (436) 58
Total cffcet (127) 1,437
Net effect on the income statement (4.343) {(2,726)
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Provision for pensions and similar obligations

The “Provisions for pensions and sumilar obligations” account includes the pension fund of a certain number of
emplovees of the Netherlands business unil, and the T.F.R. “Trattamento di fine rapporto™ in Italy, an amount
paid to all workers in Italy at the moment they leave the company for any reason, This is another remuneration
alement, whose payment is deferred and annually allovated in proportion to fixed aod variable remuaneration both
in kind and in cash, which is valued on a regular basis. The annoal amount to be reserved is equivalent o the
remuneration amount divided by 13.5. The annual cumulative [und is reviewed at a fixed intcrest rale of 1.5%

plus 75% of the increase in the consumer price index (CPI).

At the end of 2017, the liabilities entered against this item were of 16,245 thousand curos (16,685 thousand surps
at 31 December 2016).

The breakdown of the main assumptions used 10 calculate actuarial liabilities is as follows:

2017 2016
Netherlands Ttaly Netherlands | Italy
Discount rates 1.80% 0.20% 1.80% 0.13%
Fxpected annual rate of salary rise 2.50% 1.90% 2.50% 1.25%
Expected return from assets allocated to the plan 1.80% 2.02% 1.80% 2.02%

Other claims

The "Other claims” item includes provisions for disputes and risks that the Group eonsiders likely (o occur. Among

the most significant are the provisions created on the basis of the action brought in the procecdings claiming
breach of contract in a property development, as well as other claims received in relation to the termination of

sertain leases where certain amounts are claimed, No decision on these claims is expected in the shart term (see
Note 22).

i8.- TAX NOTE

Tax consolidation scheme

The CGroup operates in many counfries and is therefore subject to the regulations of different tax jurisdictions
regarding taxation and corporate incomce tax.

NH Hotel Group, S.A. and ancther 15 companiss with tax domicile in Spain in which il held a direct or indirect
stake of at least 75% during the 2017 tax pericd are subject to the tax consolidalivn scheme governed by Title
V11, Chapter VI of Law 27/2014 on Corporate Income Tax.

The companies belonging to the tax group have signed an agreement to share the tax burden. Hence, the Parent
Company settles any credits and debts which arise with subsidiary companies due to the negative and positive tax
hases these contribute to the tax group.

The companies that make up the tax consolidation group are the following:

NH Hotel Group, S.A.

Latinoamericana de Gestidn Ilotelera, S.L.
NH Central Reservation Office, S.L.

NH Hoteles Espafia, S.A.,

NH Hotel Ciutat de Reus, S.A.

Gran Circule de Madrid, S.A.

NH Logroiio, S.A.

[berinterbrokers, S.L.
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NH Europa, S.L.

Atardecer Caribefio, S.L.
Hoteles Hesperia, S.A.

Nuevos Espacios Hoteleros, S.A.

Coperama Holding, S.L.
Caperama Spain, S.L.
NII Las Palmas, S.A.
NH Lapasca, S.A.

Corporation tax is calculated on the financial or accounting profit or loss resulting from the application of
sencrally accepted aceounted standards in each country, and does not necessarily coincide with the tax result, this

neing construed as the tax base.

In 2017, Spanish companies pay taxcs at the general tax rate of 25% irrespective of whether they apply the
consolidated or scparate taxation schemes. The foreign companies are subject to the prevailing tax rate in the
countries where they are domiciled. In addition, taxes are recognised in some countries at the estimaled minimum

profit on a complementary basis to Corperation 'l ax.

The prevailing corporation tax rates applicable to Group companies i the different jurisdictions where the Group
has significant operations are as [ollows:

Country Nominal Rate  Country Nominal Rate
Argentina (1) 35.0% Romania 16.0%
Colombia (1) 34.0% Poland 19.0%
Chile 25.5% Switzerland 8.5%
Belgium 33.9% Czech Republic 16.0%
Panama 23.0% Luxembourg 19.0%
Brazil 340% Tlaly 24.0%
Mexico 30.0% Netherlands 25.0%
Uruguay 23.0% France 33.3%
Dominican Rep. 27.0% Portugal 21.0%
Germany 39.0%

(1) Jurisdictions in which there is a mimmun taxahle income.

Financial years subject to tax inspection

In accordance with Spanish tax legisiation, the vears open for review to the Consolidated Tax Group are:

Pending
Tax Perinds
Corporation 2014, 2015 and 2016
VAT 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017
IRPF (personal income tax) 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017
Non-resident Income Tax 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017

During 2017, in Spain there were no open tax inspections in progress in relation to the taxes included in the
previous table.

In Germany, an inspcction procedure has been opened which is reviewing the amoeunt of negative tax bases still
to be offset by the companics in Germany.
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Another inspection procedure has been opened n France by the French authorities who are checking the overall

tax position of the subsidiary in that coontry.

Finally, an inspection procedure has been opened in Colombia focused on the deductions of certain Corporation

Tax expenses.

The Group’s Directors do not expect any significant contingencies ta arise from the conclusions of the inspections.

Regarding the financial years open to ingpection in the rest of the group, contingent liabilities not susceptible to

objective quantification may exist, which are not significant in the opinion of the Group’s Directors.

Balances with Public Administrations

The composition of the debit balances with Public Administrations at 31 December 2017 and 2016 Is as follows:

Thousands of eures

2017 2016
Deferred tax asscts
Tax credits 96,689 - 108,515
Tax assets due to asset impalrment 32,005 31,744
Tax withholdings of workforce 2,686 2,581
Other prepaid taxes 6,526 9,549
137,996 152.389
Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Short-term taxes receivable
Income tax 8,179 @303
Value Added Tax 6,521 12,538
Other tax receivables 8,043 7.3%0
Total 23,743 29.231
The mavements of the *Deferred tax assets™ ite:n in 2017 and 2016 were as follows:
' Thousands of euros |
2017 2016
Opening balance 152,389 165,797
Asset impairment 351 757
Generation of assets due to tax losses 4,039 12,305
Settlements nl agsets due to tax losses (10,512} {16,760)
Activation of deductions - 865
Settlement of deductions (5,353) (2,346)
_Othfars (2,919) (8.,229)
Total 137,996 152,389

The recognition of assets for tax losses is mainly due to the activation of tax losses in Germany and Latin America
amounting to 1,841 and 1,691 thousand euros respectively, as a result of the positive results expected in future

vears.
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Tae cancellation of assets is mainly due to the zpplication of tax losses to offset the positive tax bases generated
in 2017, mainly in Spain, Belgium, Italy and Germany, amounting to 3,608, 78%, 3,114 and 3,002 thousand euros,
rcspectively. Additionally, the application of deductions in Spain has been made in the amount of 5,353 thousand
curos as a result of their use to offset the positive share resulting in 2017.

Ai 31 December 2017, the Group had assets resulting from tax losses and activated deductions amounting to
96,682 thousand euros (108,515 thousand euros in 2016). At 31 December 2017, the tax credit recovery plan that
supparts the recognition of these tax credits hzd been updated. Given that the resuits of the tax credit recovery
olan are satisfactory, the Parent Company’s Directors have decided to maintain the tax credits recognised in the

consolidated balance sheet.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had tax loss carryforwards worth 605,591 thousand euros (566,518 thousand
suros at 31 December 2016) and deductions amounting to 28,030 thousand euros (29,637 thousand euros 1n 2016)
that had not been colered in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet because the Directors considered they
did not meet accounting standard requirements. These assets are grouped as follows (base amount):

Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Finance costs and negative tax bascs
Non-deductible financial expenses in Spain 260,852 223,095
Non-deductible financial expenses in [ialy : 6,424
Non-deductible financial expenses in Germany 3,397 5,366
Ncgatlve tax ‘?asgs generated by the Spanish entities 103,572 106,325
belore consolidation
Negative tax bases generated i Austria 33,827 24.449
Negative tax bases gencrated in Latin America 234 4,175
Negative tax bases penerated in Luxemrbourg 43,068 53,231
Negative tax bases generated in Italy : 1,797
Negative tax bases generated in Germany 142,787 141,656
Negative tax bases generated m Hollard 3,445 -
Negative tax bases USA 9,781 -
Negative tax bases France 4 426 ~
Negative tax bases generated In South Africa 197 -
Total 605,591 566,518
Deductions
Deductions gencrated in Spain. 28,030 29,637
Total 28,030 29,637
Tatal 633,621 596,155

Finance costs, which are not considered deductible in the Spanish Corporation Tax when exceeding 30% of the
operating revenuc of the tax group calculated iv: accordance with Article 16 of Law 27/2014 of 27 December, on
Corporation Tax, amount to 260,852 thousanc. euros in 2017 (223,095 thousand euros in 2016). There is no
deadline for offsetting non-deductible finance costs. [n respect of German Corporation Tax, the tax regulations of
‘his country are similar to those of Spain in terms of the limitation of deductibility of the [inancial charge which,
accordingly there is na deadline for offsetting non-deductible finance costs.

Tke changes in non-recorded credits in 2017 were mainly due to the fact that in Spain ne finance costs were
deducted owing to the application of the aforementioned regulations, and losses and deductions wete offset against

ha profit generated in the year. In Italy losses were fully offset and finance costs generated were deducted, and
m Germany finance costs were deducted and losses which had passed the tax credit recovery test were recognised.

1ke composition of the credit balances with Public Administrations at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows:
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Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Peferred tax liabilities
Revaluation of assets and other valaation differences 167,433 174,987
Total 167,433 174,987

Thousands of euros

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during 2017 and 2016 are as follows:

2017 2016

Short-term taxes payable

Income tax 9,021 12,454 .
Value Added Tax 1,298 3,042
Personal Income Tax 8,765 6,687
Tax on Income from Capital 1,315 2,100
Social Security 6,833 7,045
Others 18,624 13,610
Total 45,860 44,938 |

o Thousands of enros
B 2017 2016
Opening balance 174,987 196,711
Additions of liabilities due to the entry into the
consolidation - 6938
Others (7,554) (22,422)
Closing balance 167,433 174,987

The reduction in deferred tax liabilities is mainly due ta the reversal of impairment on revalued assets.

The detail, by country and item, of these deferred taxes is as follows:

! Thousands of euros
| Tax crodits Prepaid Total Assets | Liabilities
- Taxes

Spain 9],284 20,637 111,941 35,329
Benelux 1,138 195 1,333 1,208
Ttaly (1) 205 9,688 9,893 107,894 |
(Germany . 1,841 2,783 4,419 526
Others | 2,22 7,984 10,410 22,479
TOTAL | 96,689 41,307 137,996 | 167,433

(1) The business area of Italy includes companies resident in Belgium, German, Holland and the USA.
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Reconciliation of the accounting result to the tax resuli

The reconciliation between the consolidated comprehensive profit or loss statements, the corporation tax base,
currenl and deferred tax for the year, is as follows:

207 LS
S housands o maas T hewrznda
fnain Mul, G randn’, Nﬂ.‘::.‘:md‘ La:n Amenica (2) Lsemboorg  Zwvcwmm Yoldland Crch R Pelagd =gl (Aexs ™TMTAL Ctr:::;s @:l:::u

:HOONT‘:J%::? 8) PO R THE FINANCIAL YEAR - 3514 MUI 1,124 16,074 9,43y 5885 341 -2,625 -315 -13 L3 -330 Ta A4 (14,084 58411
Prolit (Joms) Sor the wear from docontitivd opemtiana (G020 235) (:.393) {159} 718 23"
Cangslidarsd campaahanadve mofit and lows 1492 23,580 11124 35,634 p— 3 fos - Qg1 i a5 o ol b Seair -
utudeurd Uts e mre taten

Adiug: menty to versobldel wypu lidamee proft 1nd lnse- ) N -
Axsoendng vonzalotion odju:qeels 1,022 1304 213 1,302 . . _ ) 1S9 _— 2999 4633
e AR123 (5,330) 6043 r1.33%) BEl4)  (348<) (891 3.056 LS (50) 17) 473 54,37 2034 114,820
Due 19 lemporry Lifferalc 2125 (7518) (W) 436 3982 - - - . - 6l guem| 226 L1437
Tax baza {Taxete profil or Juo) 14,421 1:.033 2673 35177 12,35 Ly 142 412 (62) Lia] 1242 200 59,740
Lyment Insastn ke scfinde 1. (20 pay) 1,151 (69) 618y £3,3%%) 3412 - - _ i I ‘1 @51} t57 15 1.535
Tolal cwreal tag igcome / {eXpena) {13,705 {2.727) w2y ¢8.2u) (8.676) 3%8) A3 (25 - 12 -0y ¢39,148) (239 16373
Tousd dafocred Ly iucome - (E3prre) 2030 C1503) 301 (1)) 1256 - - - - - - - 1410 3425 240
Teidd o:Ior ooy (v . pwuec) a6 1932y 13 0 1133) - - H (A8} ATy (z04) 3560
Tatal Corporatise Tox Incoma J (expeasa) (11,569} {6,252) {613) (4,752) £5,538) {3R) [¢.5)) (17) - 12 {701) (13.511)' 2687 (10,825)

(1) The business area of Italy inctudes companics resident in Belgium, German, Holland and the USA,

(2} The Netherlands business area includes Belgium ard France.

(3) The Latin America business area includes the proJts and losses oblained by the Group in Argentina, Mexico, Uruguay, the
Dominican Republic, Colombia, Chile, Panama and Brazil.

Deductions generated by the consolidated tax graup of the Parent Company

At 31 December 2017, the Tax Group held the following tax credits carryforward (thousand eurcs):

Year

Origin

2004 1o 2011
2009 10 2015
2013 to 2014

19.-

Deduction pending application Amount
Deduction to encourage certain activihies (not
activated) 28,030
Deduction to ayoid double taxatian (activated) 3.528
Others (aclivated) 729
32,287

COMMERCIAL CREDITORS AND OTHER ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

The breakdown of this item in the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2017 and 2016 is as follows

(Thousand of euros):
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Thousands of curos
2017 2016
Trade and other payables 194,777¢ | 205,357
Advance payments [rom customers 28172 24,412
222,951 | 229,769

The heading "Commercial Creditors and Other Accounts Payable" covers the accoumts payable derived from
commercial activity typical of the Group.

The "Advance payments from customers” item mainly includes customer deposits arising from the Group's hotel
businesses.

20.- INFORMATION ON DEFERRED PAYMENTS TO SUPPLIERS. THIRD ADDITIONAL
PROVISION. "DUTY TO REPORT" OF ACT 11/2013 OF 26 JULY

Below is the information requircd by Additional Provision Three of Law 15/2010 of 3 July and modified according
t0 the Resolution of 29 January 2016, of the Institute of Accounting and Auditing, on the mformation (o be
incorporated in the record of annual financial statements relating to the average period for payment to supplicrs
in commmercial transactions of Spanish companiss.

2017 2016
I Days ; Days
Average period for paymcnt to suppiiers 54 | 79
Ratio of paid transactions 57 81
Ratio of transactions pending payment 24 38
' Amount (thonsand of euros) Amount (thousand of
Total payments made 293,037 322,308
Total payments pending 31,329 18,785

The above information on payments to suppliers of Spanish companies refer to those which by their nature are
trade creditors due to debts with suppliers of geods and scrvices. The table includes, therefore, the "Commercial
Creditors and Other Accounts Payable” item in current lisbilities of the attached consolidated balance sheet at 31

December 2017 and 2016.

The average period for payment to suppliers has been calculated, as stated in the Resolution of 29 January 2016,
of the Institute of Accounting and Auditing, using the weighted average of the two ratios explained below:

- Ratio of paid transactions: average payment period of transactions paid 1 2017 weighted by the amount
of each transaction.

. Ratio of transactions pending payment; average period between the invoice date and the end of the year
weighted by the amount of each transzction.
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11 - OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, this item is broken down as follows:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Outstanding remuneration 37,216 32,526
Acquisition of Hoteles Roval, 5.A. - 21,523
Linearisation of revenue 2,095 742
Liabilities from confract termination g 470
Other creditors 2457 1,019
41,768 56,280

The “Acquisition of Hoteles Rayal, S.A.” item included the liability corresponding to the pending part of the
consideration for the acquisition in March 2013 which became effective in March 2017.

22.- THIRD-PARTY GUARANTEES AND CLAIMS IN PROGRESS

At 31 December 2017, NH had a total of 36,775 thousand euros in economic or financial bank guarantees issued
by various banks (30,062 thousand euros in 2G16).

Of these, 12,150 thousand euros guarantee obl.gations related to cash poolng contracts or centralised treasury
management with several banks and, therefors, their execution would be linked to breach by NH of those
contractual obligations.

Of the remainder, 22,426 thousand euros guarantee leasing contract obligations and others related to the Group's
usual operations in various countries, and 2,200 thousand euros gusruntee lax and other obligations in relation to
public bodies in Italy.

At 31 December 2017, the Group had taken out insurance policies to cover risks arising from damage to maierial
goods, loss of profits and third-party liability. The capilal insured sufficiently covers the assets and risks

mentiened above,

Commitments to third parties

- A Group company currently acts &s co-guarantor for a syndicated loan granted by two banks to a
company with a minaority shareholding in a Grupo NH company which at 31 December 2017 had an
oulstanding principal of 18,215 thousand suros {(equivalent to 22,685 thousand US dollars) and final
maturity on 22 January 2020.

- On 10 March 2006, the partnershin agreement of the company which owns a hotel in the United
Kingdom was signed, of which a Grupo NH company is a shareholder, under which, if the company
were 1o recelve a purchase offer for 100% of its shares at market price, the Grupo NH company could
be required to {ransfer the shares. However, the Grupo NH vompany will have pre{erential acquisition
rights over the shares. At year-end, this Grupo NH company has granted its partmer a purchase option
of up to 5% of the share capital.

- A Group company in which NH has an ownership interest granted to the other shareholders a call
option on shares owned by NH in hat company, in a sufficient number so that those sharehelders,
adding the shares to those which now belong to them, could acquire shares representing, in total, up
ta a maximum of 50% of the share capital.
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Within the framework of the sale of a hotel, NII as a seller agreed to undertake the extension of the
aforementioned hotel, and agreed with the buyer a put option in favour of the buyer, NH being obliged
to accept the exercise of that optica provided that certain conditions are met and for a price agreed

between. both parties.

Under the agreements reached between Grupo NI and HNA Group reganding the joint venture, a
right of "l'ag-along” is recognised, in the sense that if one of the partners reccives a takeover bid by
a third party for 100% of the shares in the company, the other partner has the option to exercise their
right of first refusal or may communicate its irrcvocable ofier to sell the shares it holds the
aforementioned joint venture, and under the conditions of sale supplied by the third party; if the third
party does not accept the offer of the other partner to scll the rest of the shares in the company, the
other partner is not allowed to sell its shares to the third party.

~  Within the framework of new development prejects in the normal course of business, in which Grupo
NH subsidiaries act as [essees or operators, the Group's parent company gives personal guarantees in
favour of third parties to secure its contractual obligations, often issue promissory notes in payment
of said obligations and agrees penalty clanses in case of breach of contract.

~ Likewise, within the framework cf the Group's financing, personal and real gnarantees have been
granted to fulfil the obligations guaranteed under the financing agreements (see Note 15).

Claims in progress

The Group's main contingent assets and liabilities on the date these consolidated financial statements were
drawn up, are set out below:

~ NH Group has appeared in the insalvency proceedings of Viajes Marsans, 5.A. and Tiempo Libre,
S.A., from the unsettled estate of Gonzalo Pascual Arias and Gerardo Diaz Ferran, and m the
voluntary insolvency proceedings against Maria Angeles de la Riva Zomilla, n order to claim
outstanding amounts. The Group alse appears in the voluntary bankruptcy proceedings of Transhotel
and Orizonia as well as in other proceedings both nationally and internationally, and provisions the
credit balances in the consolidatior: annual accounts for the amounts considered unrecoverable.

- The owner of four properties in the Netherlands has claimed m court the payment of 2,723 thousand
curos plus interest and costs to a Duich subsidiary because there was allegedly a change ol the control
situation in the year 2014, which supposedly entitles him to claim a fine, according to the lease. The
Court of First Tnstance dismissed i its entirety the claim brought by the owner. However, the owner
has filed an appeal, the subsidiary has submitted its allegations and the proceedings arc ongoing in
the aforementioned court pending z decision.

—  The owner of a property has filed a suit against 2 Group company, demanding compliance with. certain
cantractual obligations. Following notification of the dismissal of the appeal, an appeal for review
due to breach of procedure and an aopeal in cassation were lodged, which have still not been resolved.

- A claim has been filed against a Grupo NH company in Germany due to the termination of a lease
agreement and claiming specific amounts, including damagcs.

- A claim has been filed against a Grupo NH company in Italy due to the early termination of a lease
agreement; the ruling was unfayourable to the company's interests in the court of first instance and is

currently being appealed.

- A claim has been filed against two of the Group's companies seeking payment fees to rights
management from 1 January 2008 to 31 May 2013, in addition to an unspecified amount
corresponding to the period thereafter until a judgment is issued, plus interest and costs. In its ruling
on the case the Court of First Instance established an amount lower than that claimed. However, the
NH Group companies have filed an appeal.
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On the occasion ofthe agreements reached in 2014 for the sale of the shares held by NH Hotel Group,
S.A in the company Sotogrande, S A., Grupo NH agreed to subrogate to the position of Sotogrande,
S.A. for certain claims assuming zll rights and obligations relating thereta, and are summarised as
follows:

e Plaintff in the proceedings against consfruction agents for construction defects in twenty-
five homes and contractuzl liability, as well as a claim against the insurer,

»  Defendant in the claim process for contractual breaches by a property developer.

e The company may be subject to a claim for amounts derived from an eventual administrative
claim.

It tiled an arbitration claim requesting the validity of the declarution af resolution to sell practised at
fifteen premises in San Roque, the decision on which was in favour of the Company's interests. To
the contrary, it filed for annulmen: of the award, which has been dismissed. Currently, the debtor
company has entered bankruptcy having requested the right to scparate the premises of the business
premises from the whole from the company which is currently in process.

A Grupo NH sharcholder has requested that certain resolutions adepted at the General Shareholders'
Meeting be annulled; this has been dismissed in the first instance and 1s being appealed.

There are amounts related to possible compensation for the termination of a certain service contract,
which are under discussion and whose maximum amounts have been fully provisioned.

Based on the specific tax liability undertaken by NH on the sale of a certain asset, the purchasers
notified NH of the demand to pay a certain tax levied on the fransfer. NH's tax advisors consider that
there are sufficient defence arguments, and therefore no provision has becn scl up in this regard.

The Directors af the Parcnt Company consider that the hypothetical loss incurred by the Group as & resull
of such actions would not significantly affect the equity of the Group.

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

On 25 June 2013, the Company's (feneral Sharcholders Meeting approved a long-term sharc-based incentive plan
¢““the plan™) for the NH Hate! Group SA's executives and employees, as follows:

The plan will consist of the grant of ordinary shares of NH Hotel Group, S.A. to the beneficiaries calculated as a
nercentage of the fixed salary, according to the’r level of responsibility. ‘The number of shares to be granted shall
he subject to the degree of fulfilment of the following abjectives:

TSR (total shareholder return) at the end of each of the plan eycles, comparing the performance of NH
Hotel Group, SA shares with the following indices:

o IBEX Medium Cap
o Dow Jones Euro STOXX Travel & Leisure

EBITDA, discounting the amount corresponding to rentals compared annually with the forecasts of the
Company's strategic plan.

If the minimum degree of fulfilment established in the aforementioned objectives is not achieved, the plan
beneficiaries shall not be entitled to shares under said plan.
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The plan is aimed at a maximum of 100 beneficiaries. The Beard of Directors, at the proposal of the CEO, may
nclude new members in the plan.,

The plan has a total duration of five years, divided into three three-year cycles:

e The first cycle began on 1/1/2014 witk delivery of shares in 2017 (settled)
e The second cycle began on 1/1/2015 with delivery of shares in 2018 (in force)
s  The third cycle began on 1/1/2016 with delivery of shares in 2012 (in force)

The first cycle ofthe Plan (1/1/2014 - 31/12/2Q16), was settled during the first quarter of 2017 with an achievement
of 47, 71%. Said compliance was approved by the Board of Directors, and the number of shares to be delivered to
each beneficiary resulted from multiplying the number of shares promised by the degree of compliance with the
objectives (47.71%). 'I'he maximum amount arproved by the General Shareholders' Meeting for the two current
cycles of this plan ameunts to 10,720 thousand suras.

The 2017 General Sharsholders' Meeting approved the launch of a new Long-Term Incentive Plan. The new plan
has a duration of five years, divided into three taree-vear cycles:

e The first cycle began on 1/1/2017 witk delivery of shares m 2020 (in force)
» The second cycle began on [/1/2018 with delivery of sharcs in 2021 (awaiting approval)
e The third cycle will begin on 1/1/2019 with delivery of shares in 2022 (awaiting approval)

This second plan will have a very similar structure to the first; debvery of ordinary shares of NH Hotel Group,
3.A. tu the beneficiarics calculated as a percentage of fixed salary, according to their level of respensibility.

The number of shares to be delivered shall be subjcet to the degree of fulfilment of the following four objectives:

o TSR (total shareholder return) at the end of each ol the plan cycles, comparing the performance
of NH Hotel Group, 8.A. shares with the STOXX® Lurope 600 Travel & Leisure share index

o Revaluation of the Share
o Reecurring Net Profit

o Recurring EBITDA

The beneficiarics must remain in the Group on 2ach of the plan settlement dates, notwithstanding the exceptions
deemed appropriate, as well as achieving the minimum thresheolds for cach of the objectives.

The Board of Directors will be authorised to decide, before the start of each of the cycles, the effective
implementation thereof in accordance with the Group's financial position. af the hime. Al 31 December 2017, all

the c¢ycles had been approved by the Board of Directors.

Tae number of shares to be delivered to each beneficiary shall be that resulting from dividing the maximum
amount destined to each beneficiary in each cycle by NH's share price in the ten days prior to the grant date of
each cycle (“reference value™).

The maximum amount approved by the General Shareholders' Meeting for the three cycles of the second Plan is
16,200,000 euros.

Tae effect of this item on the consolidated comporehensive profit and loss statcment for 2017 was 2,809 thousand
auros (1,701 thousand euras in 2016).
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24.-

24.1

INCOME AND EXPENSLS

Income

The breakdown of these headings in the consolidated comprehensive profit and lass statements for 2017 and 2016
is as follows:

Thousands of curos
2017 2016
Hotel occupancy 1,094,430 1,014,173
Catering 320,431 312,561
Meeting rooms and others 80,772 75,066
Rentals and other services 50,453 46,103
Revenues 1,546,086 1,447,903
Operating subsidies 36 1
Other operating income 11.065 7,086
Other operating income 11,101 7,687
Net gain (loss) on disposal of assets 30,148 41,526

“Rentals and Other Services” includes the income from fecs invoiced to hatels operated on a management basis

and the services provided by the NH Group to third parties.

The breakdown of net turnover by geographical markets in 2017 and 2016 was as follows:

Thousands of curos

2017 2016
Spain 399,600 361,747
Germnany 309,318 307,668
Benelux 319,475 276,102
Italy 275,534 266,412
Rest of Eurcpe 89,250 99,086
[ atin America 142.909 136,888

1,546,086 1,447,903

24.2 Financial incomc and changes in the fair value of financial instruments

The breakdown of the amount of financial income i8:
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Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Dividend income 34 884
[ncome from marketable securries 210 142
Interest income 1,819 1,738
Other financial income 932 546
2,995 3310
The breakdown of the amount of changes in the fair value of financial instruments
Thousands of eutos
2017 2016
Foreign exchange derivative finzncial instruments (7 435
(Note 4.6.3)
Total change in fair value of financial
instruments (7 435

14.3 Personpel expenses

This item in the consolidated compretiensive profit and loss statement is broken down as follows:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Wages, salaries and similar 316,421 307,123
Social security contributions 76,434 75,202
Indemniflications 12,632 13,432
Contributions to pension plans and similar 9,029 8.581
Other social expenses 12,604 11,551
B 427,140 415,889

The average number of people employed by the Parent Company and the companies consolidated throngh full

consolidation in 2017 and 2016 broken down by professional categories was as follows:

B 2017
Group's general management 8
Managcrs and heads of department 1,390
Technical stail 940

. Sales representatives 750
Administrative staff 254
Rest of workforce 7,805

2016

7
1,48%
965
794
224
7,599

11,147

11,078




The breakdown of the personnel at 31 December 2017 and 2016, by gender and prolessional category, is as

follows:
3171272017 31/12/2016
Males Females Males Females
Group's generzl management 6 2 6 |
Managers and heads of depariment 781 599 867 021
Technical staff 510 400 534 430
Sales representatives 193 524 245 540
Administrative staff 93 153 102 131
Rest ol workforce 4,141 3,680 3,897 3.653
s 5,724 5,358 5,651 | 5376

The average number of people with disabilities equivalent to or greater than 33%b, dircctly employed by the Parent
Company and fully consolidated companies in Spain in 2077 and 2016, broken down by professional categories,

s as follows:

2017 2016
Managers and heads of depariment 5 5
Technical staff 8 14
Sales representatives 3 -
Administrative staffl 3 5
Rest of workforce 70 a1
89 115 |

The average age of the Group’s workforce was approximately 38 and average seniority in the Group was 8.5

years.

24.4 Other operating expenses

The detail of "Other Operating Expenscs” of the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for 2017 and

2016 is as tollows:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Lease rentals 301,720 287,951
External services 517,507 507,223
819,227 795,174
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Shown below is a breakdown of the items included in "External services":

Thousands of euros

2017 2016

Outsourcing of services 111,945 111,261
Commissions and bonuses for customers 83,592 80,445
Supplies 47,080 45,542
Maintenance and cleaning 42,556 40,913
Laundry and related costs 37.376 36,141
Costs associated with information technologies 31,526 32,394
Marketing and merchandising 24,615 26,154
Other external scrvices 138,837 134,371

517,507 507,223

[n 2017, the Group experienced a higher levcl of activity in its hotel business, which led to an increase in some
operational expenses direcily related to the level of activity, such as the outsourcing of certain services,
maintenance and cleaning o the hotels and laundry service, among others. Also, the increase recorded in revenue
per available room explains the increass in associated agency commission expenses. However, savings were
achieved in other items such as markcting and merchandising, among others.

During 2017 and 2016, the fecs for account anditing and other services pravided by the auditor af the Group's
consolidated annual accounts, Deloitte, S.L., and the fees for services invoiced by the cnlilics related to it by

control, sharcd ownership or management, were as follows:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Auditing services 481 478
{Other verification services 258 426
Total auditing and related services 739 304
Tax consulting services 1935 398
Other services 471 202
Tatal ather services 666 800
Total professional services 1,405 1,704
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Additivnally, entities associated with the Deloitr2 international netwark have inveiced the Group for the following

3ETVICES:!
Thousands of curas
2017 2016
Auditing services 1,147 1,149
(Other verification services 19 24
Total auditing and related services 1,166 1,173
Tax consulting sctvices 36 115
Other scrvices , - 6
Total other services 56 121
Total 1,222 1.294

During 2017, other auditing firms apart from DReloitte, S.L. or entities associated with this company by control,
sharcd ownership or management, have provided account auditing services to the companies making up the Group,
for fecs totalling 83 thousand euros (130 thousand euros in 2016). The fees accrued in 2017 by these firms for tax
advice services were 125 thousand euros (221 thousand euros in 2016} and for other services, 443 thousand curos

(372 thousand euros in 2016).

24.5 Operating Leases

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the Group had made undertakings concerning future minimal rentzl payments
by virtue of non-cancellable operating lease agreements, which expite as set out in the table below.

The current value of the rental payments has been calculated by applying a post-tax discount rulc in keeping with
the cost of capital of each of the couniries and includes the commitments which the Group estimates will have to
be met in the fiture to guarantee a fixed income or minimum return from hotels operated under a management

agreement.

Present valuc
Thousands of euxvs
2017 2016
Less than one ycar 261,801 259,112
Between two and five years 876,540 867,428
More than five years 1,211,109 1,151,036
Total 2,349,450 2,277,596

The term of the aperating lease agreements signed by the Group ranges from 5 to 40 years, Agreements likewise
include several methods to determine the rent to be paid. Basically, the methods for determinmg rentals can be
summarised as fixed rentals indexed to a consamer price index; fixed rentals complemented by a vanable part,
indexed to the property’s operating prefits; or completely variable rentals, determined by busincss performance
during the year. In some cases, variable rentals are sct with a minimum profitability threshold for the owners of
the property under operation.

The breakdown by business unit of the current value of the rental instalments at 31 December 2017 is as follows
(thousands of curos).
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Between
I;iis;];? two and [%A:er;zﬁ Total

five years
Spain® 77,667 236,935 211,494 526,09¢
Germany and Central Europe 05,184 320,977 490,048 q07,10%
Italy 39,868 146,395 125,982 316,245
Benelux 46,659 166,699 374,756 588,114
Latin America 2,423 5,534 3,929 11,886
Total 261,801 876,540 1,211,109 2,349,450

*Spain includes Portugal and France,

The breakdown by business unit of the current value of the rental instalments at 31 December 2016 is as follows

(thousands of euros):
Less than Between More than
fwo and Tolal
one year five years
five years

Spain 68,901 207,625 140,106 416,632
Germany and Central Europe 69,513 326,638 300,595 816,746
Italy 40,286 [38,94 135,279 314,505
Benelux 46,217 185,801 480,494 712,512
Latin America 4,195 8,424 4,582 17,201
Total 259,112 867,428 | 1.151,056| 2,277,596

24.6 Finance cosis

The detailed balance of this chapter of the consclidated statement of comprehensive income for 2017 and 2016 is

a5 follows:

Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Expenses fur interest 44,220 45,892
Financisl expenses for means of payment 16,317 14,472
Financial clleet relating to restatement of provisions and other
financial Habilitics 1,381 2,775
Amortisation of debt arrangement expenses 13.402 7,833
Other financial expenscs 1,427 1,332
Total financial expenses 76,747 72,304

"Financial effect relating Lo restatement of provisions and other financial liabilities" includes in the year 2017 the
result of the restatement of the provision for tha lease agreements of hotels classified as onerous as well as the
part of the consideration for the acquisition of 97.47% of the share capital of Hoteles Royal, 5.A. which was paid
in March 2017, |
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In 2016, the Parsnt Company amartised in advance the arrangement expenses ¢orresponding to those lines of
financing that were settled with the funds from the issnance of guaranteed senior bonds which were placed on 23
September 2016.

The increase in arrangement expenses in 2017 compared to 2016 1s mainly duc Lo the cxpenscs imcurred in the
issuance of the 2023 maturity bond and the premiums paid for the repurchase and veluntary early canecllalion of
the 250 million euros bond maturing in 2019 which place in the months of April and November 2017 (sece Note
15).

25.- RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to its subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, the Group's “related parties™ are considered to be the
“key management personnel” of the Parent Company {Board Members and Directors, along with their immedialtce
relatives), as well as organisations over which key management personncl may exert significant influcnee or
contral,

‘I'ransactions carried out by the Group with ifs relaled parties during 2017 are stated below, distingnishing between
major shareholders, members of the Board of Directors and Directors of the Parent Company and other related
pardies, The conditions of the related-party transactions are equivalent to those of ransactions carried out under
market conditions:

Thousands of euros
31/12/2017
Associates or
Significant | Directors and | companies of
Income and Expenses __sharcholders Execulives the Group Tolal
¥xpenses:
Financial expenses 6355 - - B35
R&D transfers and licence agreements - 13 13
. Lease rentals 664 - - 664
1,319 - 13 1,332
' Income:
Management or cooperation agreements g.969 - 2,114 11,083
Other income (Nolte 7.2) 6,000 - - 6,000
14,969 - 2,114 17,083
Thousands of euros
| 31/1222016
Associates or
| Sipnificant | Dircctors and , companies of
| [ncome and Expenses sharcholders | Executives | theGroup | Totab
; Expenses:
' R&D transfers and licence agreements - - 277 277
| - ] - 277 277
i Imcome:
| Financial income y - 22 22
! Management or cooperation agreenients 7,454 - 3,237 | 10,691
i 7,454 - |k 32591 10,713

The heading “Management or cooperation apreements” includes the amounts that have accrued in the form of
management fees payable to Grupo WH during he period of 2017 by virtue of the hotel management agrecment
signed with Grupo Inversor esperia, S.A.
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The line “Other income™ includes compensation received by the Group from Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A., for
the cancellation of the management contract between the two companies, which was replaced by a new contract

on 7 March 2017 {see Note 7).

The line "Finance costs" includes the interest accrued for the outstanding debt to Grupo Inversor Hesperna, S.A.
derived from the new management contract (see Note 7).

Other Financing agreemenss:

Thousands of euros
2017 2016
Accounts receivable from associated companies 1,016 840
Loans to associates
Consorcio Grupo Hotelero 12, S.A. de C.V. (Note 10.1) - 244
Sotocaribe, S.L. 7,382 5,955
Total £,398 7,039
Managemaont contracts

By virtue of the contractual relationship entered into with Grupe Inversor Hesperia, S.A. at 31 December 2017,
2.26 million eures had not yet been received for various reasons (1.88 million euros at 31 December 2016), ot
which 0.07 million euros was due on said date {0.21 million curos at 31 December 20186).

At the same time, through the new contract between Hoteles Hesperia, S.A. and Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A.,
an 7 March 2017, the Group agreed to pay 38,550 thousand euros, with 21,560 thousand euros still pending at 31

December 2017 (see Note 7).

26.- INFORMATION BY SEGMENTS

26.1Information on main segments

The Group divides its activity into the real estate (see Note 11) and hotel segments. Additionally, within the hotel
segiment, sub-segments are identified by peogrephic area, which are included in the breakdowns reflected in the

consclidated financial statements for informaticn purposes.

The factors taken into account when defining thc segments were as follows:

a} They carry on busincss activities from: which they can earn income from ordinary activities and incur
expenses {Including income [rom ordicary activities and expenses for transactions with other componenis

of the Group).

b) They obtain operating results that are regularly reviewed by the entity’s highest decision-making
authority to decide on the resources to be allocated to the segment and to evaluate its performance.

¢} They have different financial information.

The Management Committee is the body responsible for making decisions regarding the Group’s segments.
Accordingly, it analyses the Group's results distinguishing batween the aforementioned subsegments.

The breakdown of the segment information required by IFRS 8 is as follows:
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262 Information on sccondary segments

The following table shows the breakdown of certain Group consolidated balances in aceordance with the
geographical distribution of the entities giving rise to them:
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27.
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

REMUNERATION AND OTHER STATEMENTS MADE BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Management Bodies of the Parent Company have the following composition at 31 December 2017:
- Board of Directors: 10 members in 20-7 (11 in 2015),
- Executive Committee: 5 members in 2017 {4 in 2016),
- Audit and Control Committee: 3 members in 2017 (5 in 2016), and
- Appointments and Remuneration Commitlee: 4 members in 2017 (6 in 2016).

The amount accrued during 2016 and 2017 by the members of the Parent Company’s Board of Directors in relation
to the remuneration of the CEQ, bylaw stipulated dircetors' fees and attendance fees and other items, is as follows:

27.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors

Thousands of euros
Remuneration item 2017 2016
Fixed remuneration 490 | 451
Variable remunetation 344 -
Parent Company: allowances 178 | 274
Parent Company: attendacce allowances 1,017 509
Options on shares and other financial instruments 191 -
Indemnifications/otherw 80 . 10
Life insurance premiums 26 | 4
Total 2,332 1,248

The Board of Directors had 10 members at 31 December 2017, of which one is a woman and ninc are men (in
2016, there were 11 members: two women and nine men).

In relation to the chapter “Share transactions and/or other financial instruments™, the ohjective longterm
remuneration sarned has been taken into account. The remuneration in kind (leasings and medical insurance) and
the shares delivered in 2017 due to the settlement of the incentive long-term pian as indicated in the section
"Others" are included.
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27.2 Remuneration of senior management

The remuneration of members of the Management Committee at 31 December 2017 and 2016, excluding this who
simultaneously helds office as member of the Board of Dircetors {(whosc remuneration has been set aut above), is

detailed below;

Thousands of euros

2017 2016
Pecuniary remuneration 2,678 2,617
Remuneration in kind 556 161
Others 642 800
Total 1.876 3,668

‘T'here were seven members of Senior Management at 3 December 2017 {six members at 31 December 2017)
excluding the CEO.

The fix remuneration and the variable remuneration accrued in 2017 and paid in 2018 are included within the
remuneration of Senior Management,

Included in remuneration in kind is the vehicle, insurance and settlement of the long-lerm incentive charged in
shares 1n 2017 that was accrued m 2016.

Section “Others” takes into consideration the lgag-term objective retribution acerued in 2017

The two conditions that must be met simultancously to be considered Senior Management are, on the one hand,
forming part of the Management Committec and, on the other, reporting directly to the Managing Director.

27.3 Information oa conflicts of interest on the part of Directors

At year-end 2017, the members of the Board of Directors of NH Hotel Group, S.A. have indicated that they are
not in any situation of conflict, direct or indirect, that they or persons related to them, as defined in the Act, may
have with the interests of the Company, except the directors related to GIHSA, who have reported:

s On 19 April 2017, with prior information and deliberation in previous sessions of the Audit and Control
Committee of 27 February 2017, and of the Board of Directors on 28 February 2017, NH Hotel Group,
S.A. and Grupa Inversor Hesperia, S.A., signed 2 Framework Agreement for the management by NH of
28 hotels in the hotels portfolio owned by Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. The terms and eonditions of
the Agrcement was unanimously approved by NH's Board of Directors tollowing a favourable report
from its Audit and Control Committce.

During the aforementioned meetings, the Directors related to GTHSA were absent and abstained from taking
decisions.

28.- EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As stated in Note 11 of the accompanying repart, on 28 December 2017, an agreement was reachced with the
German asset manager Deka Immabilien for the sale and subsequent rental of the property in which the NH
Collectian Barbizon Palace Amsterdam is locatzd. The operation agreed at the end of January 2018, has involved
the sale of the building for 155.5 million euros (584.5 thousand euros/room), which will bring about an estimated
capital gain of 55 million euros in 2018 and nzt cash of 1224 million euros. The variable income lease of the
property will allow the Group te keep operating the hotel for an initial period of 20 years, with the option of
exercising twn extensions of 20 years each.
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20.- INFORMATION ON ENVIRONMERNTAL POLICY

For the NH Hotel Group, sustainability drives innovation, seeking 1o surprise our guests as well as achieving
cfficiencies in the use of water and energy. In our responsible commitment to the Planet, we work to minimise
sur impact on Climate Change, increase the efficiency of resources and develop more sustainable products. All
this minimises our environmental foctprint witk responsible consumption of natural resources.

'n 2017, the implementation of the sustaimability initiative continucd. This initiative gives continuity to the
environmental achievements of recent years. Thus, compared to 2008, per Average Daily Room energy
sonsumption has been reduced by 28%, water consumption by 29% and our carbon footprint by 74%. NH Hotel
Group is committed to renewable energy, whick reduces its carbon footprint. Certified green energy consumption
is available in 78% of hotels in Spain, Italy, Germany, Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg.

The Group is certified by internationally recogrised standards such as 18O 50001, which certifies the efficiency
of the hotel network's energy management on an international scale, and ISO 14001, related to environmental
management. A. total of 132 hotels have achicved their own external certification for their sustainable

management.

NI1 Ilotel Group has reported its climate change commitment and strategy to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP)

since 2010, I 2017, the Company obtained a B Management rating, which places NH Hotel Group among the
leading companies adopting measwres to efficiently reduce emissions, which is indicative of advanced

envirvnmental management.

Likewise, the NH Hotel Group forms part of FTSE4 Good, an index on the Logdon Stock Exchange which
recognises the socially responsible behaviour of companies worldwide.

30. EXPOSLRE TO RISK

The Group financial risk management is centralised at the Corporate Finance Division. This Division has put the
necessary measures in place Lo control exposure to changes in interest and exchange rates on the basis of the
Group’s structure and financial position, as well as credit and liquidity risks. If necessary, hedges are made on a
2ase-by-case basis. The main financial risks faced by the Group’s pelicies are described below:

Credit risk

The Group main financial assets include cash and cash equivalents (see Note 12), as well as trade and other
accounts receivable (see Note 13). In general terms, the Group holds its cash and cash equivalents in entities with
a high credit rating and part of its trade and other accounts receivable are guaranteed by deposits, bank guarantees
and advance payvments by tour operators.

The Group has no significant concentration of third-party credit risk due to the diversification of its financial
mvestments as well as to the distribution of trade risks with short collection periods among a large number of

sustomers.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s financial assets and liabilities are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates, which may have an adverse
affect on its results and cash flows. In order to mitigate this risk, the Group has established policies and has
-efinanced its debt at fixed interest rates through the issuance of convertible bonds and guarantced convertible
senior bonds. At 31 December 2017, approximately 92% of the gross borrowings was tied to fixed interest rates.

In aceordance with reparting requirements set forth in IFRS 7, the Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis on
sossible interest-rate fluctuations in the markets in which 1t operates, based on these requirements.
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Through the scnsitivity analysis, taking as a reference the outstanding amount of that (inancing that has variable
interest, we cslimated the increase in the interest that would arise m the event of a rise in the reference inlerest

raies.

In the event that the increase in interest rates were 0.25%, the financial expensc would increase by 143 thousand
euras plus interest.

In the event that the increase in interest rates were 0.5%, the [inancial expense wonld incrcase by 286 thousand
curas plus interest.

In the event that the increase in interest rates were 1%, the [inancial expense would Increase by 5373 thonsand
suros plus interest.

The results in equity would be similar to those recorded in the income statement but taking into account their tax
effect, if any.

Lastly, the long-term financial assets sct out in Note 10 of this annual report are also subject to interest-rate risks.

Exchange rate risk

The Group is exposed tv exchange-rate fluctuations that may affect its sales, results, equity and cash flows. These
mainly arise from:

- Investments in forcign countries (essentially Mexico, Argentina, Colombia, Chile, Ecuador, the
Dominican Republic, Brazil, Panama and the United States).

—  Transactions made by Group companies operating in countries whose currency is other than the
euro {essentially Mexico, Argentina, Colombia, Chile, Ecuador, the Dominican Republic,
Venezuela, Brazil, the United States and the United Kingdom).

In this respect, the detail of the effect on the currency translation difference of the main currencies in 2017 was as
follows:

Thousands of curos
Currency
translatior. Changes with
difference respect 1o 2016

LIS dollar 2,725 {1,756)
Argentine peso (96,861} {6,167)
Mexican peso {20,764} {3,795)
Colombian peso {15,921} (8,246)

Tte changes in (he currency translation differerce of the above currencies was mainly due to the movements in
exchange rates between 31 December 2017 and 31 December 2016:

Year-end curo reference
exchange rate 31/12/2017 31/12/2016 Change
US dollar 0.833820 0.948680 (12.11%)
Argentine pcso 0.044240 0.059910 (26.16%)
Mexican peso 0.042260 0.045930 {7.99%)
Colombian peso 0.000280 0.000320 (12.50%)
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As can be observed in the table, the movements in the exchange rate of the currencies with respeet to the end of

the previous year is in line with the changes in equity associatcd with these currencies.

Below is a detail of the movements in the average exchange ratc between 2017 and 2016 of the aforementioned

CUITENCIes:
Average eurp reference
exchange rate in the year 2017 2016 Change
US dollar 0.885190 0.903420 (2.02%)
Argenting peso 0.053280 0.061180 (12.91%)
Mexican peso 0.0463890 (.048390 (3.10%)
Colombian peso 0.000300 0.000300 -

<or these currencies an analysis was camied ou: to determune if it would be better to apply a monthly average or
cumulative average exchange rate, and no significant difference resulted [rom this analysis.

[n addition, a sensitivity analysis was performed in relation to the possible [uctuations in the exchange rates that
might arise in the markets in which it operates. For this analysis, the Group has taken into consideration
fluctuations in the main currencies with which it operates other than its funetional currency (the US dollar, the
Argentine peso, the Mexican peso and the Colombian peso). On the basis of this analysis, the Gronp considers
that a 5% depreciation in the corresponding currencies would have the following impact on equity:

Thousands of euros
: INet Profit
Revenues Equltg' (Loss)
US dollar (591) (B37) 331
Argentine peso i (L9177 (903) (139)
Mexican peso (1,745) (2,193) (211)
Colombian peso (1,846) (2,337) 80

The Group has no investments in countries with hyperinflationary currencies.
Liguidity risk

Exposure to adverse situations in debt or capial markets could hinder or prevent the Group [rom meeting the
financial needs required for its operations and for implementmg its Strategic Plan.

Management af this risk is focused on thoroughly monitoring the maturity schedule of the Group’s financial debt,
as well as on proactive management and maintzining credit lines that allow forecast cash needs to be met.

The Group’s liquidity position in 2017 is based un the following paints:

‘The group had cash and cash equivalents amounling to 80,249 thousand euros at 31 Decernber 2017
(see Note 13).

—  Available undrawn credit lines amounting to 316,345 thousand euros at 31 December 2017, of
which 250,000 thousand eures represent credit lines not drawn down in the medium term (Nole

15).
The Group’s business units have the capacity to generate cash flow from their operations.

- The Group’s capacity to increase its financial borrowing; given that it has non-collateraliscd asscts
and meet the financial ratios required by he (inancing agreements,
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Lasily, the Group makes cash flow forecasts or. a systematic basis for each business unit and geographical area in
order 10 assess their needs. This Group liquidity policy ensures payment undertakings are fulfilled without having
to request funds at onerous conditions and allows its liquidity position 1o be momitored on a coniinuous basis.

31. TRANSLATION

Translation of 2017 Consolidated Financial Statements and Consolidated Management Report originally issued
in Spanish and prepared in accordance with IFRS’s as adopied by the European Union. In the event of a
discrepancy, the Spanish-langnage version prevails.
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CONSOLIDATED MANAGEMENT REPORT
| FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING

31 December 2017

EVOLUTION OF BUSINESS AND GROUP'S SITUATION

NH Hotel Group is an international hotel operztor and one of the lcading urban hotel companies worldwide in
terms of number of rooms. The Group operates nearly 380 hotcls and 60,000 rooms in 31 countries, and has a
significant presence in Europe.

The centraliscd business model allows it to offer a consistent level of service to its customers in different hotels
in different rcgions. The corporate headquarters and regional offices offer holels a wide range of functions such
15 sales, reservations, marketing and systems.

In 2017, world economic activity grew at a pace of +3.5% (Data and estimates provided by the E.C. “Buropean
[conomic Forecast — Aulumn 2017 November 2017), greater than the previous year (1 3.0%). More specifically
in the Eurozone, the provisional growth rate for 2017 was 2.2% (+1.7% in 2016). Global growth has led 10 a
nositive cycle of trade and investment. Tikewiss, European economies confinue to grow, although the recovery
has not ended, which suggests there is room for further growth. In line with the above data, when comparing the
growth rales of the four countrics that bring togather the largest proportion of revenues and results of the Group,
it is observed that in Holland (+3.2% in 2017 vs. +1.7% 2016), Germany {(+2.2% m 2017 vs. +1.9% in 2016), and
ftaly (+1.5% in 2017 vs. +0.7% in 2016) growth increased compared with the previvus year, whilc in Spain (~-3.1%
in 2017 vs. +3.2% in 2014) growth was similar to the previous year.

According to the World Tourism Organization ("UNWT(O") in 2017, international tourist axrivals globally reached
1,322 million, representing an incrcase of = 7.(% over the previous year, a rate much higher than the sustained
and constant trend of 4% or more which had teen recarded since 2010 and represents the best result in seven
vears. More specifically, the arrival of international tourists to Zurope reached 671 million in 2017, recording
remarkable prowth of 8% after a comparatively weaker 2016 which was headed by destimations in the
Mediterranean. The growth was driven by th: extraordinary results of Southern and Mediterranean Europe
{113%), Western Europe (+7%), Notthern Eurcpe and Central and Lastern Europe (both +5%) also posted solid
growth. In this European context, Spain has established itself as the second taurist power in the world only behind
France but ahead of the United States, and managed to break its record with 82 million foreign tourists due to an
increase of 9% in the number of international arrivals.

'n this context, in 2017, as a result of the favourable trend in the hotel business throughout the year and the effect
of the initiatives it carried oul, particularly th2 repositioning of its brands and hotels, the Group recorded a
significant increase in price per room (“AIDR”, average daily rate).

During 2017, the value of the price strategy continues to be enhanced, greater Group growth being obtained in the
top cities compared to direct competitors, whers there are market measures in place. The evohtion of RevPar in
our top destinations was supertor to that of our competitors,

As part of its assct repositioning plan, NH Hotel Group invested almost 200 million euros from 2014 to 2017 to
fully renovate or remodel its mid-range hotels with the greatest patential for improvement. With the aim of
sentinuing to improve the quality and strengthen the NH Collection brand, the repositioning investment phase in
Germany which began in the previous year was completed during 2017, after the investment made in Benclux in
2016 and in Spain and ltaly in 2015,

Additionally, new repositioning opportunities have been selectively identified for 2018 and 2019, where the Group
will additionally have contributions from the owners of hotels that are leased by the Group.

Awnong the main milestones reached over the last years of transformation, the appearance of a new NH Hotel
(roup value propesition stands out based on the improvement of the quality, experience and the new brand
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architecture with the NH Collection, NH Hotel , thow and Hesperia brands. In this vein, the Group impraved the
customer experience thanks to implementing a sulid operational visien, including the new clements making up
the hotels' basic product range, known as Brilliznt Basics, which are already in place in all of the establishments
and which are contributing to a better experiencs and higher average quality score ol the customers.

The trend in quality indicators confirms the improvement in uscr ratings for the Group's botels throughout 2017.
At Group level, 35% of the portfolio is positioned in the top 10 of the city's TripAdvisor (45% for NH Collection
hotels) (34% and 45% rcspectively in 2016) aad 55% of the hotels are in the top 30 (63% for NE Callection
hotels) (52% y 62% rcspectively in 2016), which domonstrates the highest leyels of quality perceived by

customers.

Also, the NH Rewards loyalty programme now has over 8.4 million members (6.8 millon members in 2016), 18%
of whom joined in 2017, and 23% of the total are aclive.

Meanwhile, in 2017, another 6 hotels began operating in Marseilles, Eindhoven, Curitiba, Puebla, San Luis de
Potosi and Shijiazhuang with a total of 799 rooms, giving 380 hotels operating with 58,926 rooms at 31 December

2017.

In addition, in 2017 the Group signed 7 hotels with 1,762 rooms. All the signings were under lease and
management contracts, many of them in the tor brand segment and in primary cities (Frankfort, Valencia, Lima,

Brussels).

As a result, revenue in 2017 amounted to 1,546.1 million euros, representing growth of +6.8% (+98.1 million
euros), well above the increase in operating costs. As a result of the operational improvement, the Profit for the
vear attributable to the Parent Company stood at 35.5 million euros compared to 30.8 million euros in 2016.

In this year gross indebtedness decreascd from 861.8 million eurvs in December 2016 to 716.9 million euros in
December 2017. At 31% December 2017, cash aad cash equivalents amounted to 80.2 million euros (136.7 million
suros at 31 December 2016). Additionally, this liguidity was complemented by credit Iines at the end of the year
amounting to 316.3 million cures, of which 250 millien euros corresponded to 2 long-term syndicated credit line,
sompared to 308.9 million curas at 31 December 2016.

As indicated in the Note 13 of the annual accounts, the Company has refinanced or early redeemed the debt
corresponding to senior secured obligations due in 2019.

Likewise, as a consequence of these aperations, the syndicated credit line signed in 2016 for & limit of 250 million
euros will continue ta be available in full, and its maturity will automatically extend to 2021.

This value optimisation of the Company has recently been reflected in the improvement of the corporate credit
outlooks assigned by (he main rating agencies. ¥itch improved the corporate rating outlook frum "B with a stable
outlook” to "B with a positive outlook” based oa grealer liquidity and operational improvement. In turn, Meody's
improved the corporate rating outlook from B2 with a stable outlook” to "B2 with a positive outlook", due to the
operational mprovement, the hotel repositioning plan which has allowed NII to increase its revenues and
profitability, its cost saving plan and the significant improvement of its liquidity position. Additionally, Standard
& Poors mproved its opinion on the Group's business profile, mainly due to its successful re positioning plan
which has resulted in improved sales and profitability.

On 28™ September 2017, the Group presented its strategic plan for 2018-2019 to the investment community. After
a phase marked by a strong investment in repositioning and improvement of the experience, NII Hotel Group is
in a favourable position to face future growth in the coming ycars. The Company defined its priorities until 2019,
focused on revenue management through a dynamic pricing strategy, a continued focus on efficiency and debt
reduction, whilst, at the same time, taking advantage of its current strengths for new repositioning opportunities
and organic expansion as a means of additional growth.

The results of the plan will be reflected in the significant improvement in the Company's cash generation and in
the reduction of its financial indebtedness.
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At the General Shareholders' Meeting in June 2017, sharcholders approved the payment of an interim dividend
from 2016 results amounting to 17 million euros, representing five cents per outstanding share (gross).
Additionally, the Group has established a shareholder remuneration policy in line with its debl reduction plaus,
defining a medium-term shareholder remuneration. close to 50% of the recurring net profit. In the short term, it
foresees a dividend proposal of ten cents per share in 2018 and fifteen cents i 2019,

Finally, the Company has a diverse workfurce of 22,789 employees made up with 134 different nationalities, of
which 11.4% work in countries other than their home country. The percentage of employees between 25 and 40
vears old reached 49.6%, while that of those under 25 stood at 14.8% and those over 40 at 35.7%. Iurther detail
on this matter is to be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility report available on the corporate website of
NH Group (https://www.nh-hoteles.es/corporalc/es) in the shareholders and investors section within financial

information section, included in the annual reperts segment.

THE ENVIRONMENT

For the NH Hotel Group, sustainability drives innovation, seeking to swrprise our guests as well as achieving
efficiencies in the use of water and energy. Tn cur responsible commitment to the Planet, we work to minumise
our impact on Climate Change, increase the efficiency of resources and develop more sustainable products. All
this minimises our environmental footprint with responsible consumption of natural resources.

In 2017, the implementation of the sustainability initiative continued. This initiative gives continuity to the
environmental achievements of recenl years. Thus, compared to 2008, per Average Daily Room energy
consumption has been reduced by 28%, water consumption by 29% and our carbon footprint by 74%. NII Ilotel
Group is committed to renewable energy, which reduces its carbon footprint. Certified green energy consumption
ig aveilable in 78% of hotels in Spain, Italy, Germany, Holland, Belgium and Luxembourg.

The Group is certified by intemationally recogeised standards such as ISO 50001, which certifies the efficiency
of the hotel network's energy management on an international scale, and 18O 14001, related to environmental
management. A total of 132 hotels have achieved their own external certification for their sustainable

management.

NH Hotel Graup has reported its climate change commitment and strategy to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDF)
since 2010. In 2017, the Company obtained a B Management rating, which places NH Hotel Group among the
ieading companies adopting measures to efficiently reduce emissions, which is indicative of advanced

environmental management.

Likewise, the NII ITotel Group forms part of FTSE4 Good, an index on the London Stock Exchange which
recognises the socially responsible behaviour of companies worldwide.

Further detail on this matter is to be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility report available on the corporate
website of NH Group (https://www.nh-hoteles.es/corporate/es) in the shareholders and investors section within
financial information section, included in the arnual reports segment.

RISK MANAGEMENT MODEL

Since November 2015, the NH Hotel Group has had a risk policy approved by the Board of Directors. The atm of
this corporate pulicy is to definc the basic principles and the general framewaork ol action to identify and control
risks of any nature which may affect NH. This policy applies to all companies over which the NH Hotel Group

has effective control.
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NH Hotel Group’s risk management systemn aims to identify events that may ncgatively affect achievement of the
objectives of the Company’s Strategic Plan, providing the maximum level of assurance to shareholders and
stakeholders and protecting the group's revenue and reputation.

The model set up to manage risks is based on th2 ERM (Enterprise Risk Managemcnt) methodology and mcludes
a sct of methodologies, procedures and support tools which enable the NI Hotel Group to:

[dentify the most significant risks that could affect achievement of strategic objectives

Analyse, measure and asscss such risks depending on their probability of occurrence along with their
impact, which. is assessed from & finanzial and reputational point ef view

Priaritise such risks

Identily measures to mitigate such risks based on the group's risk appetite. This is firmed up by defining
risk managers and setting up action plens agreed by the Management Committec.

Monitor mitigation measures set up for the main risks

Periodically update risks and their assessment

-l 2 S

Al

The Company's Risk Map is updated annually and, after validation by the Audit and Control Committee, approved
by the Board of Directors. The 2017 Risk Map was approved by the Board at its meeting on 23 October 2017.

in general, the risks to which the Group is exposed can be classified into the foliowing categories.

a) Financial Risks, such as fluctuation of interest rates, exchange rates, inflation, liquidity, non-compliance
with financing undertakings, restrictions on financing and credit management.

b) Campliance Risks, arising from possibls regulatory changes, interpretation of legislation, regulations and
contracts, and nan-compliance with iniernal and external regulations. Tax and environmental risks are
included under this heading. It also ccovers Reputational Risks, arising from the company’s behaviour
which negatively affects fulfilment of he expoctations of one or more of its stakeholders (shareholders,
customers, suppliers, employees, the environment and society in general).

¢) Business Risks generated by inadequate munagement of procedures and resources, whether human,
material or technological. This category encompasses difficulty in adapting to changes in customer
demand, including those caused by

d} External Risks, arising from natural disasters, political instability or terrorist attacks.

e) Systems Risks, produced by attacks or faults in infrastructures, communications networks and
applications that may affect security (physical and logical) and the integrity, availability or reliability of
operational and financial information. This heading also includes busmess mterruption risk.

f) Strategic Risks, produced by difficulty accessing markets and difficulties in asset disinvestment.

Finally, in May 2017, the creation of an Execitive Committee on Risks was appraved to support the periodic
moritoring of risks {(monitoring of action plans and key indicators), support initiatives and activities related to the
implementation of action plans, as well as creating a culture of risks in the company. This Committee met twice
during the year.

Further detail on this matter is to be found in the Corporate Social Responsibility report available on the corporate

website of NH Group (https://www.nh-hoteles.es/corporate/es) in the sharcholders and investors section within
firancial information section, included in the arnunal reports segment.

SHARES AND SHAREHOLDERS

NH Hotel Group, S.A. sharc capital at the end of 2017 comprised 350,271,788 fully subscribed and paid up bearer
shares with a par value of €2 cach. All these shares carry identical voting and economic rights and are traded on
the Spanish Slock Exchange Market.
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According to the latest notifications received by the Company and the notices given to the National Securities

Market Copamission before the end of every firancial year, the most significant sharcholdings at 31¥ December
2017 and 2016 werc as follows:

2017 2016

HNA CO L.TD 29.34%* 29.50%
Oceanwaod Capital Management LLP 12.06% 11.97%
Hesperia Group 0. 27%** Q 7

Notwithstanding this list of shareholders, the tollowing chenges communicated to the CNMYV by said shareholders are reported:

* Although in the CNMYV Records it is recorded that the shareholding of Grupo HNA in NH is 29.50% al 31® December 2017, Grupo HNA
reported a decrease 10 29.34% in its shareholding i NH to the CNMV on 27 Fehruary 2017, In addition, on 3 November 2017, Grupe HNA
notified the CNMYVY of the signing of u salcs contract and repurchase agreement through which it would transter NH sharcs repreacnting
approximately 1.14% of the caprtal. 1Jepending on whether the sale has been formalised and the terms and conditions of it, Grupo HNA'S
shareholding in NH could reach 28 20% of the share capital Finally, on 19™ January 2018, it notified the CNMYV of the engagement to review
‘ts sharvholding in the Group, including identify potential buy 2rs of ifs sharehildmg,

** The gharchalding of Hesperia Group consists of the dirzet shareholding held by Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S AL (9.10%) and Euralondo
(0.17%).

The average share price of NI Ilotel Group, S.A. in 2017 was 5.05 euros per share (4.04 euros in 2016). The
lowest share price of 3.84 euros per share was rzcorded in January (3.17 euros in February 2016) and the highest
share price of 6.26 euros per sharc in December (4.95 eures in January 2016). The market capitalisation of the
Group at the close of 2017 stood at 2.1 hillion euros (1.3 billion euros at the close 0£2016).

At 31% December 2017, the Group had 9,416,3€8 own shares of which 9,000,000 correspond to the [oan of shares
for the issue of the convertible bond in November 2013. Of these 9 million shares, at 31 December 2017,
7,615,527 have been returned, and are now controlled by NH, although they remain available to the financial
entities. Additionally, in August 2016, the Company purchased 600,000 own shares and in 2017, delivered
183,632 shares to employees under the Incentive Plan.

CAPITALISATION at the end of each year (in millions of euros)

2,102

1,765

1,321 1,992 1,347

- — B

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

A total of 237,704,360 shares in NH Hotel Group, S.A. were traded on the Continuous Market over the course of
2016 (316,419,296 shares in 2016), which accornted for 0.68 times (0.90 times in 2016) the total number of shares

inta which the Company’s share capital is divided. Average daily share trading on the Continuous Market
amounted to 932,173 securities (1,231,203 in 2018).
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AVERAGE DAILY TRADING (million euros)
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FUTURE OUTLOOK

Forceasts indicate that the growth will continue in 2018, although at a more sustainable pace after eight years of
constant expansion after the economic and financial crisis of 2009. Based on current trends, economic outlooks
and the forecast of the UNWTO Panel of Experts, the Organisation expects global intcrnational tourist arrivals to
prow at a rate of between 4% and 5% in 2018. By region, growth in the arrival of tourists to Furope and the
Americas is expected to be between 3.5% and 4.5%.

On the other hand, GDP growth in Furope is expected to be +2,[% in 2018 (Data and estimates provided by the
E.C. “Buropean Economic Farecast — Autumn 20177 November 2017).

[n this economic tnvironment, the Group expects 10 benefit from the incrcase in sales associated with GDP growth
expectations in 2018, together with the positive :mpact of the repositioning investments made in the last two years
and supported by the implementation of price management tools which will allow us to continue to optimise this

strategy.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 28 December 2017, an agreement was announced with the German asset manager Deka Immobilien for the
sale and leaseback of the property in which the NH Collection Barbizon Palace Amsterdam is located. The
operalion closed at the end of January 2018, involving the sale of the building for 155.5 million euros (5384.5
thousand euros/room), which will bring about zn estimated capital gain of 35 million euros in 2018 and net cash
of 122.4 million euros. The variable income lease of the property will allow the Group to keep operating the hotel
for an initial period of 20 years, with the option of exercising 2 extensions of 20 years each.
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In relation to the unsolicited sign of interest received from Grupo Barcelé in November 2017, the Company's
Board of Directors unanimously rejected the operation proposed on 10 January 2018,

The Board noted that its decision was made to defend both the socizl interest of the Company and the interests of
all shareholders. It insisted that the unanimous rejection of this offer does not condition nor impede the analysis
of uther future strategic opportunities which will be asscssed based on the real value they arc able ta generate 1o
NH Hotel Group's shareholders as a whole, within the framework of the consolidation. trends prevailing in the

secior.

In taking its decision, the Board assesscd the fact that the contemplated slructure (merger) would not allow
shareholder value to be created above that of that project independently by NH. In its analysis, the Board did not
sansider the intrinsic value assigned to NH by Grupa Barcelé's offer appropriate, nor its scope, nor the exchange
~atia offered by it.

Based on this analysis, the Board unanimously sonsidered that the terms of the offer were inadequate and did not
reflect the real value of NH in any way, but especially for the following reasons:

s  The exchange ratio did not reflect the relative valuation of both companies (even less with a conselidation
adjusted to the relevant hotel business of Grupo Barceld). It also did not offer a real control premium on
the market valuation of NII, nor did it consider the potential for revaluation of NH independently (greater
in any case to the relative value of 7.08 euros per share suggested 1n said offer).

»  Grupo Barceld's ofter did not reflect tae potential for growth in NH's results, nor the value of its urban
assets owned in Europe {as shown by the recent sale of the Barbizon hotel in Amsterdam), nor the
opportunily to penerate profits with Iis balanced mix of contracts in management and leases, nor the
optimisation of its operational and finaacial structure.

e The Board assessed very nepatively that Grupo Barceld's offer lacked liquidity for NH shareholders.

Iikewise, and regardless of its decision in this matter, the Board also ratified the full confidence m the current
NH Strategic Plan with solid growth in revenues and significant operational improvement, together with the value
of its hotel assets and the potential to benefit from the reduction of its indebtedness, which will allow for expansion
opportunities and, in the future, participate in the consolidation trend of the hotel sector.
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ANNUAL CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
FOR LISTED PUBLIC LIMITED COMPANIES

E OWNERSHIP STRUCTURE

A.1Fill in the following table regarding the share capital of the Company:

Date of last Numbar of
modification Share captal (€) Number af Shares voting righta
26/06/2014 700,543 ,576.00 | 350,271,788 350,271,788

Indicate whether there are different shares classes with different associated rights:

Yes No

A.2List the direct and indirect significant shareholders in your company at the end of the year, excluding

directors:
Number of Number of % of total
Name or businese nams of tha sharshalder direct voting Indirect voting voting rights
rights rights
HNA GROUP CO LIMITED 0 102,787,998 29.35%
OCEANWOOO CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP 0 42,235,143 12.06%
GRUPC INVERSOR HESPERIA, 5.A 31,870,384 0 9.10%
Name or trade name of the indirect Vlia: Nama ar company namg of the Nl:':ﬁ:r of
shareholder direct holdar of the shareholding rlghtg
HNA GROUP CO LIMITED TANGLA SPAIN, S.L. 102,787,996
QCEANWOQOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP OCEANWCOOD OPPORTUNITIES MASTER FUND 32,185,871
OCEANWOOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP OCEANWOOD EUROPEAN FINANCIAL SELECT 5,629,251
OPFPORTUNITIES MASTER FUND
OCEANWOOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP QCEANWOOD INVESTMENTS Il DESIGNATED 2,283,927
ACTIVITY COMPANY
OCEANWOOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP CROWN/OCEANWOQOD SEGREGATED PORTFOLIO 2,126,294

Indicate the most significant movements in the shareholding structure of the company during the year:

A.3Complete the following tables with infarmation on the members of the company’s Board of Directors

that hold voting rights on shares in the company:

Numbsr of Number of % of total
Name or company name of Director direct voting indirect voting voting rights
rights rights
MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SOUSA 1,000 | 324751488 9.27%
MR ALFREDO FERNANDEZ AGRAS 150,000 Q 0.04%
MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN 17,703 0 | 0.01%
MS MARIA GRECNA 12,000 0 T 0.00%
MR PAUL JOHNSON 9,118 0 0.00%




Name or trade name of the indirect Via: Name or company name of the N';':g: F ol
shareholder direct halder of the shareholding rightg
MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRQ SOUSA GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A 31,870,384
MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SOUSA EUROFONDO, S.A. B04, 304
| %, of tatal voting rights held by the Board of Directors 9.32%

Fill in the fallowing tables with information on the members of the Company’s Board of Directors who

hold rights over shares in the Company:

Number of Number of Number of %v‘;iit:m'
Name or company nama of Dirsctar dlrect voting indirect voting equlvalent riah tg
rights rights shares g
MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN 140,648 140,643 0.04%

AdIndicate, where applicable, the family, commercial, contractual or corporate relationships existing
between major shareholders, insofar as they are known by the Company, unkess they have little
relevance or arise from normal trading activities:

A.5Indicate, where applicable, the commercial, contractual or corporate relationships existing between
major shareholders, and the company and/or its group, unless they have little relevance or arise from
normal trading activities:

A.6Indicate whether the company has been informed of shareholders' agreements which affect i, as
astahlished in Articles 530 and 531 of the Capital Companies Act. If applicable, describe them briefly
and list the shareholders bound by the agreement;

Yes E No [X

Indicate if the company is aware of the existence of concerted actions among its shareholders. If so,
give a brief description:

Yos [: No [X

In the event of any maodification or termination of these pacts, agreements or agreed actions during the
year, please specify it:

The company Is not aware of the existence of concaried actions among its sharehoiders.

A.7Indicate whether any individual person or legal entity exercises, or could exercise, cantrol over the
Company in accordance with Article 4 of the Stack Market Act. If so, give details here:

Yes Na (X

Remarks

A.8Filt in the following tables regarding the Company's treasury stock:
At year end:



Number of direct shares Number of indirect shares (*) % of total share caplital
8,031,895 c ' 2.29%

{*) Through:

Describe any significant changes, according to Royal Decree 1382/2007, that occurred during the year:

I Explain the slgnHlcant changes | |

A.9Describe the conditions and the term of the current mandate of the Board of Directors to issue,
repurchase or transmit treasury stock, as conferred by the General Shareholders’ Meeting.

The General Shareholders’” Meeting held an 29 June 2017 authorised the Board of Direclors af the Company to repurchase treasury
stock under the tanms indicated below:

a) The acquisition can be made by any tille accepted in Law, once or more times, provided that the acquired shares, added to those the
Sompany already owns, do not exceed 10% of the Company's share capital, together with those cwned by other campenies in the group,
if applicable.

b) The acquisitian, including the sharas which the Cempany, or a persan acting In their own neme but an behalf of the Company, may
have acquired beforshand and have in its portfalia, can be made as long as this does not Isad to nat equity being below the amount of
share capital plus the reservss mada unavailable by lew or the Company's articles of association. For thesa purpnses, net assets shall
be considered to be the amount identified as such in accordance with the criteria for preparing annuat accaunts, lass tha prafits directly
attiibutable to it, and plus the uncalled share capital, as well as the amount of (he principal and tha share premium that ars registered in
the accounts as liabilities.

c) The shares must be fully pald up.
d) The authorisation will be valld for § years from the day this agreement comes into farce.

&) The minimum purchase price will be 85% and the maximum price will be 105% of the listed market value at the close of Spain's
cantinuous markel the day before the transaction, and the purchase transactions will adhere to security market regulations and customs.

The shares acquired due to the authorsatian can ba disposed of ar amortised, or used in the payment systems set out In Article 146.a)

3 of the Capital Companies Act, and in particular may be whaliy or parlly allacaled to the beneficiares of the Payment Plan or Plans for
Company executives and employees.

A.9.bis Estimated floating capital:

%
|_ Estimated floating capltal 49.33

A.10 Indicate whether there is any restriction on the transferability of securities and/or any restriction on
voting rights. In particular, report the existence of any type of restnction which could hinder control of
the company being taken through acquiring its shares on the market.

Yeasg Mo [X

A.11 State whether the General Shareholders’ Meeting has agreed to adopt neutralisation measures
against take-over bids, pursuant to Law 6/2007.

Yes No |X

If so, explain the approved measures and the terms under which the restrictions would be lifted:



A.12 State whether the campany has issued securities which are not traded on a regulated EU market.

Yes to | X

If applicabie, indicate the different types of shares, and the rights and obligations each type of share
confers.

GENERAL SHAREHOLDERS' MEETING

@

B.1Indicate whether differences exist between the minimum guorum established in the Spanish Capital
Campanies Act (LSC) and the quorum of the General Shareholder's Meeting. If 80, explain these
differences.

Yes No (X

B.2Indicate, and if applicable, specify any differences from the system established in the Capital
Companies Act {(LSC) for adopting company agreements:

Yes No m

Describe how it differs from the LSC.

B.3Indicate the regulations applicable to modification of the company articles of association. In particular,
note the majorities required for changes to the articles of association and, if any, the regulations
governing the protection of shareholders’ rights when making changes to the articles of association.

Title VI, covering Articles 285 - 345, of Royal Decree=Law 1/2010 of 2 .July, approving the Revised Text of the Capilal Companies

Act (hereunder, LSC), and Articles 158 - 164 of Royz! Decree 17841988, af 19 July, approving the Regulatian of ihe Companies
Register {hereunder, RRM), establish the legal system applicable to the madification of articles of association. The text of the articles

of assaciation of NH Hotsl Graup failhfully reflects these legal regulations, with no higher quarum or majority required than is set out
tharain.

B.4Indicate details of attendance at the general shareholders’ meetings held during the year to which this
report refers, and for the previaus year:

Attandance detall
Date of % presant In % by % ramota voting S
ganesral paraan proxy Electronic vote Other
meaeting E
29/06/2015 0.20% 70.13% 0.00% 2.00% 72.47%
11/12/2015 9.25% 84.29% 0.00% 0.83% 74.17%
- 21/06/2016 0.08% B2.10% 0.00% 3.60% 85.78%
. 29/08/2017 39.02% 42.57% 0.00% 0.00% 81.50%

B.5S5tate whether there are any statutory restrictions that establish the minimum number of shares
required to attend the General Sharsholder's Meeting:

Yes

B.6 Paragraph repealed.

Na |X




B.7Indicate the address and access on the Company website to information on corporate governance and
other information on general shareholders' meetings which must be available to shareholders on the

Company website.

All information of relevance to shareholders, induding information cn corparate govemance and other informatian on general
shareholders' meetings is available at all times on the NH Hotel Group websita, www.nh-hotels.es, in the section ‘[nfarmation far

shareholders’

fE COMPANY MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

C.1 Board of [irectors

C.1.1 Maximum and minimum number of directors established in the campany's articles of association:

Maximum numhar of Directora 20 |

Minimum number of’ Directors 5

C.1.2 Complete the following table with the members of the Board:

Name or company |Representativ | Director Date Date .
name of Director |® catagory Fasiion of first of last SiBCHoN
on the : : procedure
Board appoi appoi
ntmen ntmen
) 1 t
MR ALFREDO ' Proprietary CHAIRMAN 19/06/2015 |28/06/2015 | AGREEMENT BY
FERNANDEZ ACRAS GENERAL
SHAREHOLDERS'
, MEETING
MR JOSE ANTONIO . Proprietary DEPUTY 24105/2012 (29/08/2015 | AGREEMENT BY
CASTRO SOLISA CHAIRMAN GENERAL
SHAREHOLDERS'
MEETING
MR RAMON ) Exscutive Chief 29/06/2017 (29/08/2017 | AGREEMENT BY
ARAGOMES MARIN Exzecutive GENERAL
Officer SHAREHOLDERS'
- . MEETING
MR JOSE MARIA . Independent | DIRECTOR 21/06/2018 [25/07/2017 | CO-QPTED
CANTERQO MONTES- !
JOVELLAR !
MS MARIA GRECNA Independent | DIRECTOR 21/06/2016 |25/07/2017 | CO-OPTED
ARUPG INVERSOR MR JORDI . Proprietary DIRECTOR 28/02/2017 |29/06/2017 | AGREEMENT BY
HESPERIA, 8.4 FERRER GENERAL
GRAUPERA SHAREHOLDERS'
I MEETING
MR PAUL JOHNSCON | Independent | DIRECTOR 21/08/2016 |25/07/2017 | CO-OPTED
MR FERNANDO | Independent | DIRECTOR 21/06/2016 |25/07/2017 | CO-OPTED
LACADENA AZPEITIA
MR JOSE MARIA (ndependent | DIRECTOR 24/04/2012 |29/06/2015 | AGREEMENT BY
LOPEZ-ELOLA GENERAL
GONZALEZ SHAREHOLDERS'
, MEETING
MR JOSE MARIA Indapandent | DIRECTOR 22/Q3/2017 |29/06/2017 | AGREEMENT BY
SAGARDQOY LLONIS GEMERAL
SHAREHOLDERS'
_ MEETING
Total number of directors 10

Indicate whether any directors have left the Board of Directors during the period being reported:

R Director category at
Name or company name of Director time of departure lDal:n_ of
BHVII'IE
MR JUAN JOSE ANDRES ALVEZ Indepandenl 27101712017
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Namea or company name of Diractor ?lm?d‘;b:gzg at g:t; :;
MR FRANCISGO JAVIER ILLA RUIZ Proprietary 07/0212017
MR CARLOS GONZALEZ FERNANDEZ Independent 26/06/2017
MR FRANCISCO ROMAN RIECHMANN indepandent 28/06/2017
MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES- OVELLAR Other External 25/0712017
- MS MARIA GRECNA Other Extemal 230772017
MR PAUL JOHNSON Other Extemal 25/0712017
MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEITIA Other Extemnal 25/0712017
M5 KORQ USARRAGA UNSAIN Independent 20/10/2017

C.1.3 Fill in the following tables about the Board members and their comresponding categories:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Name or company name of Director Positlon In the company’s organisational chart
MR RAMON ARAGQONES MARIN Chiaf Executive Officer
Total numbar of exacutive diractors : 1
% of the Board as a whole 10,00%

EXTERNAL PROPRIETARY DIRECTORS

Name or company name of Director Name or company name of the majar shareholder
represemted or who proposed the appolntmant
MR ALFREDC FERNANDEZ AGRAS OCEANWOQOD CAPITAL MANAGEMENT LLP
MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SOUSA GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A
GRUPQ INVERSOR HESPERIA, §.A GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A
Total number of proprietary directors 3
% of the Board as a whole 30.00%

INDEPENDENT EXTERNAL DIRECTORS

Name or company name of Director:
MR JOSE MARIA LOPEZ-ELOLA GONZALEZ

Profile:

Graduate in economics from the Complutense University of Madrid. Far the last 35 years, he has been the
Genaral Manager of various credit and banking institutions, such as Banco Zaragozang, S.A. and Barclays,
S.A. Heis currently &8 member of the Board of Directors of companies including Festina Lotus, S.A., Ceilo,
S.A. and Cementos Occidentales, S.A.

Name or company nhame of Director:

MS MARIA GRECNA

Profile:



Economics degres from the Economics School of the University of Prague (Czech Republic) and a Masters
in Finance from the London Business Schoal. She has run Earlwood Rental Proparties, which sha co-
founded, since 2013, Earfwoad is a company focused an the acquisition, renovation and managemsent of
homes with a portfolio of over 100 homes in the centre of Madrid and Barcelonha and for properties in
construction and holiday homes In the Balearlc Islands. Between 2005 and 2013 she workad for Varde
Partners (a global aiternative investment advisor), first as CEQ of Védrde Partners Europe {London)
betwaan 2005 and 2011 and [ater as CEO of Varde Partners iberia (Madrid) betwasn 2011 and 2013. She
praviausly held positions ir Société Générale {Pragua) from 2002 to 2003, Crédit Suisse First Boston
(Londan and Prague), from 2000 to 2002, and Citigroup {Prague), fram 1995 ta 2000.

Name or company name of Director:

MR JOSE MARIA SAGARDQY LLONIS

Profile;

Degree in Economics and Business Administration from ICADE (E-2) and IESE Business School,
University of Navarra. BBVA programme for executives He bagan his prafessional career in Arthur
Anderson A.L.T., in the financial secter and has since held senior positions in varicus banking entitias
such as Deutsche Bank, BBVA (Director of Global Syndicated Loans) and Banco Popular (Wholesale
Banking Director and Risk Director).

He is currently the Head of Origination and CFO of Copernicus Servicing, S.L. He has heen a Board
Member of companies such as Fomento de Construcciones y Contratas (2008-2009), Societé Fanciere
Lyonnaise, representing Colanial (2008-2011), Globalia Corporacién Empresarial (2007-2012),
Inmobiliaria Colonial {2008 — 2013} and in Targobank, S.A., representing Banco Popular Espaficl, S.A.
(2013-2016).

Name or company name of Director:

MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-JOVELLAR
Profile:

He helds a degree in Law ard Ecoanomics and Business Administration and
Management from the Universidad Pontificia Comillas {ICADE E-3) and a diploma

from the Business Management Programme (PADE) of IESE Business School, He

was a founding partner of Resuits Mazimizer {consultancy for the execution and
implemantation of marketing. sales and communications projects) and Enubes (digital
marketing company) and has bean tha Managing Partnar since September 2015.
Between July 2008 and August 2015 he held various senior pasitions in Mutua
Madrileria, first as Sales and Marketing Director until May 2011 and subsequantly as
Deputy Genearal Manager, wnilst also being a Rirector at SegurCaixa Adeaslas (from

July 2011) and a Director at Mutuactivos Inversiones (from July 2013).

Between August 2003 and June 2008 Mr José Maria Cantero de Montes-Jovellar was
Marketing and Customers Director (sales and value enhancement management of the
Residential Business Unit) of Amena/Orange in Spain.

Previously, hetween July 1994 and July 2003 he worked for Practer & Gamble Espafa in
various pasitions within tha marketing departmant: Assistant Brand Manager, Brand
Manager, and his final position as Business Team Leader Textlles Care division for Spain

and Portugal.

Name or company name of Director;

MR PAUL JOHNSON

Profile:



Faunding director and Chief Executive CFficer of the hotel chain Kew Graen Hotels Ltd under whose
leadership went fram start-up o having 50 hotels. The group was acquired by the Chinese-owned HK CTS,
a hotel chain, in August 2015. After ensuring & successful integration with HK CTS, Paul left the company

in May 2016 to develop other interests.

Paul is highly experienced i1 the leisure industry having held saenior positions in sales and marketing for
the Walcoma Break Group, 3udget Rent a Car, Radisson Edwardian Hotels and Hilton Intarnational. Paul
was shartlistad for Ernst and Yaung Entrepreneur of the year in 2007 and 20C9 and, in 200€, was a membar

of the Sunday Times Fastirazk Awards Management Team of the Year.

Paul is currantly Head of Rcupell Advisory Ltd., a global hotel consultancy.

Mame or company name of Diraector:

MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEITIA

Profila:

Degree in Economics and Business Administration and a Law Degree from ICADE (Specialty E-3) in

Madrid. Executive with mare than 35 years' experience in financing and very oriented towards

management. Lately, specizlised in the financial area in large listed multinational corporations, with
significant expsriance in the negotiation and structuring of financing operatians, relationships with capital

markets and investment operations (M&A).

Since December 2014, he has been the CEQ of Testa Inmusbles en Renta SOCIMI, S.A.,
a leading property leasing management company in the third sactor, having directed the
aperation to fioat the company with Merlin Properties taking a stske in its share capital; an
aperation valuad at epproximataly €2 billion.

He is the chaimrman of ASPRIMA, the agsaciation of companies with [eased asseats in
Spain.

Prior to that, for seven years he was the CFO at Grupo Sacyr Vallehermoso, managing
financing with banks and the relationship with analysts and investors and participating
directly in the investment prccesses and the partnership strategy to develop new
businesses in both local markets and intematianaily.

Previously he workad for 13 years in similar positions in Grupa ACS = Dragados, after having started in

Arthur Andersan whars ha spant the first 1Q years of his professional career.

Total number of Indepandant diractors

6

% of total Board

60.00%

Indicate if any Director classified as independent receives any payments or benefits from the
company ar its group other than remuneration for the post of Director, or maintains, or has
maintained, a business relationship with the company or any company in the group in the last
year, whether in his own hame or as a major shareholder, director ¢r senior manager of an

entity maintaining, or which has maintained, such a relationship.

NO

If s0, include a reasaned statement by the Board as to the reasons why it considers that this

director can perform his duties as an independent director.

OTHER EXTERNAL DIRECTORS




Identify the other external directors and state the reasons why they cannot be considered
proprietary or independent directors, and their relationship with the company, its directors or
shareholders:

Indicate the changes that, as applicable, have occurred to the category of each director during

the period:
Date of Previous Current
Name or company name of Director change category tegor
4
MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-JOVELLAR 25/0712017 Other Extemal | Independent
MS MARIA GRECNA 25/07/2017 | Other Extemal | Independent
MR PAUL JOHNSON 25/07/2017 Other Extemal | Independent
MR FERNAMDO LACADENA AZPEIT|A 25/07/2017 Other Extemnal | Independent

C.1.4 Fill in the table below with the information relating to the number of female directors in the last 4
financial years, and their type:

Number of famale directors % of total directors of each type
2017 20186 2015 2014 2017 - 2018 2018 2014
Femals ol 0 0 0 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Exacutiva
Proprietary 0 c 0 1 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 10.00%
Independent 1 1 1 0 16.67% 25.00% 25.00% 0.00%
Other External 0 1 Q 0 0.00% 25.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Female
| _Executives
Total: 1 2 1 1 10.00% 18.18% 3.33% 7.14%

C.1.5 Explain the methods adopted, if any, to seek to include a number of women in the Board of
Directors which would permit a balanced presence of women and men.

| Explanation of the maaauras

The Baoard of Dlrectors® rules define the esisblishment of a targat concaming the less representad gender an the Board
of Directors and the guldelines on howr to ulfil said target as one of the objectives of the Appointmenls, Remunsration
and Carporate Governance Cammittea. This target was legally established as 30% women members of the Board of

Directors by 2020.

In order to fulil the aforemsntioned goal, ?he Appaintments, Remuneration end Cargorate Gavenance Cammittee shall
ensure that the selection procadure doss nct suffer from any implicit hias that may hamper the selection of female diredars
and that women that fulfil the professianal profie sought are included amang the patential candidates.

The policy for selecting directors seeks to prevent discrimination, with mertocracy as the criterion guiding the selection
process ta identify the bast candidates for ihe Company. However, and natwithstanding the foregeing, each time thal there is
a vacancy on the Board of Directars, and the carmrespanding selection process begins, at least ohe woman must be considered

as a candidate until the 30% targst is met.

C.1.8 Explain the measures agreed, if any, by the Appointments Committee to ensure that the selection
process is not implicitly biased against selecting female Directors, and so that the company
deliberately seeks to include women who meet the desired professional profile among potential

candidates:

E)qalaﬁa_tion of the measures

During the process of selecling Directers, In complianze with the principles set forth \n the Board Regulations, the
Appcintments, Remuneration and Corporate Govamance Commiltee has ensured wamen ara induded wha meet the
required profassional proflle In tha list of cardidstes, and has endeavoured to ensure there are no biases inherent in the

selection procedurs that hindar the selaclian of female directors.
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As mentianed previously, the policy for selecting directors expressly provides for the prevention of discriminatian in the
candidzte selection pracess and, guided ty campany interesi, meritacracy shall serve as the main selectian criterion, with the
pracess seaking to identify the mast qualified candidetes. However, each time that there is a vacancy on ihe Board of
Diractors, and the carresponding seieclion process begins, at [east one waman must be considered as a candidate,
notwithstanding the principles of merit and capacity, until the aforementioned 30% target for 2020 is met

If, despite the measures adopted, if any, there are few or no female Directors, explain the
reasons:

_Explanation of the reasons

Sea zbnva saction.

C16 bis Explain the conclusions of the appointments committee regarding the verification of
compliance with the palicy on director selection. In particular, explain how this policy promotes
the objective that by 2020 the number of female directors is at least 30% of the total number of
members of the board of directors.

Explanation of the cancluaions

In 2017, the App&i-nimenié, Remuneratlon arnd Comorate Govemance Committes considared the ragulatory fithess and the
Recommendations in the Goad Governance Code In terms of the policy for seiecting directars,

MNH Hotel Graup firmly baliaves that divarzity in all its facets and at all levels of its professianal team is an essential factar
for ansuring the Company'a campalitivensss and a key element in ifs corporate governance strategy, promoting the
participation and developmant of womean in lhe arganisation, especially in positions of leadership, and, in particular, on the
Board af Diractars.

In the candidate selection process and, guided by company interest, mentacracy shail serve as the main selection criterion,
with the process seeking te identify the most qualified candidates. Consequently, each time that there is a vacancy on the
Board of Directors, and 1he comespending selection process beging, at least one woman must be cansidered as a
candidate, notwithstanding the principles of merit and capadity, untii the aferementioned 30% target far 2020 is mel. This

company's goal is ta cover any Board vacancy with a new female dire¢tor, therefare enabling us ta increase the female
presence on the Board.

In 2017, ihe Company has continued to work with expert consulting firms that have intensified the recruitment of female
diractars.

C.17 Explain how major shareholders are represented on the Board.

As set out In Article 9 of the Board Requiztions, tha Board wiil ansure that the majerity group of extemal Diractars includes,

on one hand, those proposed by the holders of significant stable holdings in the campany capital (propristary Diractars) and,
on the other, professlonals of recognised rrestige who are nof 2ssociatad with tha axecutive taam nor with major gsharsholders

(independent Direclors).

Proprietary Directors are those that represent or have a shareholding in the Company that is greatar than or equal to what
is legally considered significant, or that may have been appointed due to their status as shareholdars even thaugh thelr
sharehalding does not reach the legally established amount.

For the purposes of this definition, il shall 2e assumed that a director represents a shareholder when:

a) Hefshe was appointed by virtue of the right to representation.

b) Hefshe is a director, senior manager, € nployee or reqular service provider of this shareholder, or of companies
belanging to its group.

¢) The company documentation states thet the shareholder accepts that the director has been appointed by it or

represeits it
d) Hefahe is the spause, or connected by a similar relationship, or related up to the second degree of kinship to a major

sharghalder.

C.18 Explain, if applicable, the reasons why proprietary directors have been appointed at the request
of shareholders whose holdings are below 3% of share capital:
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Indicate whether formal requests for representation on the Board from shareholders whose
shareholding i1s equal to or greater than other shareholders at whose request proprietary
directors have been appointed, have not been acted upon. Explain the reasons why they have
not been acted on, as applicable;

Yes No [X

C19 Indicate whether any director has left their position prior to the completion of their mandate;
whether the directar has explained their reasons to the Board, and by what means; and, in the
event that the written communization was sent to the whole of the Board, explain the reasons

given:

Name of the director:

MR JUAN JOSE ANDRES ALVEZ

Reason for departure:

Mr Juan José Andrés Alvez lendsred his rasignafion as Beard Member on 27 January 2017 dua to
unforeseen personal reasons.

Name of the director:

MR FRANCISCO JAVIER ILLA RUIZ

Reason for departure:

Mr Francisca Javier llla Ruiz's position as Director was terminated on 7 Fabruary 2017 due to his death.

Name of the director:

MR CARLOS GONZALEZ FERNANDEZ

Reason for depariure:

At the end of his term as Board Member on 26 June 2017, the Board of Directars did not seek the
reappointment of Carlas Ganzaélez Fernadndez at the General Sharehglders' Meeting held on 29 June 2017.

Name of the director:

MR FRANCISCO ROMAN RIECHMANN

Reason for departure:

Mr Francisco Roméan Riechmann tendered his resignation as Board Member on 28 June 2017 due to
personal reasons.

Name of the director:
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MS MARIA GRECNA

Reason for departure:

Ms Maria Grecna tendered her resignation as Board Mamber an 25 July 2817. On this date she was
appointed as a hew co-opted director by the Baard of Directors as an independent director at the bahest

of the Appointments and Remuneration and Carporate Gavernance Committee

Name of the director:

MR PAUL JOHNSON

Reason for departure:

Mr Paul Johnson tendered his resignation as Board Member an 25 July 2017, On this date he was
appointed as a new c¢o-opted director by the Board of Diractors as an independent director at the behest

of the Appointments and Remuneration and Corporate Govermance Committee

Name of the director:

MR JOSE MARIA CANTERQ MONTES-JOVELLAR

Reasan for daparture:

Mr José Maria Cantero Mantes-Jovellar tendered his resignation as Board Member on 25 July 2017. On
this date he was appointed as a new co-opted director by the Board of Directors as an independent director
at the behest of the Appointments and Remuneration and Corparats Governance Committee

Name of the director:

MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEITIA

Reason for departure:

Mr Fernando Lacadena Azpeitia tendared his resignation as Board Member on 28 July 2017. On this date
he was appointed as a new co~opted director by the Board of Directars as an independent director at the
behest of the Appointments and Remuneration and Corparate Gevarnance Committes

Name of the director:

MS KORO USARRAGA UNSAIN

Reason for departure:

Ms Koro Usarraga Unsain resigned from her position of Diractor an 20 October 2017 for professional
reasons.

G410 Indicate, if applicable, the powers delegated ta the Executive Director(s):
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C1.11

Name or company name of Director:

MR RAMON ARAGONES MAFIN

Brief description:

All the powers that correspond to the board of directors, except thoss that cannot ba delegated by law or
the company’s articles of association.

|dentify, if applicable, the memkers of the Board that hold administrative or management
positions in other companies that form part of the group of the listed company:

Do they
Name or company name Company name of i
of Diractor group company Posltlon axecutive
duties?

" MR RAMON ARAGONES NH L_agasca, S.A. Director NO

MARIN '

MR RAMAMN ARAGONES JV BELIING GRAND CHINA HOTEL Director . NO

MARIN MANAGEMENT {CHINA) |

MR FgAMoN ARAGONES NH HOTELES DEUTSCHLAND GMBH | Joint and Several Director YES

MARIN

MR RAMON ARAGONES NH HOTELBETRIEBS — UND Jaint and Severat Director YES

MARIN ENTWICKLUNGS GMBH

MR RAMON ARAGCNES NH HOTELBETRIEBS — UND Jaint and Several Director YES

MARIN DIENSTLEISTUNGS GMBH

MR RAMON ARAGONES NH CENTRAL EUROPE MGMT GMBH | Jaint and Several Director YES

MARIN

MR RAMOMN ARAGONES JOLLY HOTEL REUTSCHLAND GMBH | Jaint and Several Directar YES

MARIN

MR RAMON ARAGONES HOTELES ROYAL, S.A. (COLOMBIA) Deputy Director NG

MARIN

MR RAMON ARAGONES NACIOMNAL HISPANA HOTELES, S.A. Director NO

MARIN DE 2.V. (MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGONES OPERADORA NACIONAL HISPANA, Director NO

MARIN S.A. CE C.V. (MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGCNES FRANQUICIAS LODGE, S.A. [MEXICO) | Dirsctor NQ

MARIN

MR RAMON ARAGONES SERVICIOS CORPORATIVOS Director NO

MARIN HOTELEROS (MEXICOY)

MR RAMON ARAGCNES HOTELERA OE LA PARRA (MEXICD) Director NO

MARIN

MR RAMON ARAGONES SERVICIOS CORPORATIVOS Director NQ

MARIN KRYSTAL ROSA (MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGONES CHARTWELL INMOEILIARIA DE Director NG

MARIN COATZACOALCOS, S.A. DE C.V

(MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES SERVICIOS CORPORATIVOS Director NO
MARIN CHARTWELL MONTERREY, 5.A. DE
C.V. (MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGONES CHARTWELL DE MEXICO, $.A. DE Director NO

MARIN .V, (MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGONES CHARTWELL DE NUEVQ LAREDQC, Direcior NO

MARIN S.A. DE C.V (MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGONES GRUPO HOTELERO MONTERREY, Diractor NO

MARIN S.A DE CV {(MEXICO)

MR RAMON ARAGONES SERVICIQS CHARTWELL NUEVC Director NO

MARIM LAREDQ, 8.A. DE C.V. (MEXICQ)

MR RAMON ARAGONES DESARROLLO INMOBILIARIO SANTA | Director NO

MARIN FE [MEXICQ, S.A. DE C.V. {(MEXICO)
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Do they
Name or company name Company name of N have
of Diractor group company Pogitian executive
duties?
MR RAMON ARAGONES GRUPC HOTELERC QUERETARQ, Director NO
MARIN S.A. CE C.V. (MEXICO)
MR RAMON ARAGONES HIS~ANA SANTA FE, SA. DE C.V. Director NO
MARIN (MEXICO)

C112 State, if applicable, the directors of your company that are members of the Board of Directors
of other entities listed on official stock exchanges, cther than comparnies in your group, which

the company has heen notified of:

Name or company name
of Director

MR ALFREDO FERNANDEZ AGRAS

- MR JOSE MARIA LOPEZ-ELOLA
! GONZALEZ

Company hame of Pasiti
group campany on

MERLIN PROPERTIES SOCIML. S.A. | DIRECTOR
| CADOGAN 37 SICAV, S.A. DIRECTOR

113 State, and if applicable explain, if the company has rules on the number of boards that its
directors may belong {o:

Yeag [ X No

Explanation of the rules

Articde 29 of the Ragulations of the Boand axpressly establishes that directors must dedicate the necessary time and
effart ta parfarming their duties, and must natify the Appointments and Remuneration Committee of any circumstances
that may interfere with the required dedication. Similarly, directars may not belong te more than 10 baards of directors,
excluding tha Board of MH Hotel Graup, £.A. and the beards of holding companies and family companies, without the
sxprass authorisation of the Appointments and Remuneration Cammittee based on the individual Circumstances in
each case.

CA14 Paragraph repealed.

C115 State the overall remuneration ¢f the Board of Directors:

Remuneration of the Board of Directors (€ thousands) 2,332
Amount of pension rights accumulated by the current Directors (€ thousands) 0
Amount of pension rights accumulated by the ax-Directars (€ thousands} 0

|

C1.16 Identify members of senior management who are not alsa Executive Directors, and indicate

their total remuneraticn for the year:

Name or company nams

Rogition

MR FERNANDO CORDOVA MORENG

GENERAL MANAGER, FEOPLE

MS LAIA LAHOZ MALPARTIDA

GENERAL MANAGER, ASSETS AND REVENUE

MR ISIDORO MARTINEZ DE LA ESCAL=RA

GENERAL MANAGER, MARKETING

MR RUFINO PEREZ FERNANDEZ

GENERAL MANAGER, OPERATIONS

MS BEATRIZ PUENTE FERRERAS

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

MR CARLOS ULECIA PALACIQS

GENERAL SECRETARY

MR FERNANDQ VIVES SOLER

GENERAL MANAGER, SALES

156




Total remuneration of senlor managemsnt (€ thousands) 3,8;6-|

C.1.17 State, if applicable, the identity of Baard members who are alsc members of the Board of
Directors of companies of significant shareholders and/or entities in their group:

: Company nhame of major s
Name or campany name of Director aharahalder Position
GRUPQ INVERSQOR HESPERIA, S.A GRUPO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A JOINT AND
SEVERAL
DIRECTOR

Provide details, if applicable, of the relevant relationships other than those included in the
previous heading, of the memkers of the Board of Directars with major shareholders and/or in

entities of their Group:

Name or busihess name of tha associated Director:

MR JOSE ANTONIO CASTRO SOUSA
Mame or business nama of the related major shareholder:
GRUPQC INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A

Dancription of relationshlp:

NATURAL PERSON REPRESENTING THE JOINT AND SEVERAL ADMINISTRATOR EUROFONDQ,
S.A.

C1.18 State whether there has been any change to the regulations of the Board during the year:

Yes (X No j

Dascription of changes

At its meeting of 29 June 2017 and at the proposal of the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chainman of the
Appointments, Rermuneration and Corporate Governanca Cammittee, pursuant to the provisian of Article 3 of the
Board of Directors' rules, the Board of Directors approved the amendment of Articles 38.1 and 38.4 of the Rules, so
that the executive directors who receive remuneration far the functions they perfonm under their working or business
contract with the Campany do nat receive any addilonal remunaration as a Directar.

119 State the procedures for selecting, appointing, re-electing, appraising and removing directors.
Name the competent bodies, the procedures to be followed and the criteria used in each
procedure.

Tha directars are appointed by the General Sharcholders' Meeting, or pravisionslly by the Board of Directors in
accordance wilh the provisions contained in the Capital Companles Act and the campany’s articles of associatian.

Proposals for appaintments or the re-glection of members of ihe Boand of Diractors is the mspansibitity of the Appaintments,
Remuneration and Canporate Gavernance Committee in the ¢ase of Independant diractors and is tha respongibility of the

Board itsalf for all other cases. Proposals shauld always be accompanied by a report fram tha Board asaesaing Iha prapasad
candidate's competence, experience and merts, which will be attached to the minutes of the General Shareholdars’ Mesting

or that of the Board.

Proposals for appointing or re-electing anv non-independent Director muslt also be preceded by a report from the
Appolntments, Remuneration and Corparzte Govemance Commiittee,
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The Board of Directors musl ensure that the seiection praocess for its members favaurs diversity in terms of gender,
experience and knowledge and does not suffer fram implicit biases that may lead 1o any type of discriminatian and,

parttcularly, that it facilitates the selection of female directors.

In terms of appointing external directars, the Board of Directors and the Appointments, Remuneration and Carporste
Govemance Committee have a duty to ersure, within the scope of their respective competencies, that the electian of
candidates falls on people with a solid reputation, proven skills and experience, and who are prepared to dedicate a
sufficient part of their time to the Company, taking the utmost care in chogsing people who may be selected ta be
independent directors.

The Board of Directors will propose or dezignate people whao meet the nequirements set out in articte 9.3.2 of tha
Regulation of the Boand of Directors to coser the position of independent directors.

In any event, those subjed to any incapacity, disqualification, prohibition or conflict of interests set farth in cumrent
legislation may nat be proposed for appeointment as Board members,

All these directly or indirectly holding interests of any type or that have an employment, professianal ar mercantile relatlonship,
or relations of any other type with competior companies, shail be considered as incompatible far the pasition of director,
except when the Board of Directors, with 2 favourable vote of at least 70% of its membears, egrees to sef asida this conditfan.
The abaove is without prejudice to any other waiver that, in compliance with eurrent legislation, the General Sharsholdars’

Meeting had to provide,

C1220  Explain how far the annual assessment aof the board has led to important changes in its
internal organisation, and on the procedures applicable to its activities:

Description of changes

The self-assessment carmed out annually by the Board of Directars through complefian of the commespaonding questionnaire
has enabled the thaughts of boerd members ta be carmried through ta a series of ection plans,

Below are the speclfic action plans far each apportunity for improvement which the Board of Directors intends to
Implement in 2018.

1. Strengthen tha prasance of the hoard in jang-term issues and strategy.
2.Enhanca reporting to the hoard an the parzeplion of slgnificant third parties and, In particular, customers and

invastars,

3.Revise the perfod of time between information supplied to the directors and the meetings.

4. Assess the compéetencies and capabilitizs of the Board of Directors and analysis possible areas to strengthen.
a. Agree and revise the lraining plan for the Board of Directors and, in particular, for new directors.

6. Bxtend the duraton of the Audit Committee meetings.

€.1.20. bis Describe the assessment pracess and the areas that have been assessed by the board of
directors aided, as appropriate, by an external consultant, with respect to the diversity of its
composition and duties, the funstioning and composition of its committees, performance of the
Chairman of the Board of Directors and the Chief Executive of the company and the

performance and confribution of each director.

The Board of Directors at NH Hotel Group has ceollaborated with KPMG, an independent, specialisl firn, to respond to
Recommendation 36 of the Code of Good Governance of Listed Companies of the Spanish Natianal Securities

Market Commission.

The aurvey addressed the fallowing topics:

A) Methadalogy of Baard of Director and Commitiee mestings
- Board of Directors

- Execulive Committes

= Audit Committee
= Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Govemance Committee

B) Carporate Gavemance

- Functloning

- Information

- Roles of the Board

- Informatian 1o Third Parties
C) 3trategic Planning

D) Qperational and Financial Supervision
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- Time

- Precedures

- Audit Committee Information

- Risk |dentification and Supervision

C.1.20 b Break down, as appropriate, the business relationship that the consultant or any company
within its group maintains with the company or any company in its group.

Mot signtficant, very specific and concrate business relatianships.

C121 Indicate cases in which Directors are compelled fo resign.

Directors shall step down when the periac far which they were appointed comes to an end ar when agreed by the
General Shareholders' Mesting based on tha powars legally attributed to it.

Article 14,2 of the Regulations of the Board of Directors aisp stipulates that Directors shall place their office at the
disposal of the Board of Directors and terder their resignation in any of the following circumstances:

a) When they are removed from the executlve offices with which their appoiniment as a Director was associated or where the
reasons for which they have heen appoiniad ara na langer valid. Such a circumsiance shak be undersgiood to apply to

Proprietary Directors when the entlty or husiness group lhey rapresant caasas to hald a significani sharaholding in the
Company's share capltal or when, In the case of indepandent Directors, they become an executive of the Campany or of any

of its subsidiaries.

b) Where they are subject to any incapadty, disquallification. prohibition ar canflict of interests astablished in current lagal
provisians.

¢) Where they are seriously reprimanded oy the Appalntments, Remunaration and Corporate Govemanca Committee far
failing to comply with any of their ocbligaticns as Directors.

d) When their continued presence on the Board may affect the good standing or reputation that the Company enjoys In
the market, or put its interests at risk in any other way. In this case, the Director must immediately inform the Board of the

facts ar pracedural difficulties that affect ¢aid reputation or sk

C122 Paragraph repealed.

C123 Are reinfarced majerities other than those applicable by law required for any type of decision?:

Yes [ X No

If s0, describe the differences.

Des'crip_lion of the differences

For the appaintment of Directors with direct or indirad inlerests of any type in, or an employment, professional, commercial
aor any other relationship with compatitor companies, a vate in favour by 70% of the Board members is required {Artide

11.3 of the Board regulations).

C124 Explain if there are any specific requirements, ather than thase relating to Directars, ta be
appointed Chairman of the Board of Directars.

Yes Nao [X

G125 Indicate whether the Chairman has the casting vote:

Yes | X No
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C126

C127

C.128

G129

Matters for which there ias a caating vote

Resoluttians will he passad by absclute majarty of the votes of the directors aftending the meeting. In the svanl of a tie,
tha Chairman, or tha Vica-chairman subsiituting iham, shall havs tha casting vote.

Indicate whether the Articles of Association ar the Board Regulations establish any age limit
for Directors:

Yes No [X

State whether the articles of assaciation ar the Board Regulations establish a limited mandate
for independent Directors, other than as provided for in the legal regulations:

Yes Mo |X

Indicate whethetr the Articles of Association or the Regulations of the Board of Directors
establish specHic rules for delegating votes ta the Board of Directars, how this should be done,
and in particular, the maximum number of delegations any Director may have, and whether
there is any limit as ta the director categary to which votes may be delegated, other than the
limitations imposed by law. If se, give a brief summary of these rules.

Articla 4D of the Articles of Assoclation se's the rules araund delegafing votes, stating that "Diractors shail personally attend
Board maatings and, whan thay ars unakla to do so In exceptional circumstances, shall ansure that the proxy granted to
another membear of the Boand shall Inciuda the relevant Inslructions Insofar as possible.”

Simllarty, Article 22 of tha Beard Regulafizns In Implamenting sald article adds that "Non-exacutive directors can only
dslegats thelr vote t0 another non-executise director.®

The Board of Diractore has not governad the maximurn number of imes a Diractor may delegate their vote.

Indicate the number of meetings that the Board of Directors has held over the year. Also indicate,
as applicable, the nhumber of times that the Board has met without its Chairman attending. The

calculation of attendance includes representations made with specific instructions.

Number of Board meetings 11
Number of Board mestings not attended by the Chairman 0

If the Chairman is an executive directar, indicate the number of meetings held with no
attendance ar representation of any executive director and under the chairmanship of the

coordinating director.
l Numbsr of meatings 0

State the number of meetings held by the different Baard Committees over the year:;

Committe No. of Meetings
e
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 18
AUDIT ANC CONTROL COMMITTEE 10
APPOINTMENTS, REMUNERATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE g
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C130 State the number of meetings that the Board of Directors has held during the year with the
attendance of all of its members. The calculation of non-attendance includes representations

made with specific instructions:

Number of meetings attended by all the diractors 8
Attandances as a parcentage of total votes during the year 97.28%

C131 State whether the individual and consolidated financial statements that are presented to the
Board to be approved are certified in advance:

Yeas No |X

ldentify, as applicabie, the persan(s) that has/have certified the Company’s individual and
consolidated financial statemerts to be drafted by the Board:

C132 Explain, if applicable, the mechanisms established by the Board of Directors to prevent the
individual and consaolidated annual accounts it draws up from being submitted to the General
Meeting of Shareholders with qualifications in the auditors’ report.

Arlicle 4.2 of Ihe Regulations of the Baard astablishes that tha Board of Diraclars shall ensure the financial statements are
drawn up definitively sa that there is no nead for auditor qualifications. Nevertheless, when the Board considers that its criteria
shauld remain unchanged, it shall pubitcly explain the contant and scope of the discrepancies.

C133 Is the Secretary of the Board a Director?

Yes Na (X

If the secretary is not a director, complete the following table:

Name or company name of secrefary Representative
MR PEDRO FERRERAS DIEZ

C1.34 Paragraph repealed.

C1.35 State the mechanisms established by the Company, if any, to preserve the independence of
external auditors, financial analysts, investment banks and rating agencies.

The Board of Directors has established a stabile and profassional relationship with the Campany's external accounts auditor

through the Audit and Control Committee strictly respecting its Independence. By way of an example, the Audit and Control
Cammittee holds regular meetings with t-2 extemal auditor without the executive team being present. 1n this sense, article

25. b) of the Regulations of the Board of Directors expressly astabilshes that one of its responsibilities is to pass along ta the
Board of Directors proposals for selecting appointing, re-electing and substituting extemneal auditors, as well as canditions for

thair canfracting and regularly collecting information from them on the audit plan and its execution, in addition to presesving its
independence in exercising its functians.

Furthermare, tha Audil and Contral Commiitiee is respansible for establishing sultable reiationships with auditors or audit
firms in ordar ta receive information regarding any issues that may jeopardise their independence, so that these can be
examined by the committas, and any other matters related with the process of conducting financlal audits, as wall as any
othar communicaiions slipulated in the firancial auditing legislation and audit regulaiions.
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In any event, It must recelve wiitten conflirmation on an annual kasis from the audltors or auditing firms of their
independence from the Company or entltes related to it either directly or indirectly, as well as Infarmation on any
additional sarvice of any kind provided to auch entitias and tha correaponding fass racaived by the aforementioned

auditors ar by persons related to them In accordance with the pravisions set forth in legislation regarding auditing.

Likewise, every year, prior to [ssulng the zudlt report, the Audit and Control Committee must also Issue a report In which it
glves its aplnfan on the Indapendence of the audltors ar auditing firms. This repart must always contaln an assessment of
the additional services referenced In the zbove paragraph, considered individually and together, that are separate from
the legal audit and with regard to thelr Inc2pendence and to audit regulations.

C13 State whether the Company has changed its external auditar during the year. If so, please
identify the incoming and outgoing auditors:

Yes No |X

In the event that there were disagreements with the outgoing auditar, explain the caontent of the
disputes:

CA37 State whether the audit firm cardes out other work for the company and/or its group other than
audit work and if so, state the total fees paid for such work and the percentage this represents
of the fees billed te the company and/or its business group:

Yes No
Company Group Total
Amount for work othar than auditing {€ thousandg) 801 &8 999
Amount for work other tiran audit work / Total amount invoiced by the audit 78.03% 8,8% 28.03%
firm (%)

C138 State whether the audit report of the financial statements for the previous year included
qualifications or reservations. if so, state the reasons given by the Chairman of the Audit

Committee 1o explain the content and scope of these qualifications or reservations.

Yes No |X

C1.39 State the number of consecutive years in which the current audit firm has audited the annual
accounts of the Company and/or its group. Also, indicate how many years the current audit firm
has been auditing the accounts as a percentage of the total number of years aver which the

annual accounts have been audited.

Company Group
Numbar of consacutive years 25 25
Number of years audited by the current audit irm ) Number of years that the company has 80,65% 80,85%
been audited {%)

C140 Indicate and, if applicable, provide details of whether there is a procedure whereby directors

can receive external advice:;

Yes | X

Na

Detalls of the procedure
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Article 28 of the Regulations of the Boart of Directors expressly states that directars may requesl the use of legal, accounting
or financial advisers, or other experts, paid far by the Company, to help them in the discharga of their dutles. Such help must
relate to specifically defined and ¢compiex prablems that arlse In the course of their work. The decisian to emplay such
services must be communlcated to the Chalman of the Company and implemented through the Secrstary of the Board,
unless the Board of Directors considers that such services are not necessary ar appropriate.

C141 Indicate and, if applicable, provide details of whether there is a procedure whereby Directors can
have the information necessary to prepare for meetings of the management bodies with
sufficient time:

Yes | X No

Details of the b}baedum

Accarding to artida 21 of the Regulations of the Board, the annocuncement of the meeting, which will be published at least
threa days bafora tha date of the meeting, will include a preview of the likely agenda for the meeting and will be accompanied
by tha nacassary written informatian that is avaiabie.

Furthermore, article 27 of the aforementicned Regulations [ndlcates that Directors must dlllgently inform themselves of the
Campany's progress, and to that end, callect any necessary or pertinent infarmation in order to correctly perform thelr duty.
To ihis end, the Board has been assigned the broadest poessible powers to gain Information about any aspect of the
Campany,; to examine ils books, registers and documents and any other Information conceming its operatlons. Sald right to
information ks also extended to the various subsidiary campanles that are Included in the consolldated group, Inscfaras it Is
necessary for the Rirector ta correctly perforn thelr functlons as referred to in arlicle 6 of said Regulatlons.

With the alm of not disturbing the Company's normal managemsnt, the exarcise of the right to information will bs channellsd
through the Chalman or Secretary of the 3aard of Directars, who will réespond to requests fram Directors by directly providing
him#/her the Infoymation or putting them in tcuch with the appropriate peaple in the suitable (evel of the organisation. Vith the
alm of belng asslsted In the exerclse of their functions, the Directors may obtain the necassary consulting from the Company
to perfarm thelr functlons. In speclal circumstances, they may even requast that the Company hire legal, accounting ar financial
consultants or ather experts. Such help must relata ta specifically defined and complex problems that arise in the course of
thelr work. The declslon to employ such sarvices must be communicated ta the Chaimman of the Company and implamentad
through the Secretary of the Board, uriess the Board of Directors considers that such senvices are not necessary or
appropriate.

C142 State and, if applicable, provide details on whether the company has established rules that
require directors to report and, as applicabile, resign in those cases where the company’s
credibility and reputation may b= harmed.

Yes | X Na

Explain the rules

The Regulatlons of the Board includes a mechanism to oblige lha Diractors to provide immediate notification of all legal
proceedings In which they may be adversely affected.

[n this way, arfide 14.2.d) of the Regulaticrns of the Board of Directars of NH Halel Group, 5.A., expressly estahblishes
that Directors shall place thsir office at the disposal of the Board af Directors end tender their reaignation when their
continued presence on the Baard may affsct the good standing or reputatian that the Company enjoys in the market, ar
put [ts interests at risk in any othier way. Ir. this case, the Director must immediately infarm Ihe Board of the facts or
procedural difficulties that affect said reputation or risk.

It also establishes that in all events, those subject to any incapacity, disqualification, prohibilion or conflict of interests sel
forth in current Iegislation may not he proposed for appointment as Board members.

C143 State whether any member of the Baard of Directars has notified the Company ihat they have
been prosecuted or issued with a summons for oral proceedings in relation 1o the offences
indicated in Articie 213 of the Spanish Capital Companies Act:

Yas | X No
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Name of the director:

MR JOSE ANTONIC CASTRO SQUSA

Criminal Proceadings:

Qrder dated 15 January 2015 to proceed to trial in the Proceadings abbreviated 91/2013 heard by
Examining Magistrates’ Courl no. ¢ of L'Hospitalet de Liobregat for alleged crimes referred te in article 213
of the Corparsie Entarprises Act,

Remarks:

On 22 February 2018 tne A.P. of Barcalons has issued a judgement of fotal acquitial.

State whether the Board of Directors has studied the case. If so, give a reasoned sxplanation
of the decision as to whether or not the Director should continug in his or her post, or if
applizable, describe the aclions taken by the Board of Directors Up 1o tha date of this report, or
those it intends to take.

Yas [X No :’

Decision madefaction takan:

The Board analysed the case at its meeting on 11 Navember 2015 without adapling any decision in thai
regard, under the constit.tional principle of presumption of innocence and congidering thaf their continued
presancs on the Board does not affect tha Company’s standing or reputation, nor does it put its interests
at risk in any way,

Reasconed explanatian:

The Boarg, at its mesting on 11 Novamber 2015 analysed the case and was informed of the legal
framework {0 be considered {art. 24.2 of the Spanish Gonstilufion, articles 213 and 223 of the Corparate
Enlerprises Act, articles 37.2 d) of the Arliclas of Association and 14,2.0} of the Regulations of the Board
of Directors, as well as recommsndation 22 of the Code of Good Governancs of Listed Companies), and
unanimously decided ta zcknowledge the information offerad by the Directors, without adopting a decision
in that regard, undar ihe constitutional principle of presumption of innacence and considaring that their
conlinued presence an the Board does nol affect the Company's standing or reputation, nor dees it put its
inferesls at risk in any way,

C144 List the significant agreements signad by the company and that come into force, are madified or
are terminated in the case of a change in control of the company resuiting fram a {ake-over bid,
and their effects.

The NH Haie! Group has signed several financing contracts that comtain a dause establishing their early malurily in the
event of circumstances giving rise to a change in control of NH Holal Group, S.4. In additon, NH Hotel Graup, S.A. tssued
convertitle bonds on @ Mavember 2013, as well a8 guaranteed senior honds dated 23 Seplember 2018 and 4 April 2017,
which nclude certain consequences in tha evant of a change in contral ot Ihe Isauar, Buch as the possibitity of NH Holsf
Group, S.A. being reguired 1o repurchase the senior bonds ur adjust the canversion price for convertible bonds,

In addilion, there are hotel managemert contracts signeg by Group subsidleries ir wnich Grupo Inversor Heaperia, 5.A. (Glhsa)
Can exercise, in accordance with tha tame of a Framework Agreement signad by the Comparry, the power 13 resolve all such
coniracts in lhe eveni of 8 change of control of NH Hotel Group, 8.A. If BUGh power is exercised, Gihsa must pay the Company.
as & preconditian for the resclution by change of control to take sffas. amounts as speciled in the Agreament Framewerk in
compensation for tha elfects derivad rem the resolution of hote! management contracts.

Finally. the change of conlrai following a public takeove: bid could have diffarent aMacts an olher leasing and hotel
managemenl agregments signed by the Company,
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C.146 |dentify, in aggregate form, and indicate in detail the agreements between the company and its
directors, managers or employees providing compensation, guarantee or protection in the event
of their resignation or wrongful dismissal, or upon conclusion of the contractual relationship due
to a take-over bid or other transactions.

Number of beneficiaries: 1
Type of heneficiary:
A member of Saniar Managament.

Description of Agreement:

In order to encourage loyalty and permanence in the Company, compensation has bean pravidad for which
may be more than the amourt resulting from applying legal regulations, in the event of unilateral termination
by the Company. This amcunt will be equal to one times the fixed annual salary and the last bonus

received, except in the case of disciplinary dismissal.

Indicate whether these contracts must be communicated to, and/ar approved by the governing
bodies of the company or its group:

Board of Directora General Sharaholders'
Meating
Body that authorises the clauses Yes No
Yes| No
Is the General Shareholders' Meeting notiled of the clauses? X

C.2 Cammittees of the Board of Directors

C.2.1 List all the committees of the Board of Directars, their members and the proportion of Executive,
Proprietary, Independent and other external Directors thereon:

EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

Name Position Category
MR JOSE ANTONIQ CASTRO SOUSA CHAIRMAN Proprietary
MR ALFREDO FERMANDEZ AGRAS DEPUTY CHAIRMAN Proprietary
GRUPQO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A MEMBER, Proprietary

[ MR RAMON ARAGONES MARIN MEMBER Executive

MR PAUL JOHNSON MEMBER independent
% of Executive Directors S 20.00%
% of Proprietary Directars 60.00%
% of Independent Directors 20.00%
% of other extsrnal directors B | 0.00%

Explain the functions of this committee, describe its organisational and working procedures and
rules and summarise its most important activities during the financial year.



Tha Executive Committee shall comprise at least lhree but no more than nine directors, appointed by the Board of
Direclors.

In terms of the qualitative compasition of -ne Executive Committee, the Board shall ensure that the different types of director
represented will be similar to that of the main Board and its secretary will be the secretary of the Board. The Chairman of the
Executive Committee shall be chosen by the body itself fram the Directors that comprise it. The Chaiman of the Executive
Committee may he a director other than the Chairman aof the Board of Directors.

The Chairman of the Executive Cammitte2 shall altemate turns presiding the General Shareholders' Meeting with

the Chairman of ihe Board aof Directars.

In alil avents, the valid appointment or re-election of members of the Executive Committee shall require the favaurable
vote of at least two thirds of the members of the Board of Directors.

Given its delsgated powers, the Executive Committee will resalve gll those issues not reserved far the exclusive
compstency of the plenary Board of Direciors by law or the Articles of Assodation, reporting to the Board.

The Executiva Committae will provide pric- examination of thase issues submitted to the plenary Board of Directors which
have not been previously examined ar oroposed by the Appointments, .Remuneration and Ceorporate Govemance

Cammilitee or the Audit and Cortrol Commitiea

The Executlve Commilttee has tha missior of providing perspective and 2 broad vision both ta the Board of Directars and
the executive team, providing their experience in the preparation of relevant materials, training and guidance an mafters
that are key to the Campany's future, theraty facilitating Ihe Board of Directars' dedsion-making process in 1he matters of
thelr competence.

The Executive Committee may apply said funclion to matters such as:
1. Investments and financing

2. Strategy for acquisltlons and !dentifying possible objectives

3. Business model

4, Cost structure

5. Long-term vision in asset management; and

6. Group structure

The Executive Committee will meet as many times as it is convened by its Chairman, and its Secretary and Deputy
Secretary will be those wha perform the identical pasitions on the Board of Directors. The Executive Committee shall he
validly convened when half plus one of its nnembers with a right to vate are present or represented at the meeting.

Resolutions shall be passed by a majority of the direclors at the meeting with the right to vate (in person or by praxy), with
the Chairman hoiding the casting vote in the event of a tie.

Furthermars, non-mamber Directors may attend Executive Commitiee meetlngs on a one-off basls, when inviled by
tha Chairman of the Committee.

Tha Exacutive Committea shall natify the Beard of Directors of the matters discussed and the declslons made at its
meaalinga.

State whether the compaosition of the delegate or executive committee reflects the participation
on the Board of different categories of directors:

Yes E Na [X

i not, axplain the composiiion of the Delegate or Executive Commiftee

The Executivea Cammiittea is compassd of ane Executive Director, three Proprietary Directors and ¢ne Independent Director.
Although the Segretary and Deputy Secreary of the Executive Committee serve in the same paosilions on the Boand of
Directors, the compasition of tha Exacutive Committee s not the same as the Board in terms of the different categories of
Directors.

AUDIT AND CONTROL COMMITTEE

Neme - Position Category
MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPETIA CHAIRMAN Indepandant
MS MARIA GRECNA MEMBER Independent
MR JOSE MARIA SAGARDOY LLONIS MEMBER Independent
% of Propristary Diractora 0.00%
% of Independent Directors 100.00%
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% of other external directors | 0.00%

Explain the functions aof this cammittee, describe its arganisational and working procedures and
rules and summarise its most important activities during the financial year.

The Audit and Contgrol Committee shall comprise a minimum of three and a maximum of six diractors, appalnted by the
Board of Directors. Al members sitting ar said Committee shall be Extemal Directors, the majority of wham, at Jeast, must
be irdependent directors, and ane of whem must be designated by taking into cansideralion their knawladge and experence
in accounting, auditing, or both,

The Chairman of the Audit Commitiee must be appeointed from among its independent mambers. The Chalrman must also be
replaced every four years; previous chairmen may be re-elecied one year after their previous mandate has ended,

The Audit Committee will have at least the following responsibilities:
1. Report to the General Meeting of Shareholders on any matters broached within the sphare of its competence.

2. Supervige the effectiveness of the comaany's intemal canlral, intamnal auditing, where applicable, and risk-
manegement {including tax risk) systems, as wel! as discussing with auditors ar audit campanies any slgnificant
weaknesses in the internal control system identified during audits.

3. Oversee he pracess of drawing up anc submitting regulated financial reparting.

4. Pass alang ta the Board of Directars praposals for selecting, appainting, re-glecting and subslituting extemal auditors, as
well as conditions for their contracting and ragulary collecting Informatien from them on the audlt plan and its execution, in
additian to prasaning its independanca in axercising ils functions.

3. Establish suilable relatianships with auditors or audlt firms In order to recetve Information regarding any issuas that may
jeopardise thair indepandenca, sa that these can be examined by the committee, and any other matters related with the
pracass af conducting financial audits, as well as any other communlcatlons stipulated In the financial auditing legislation and
audit regulations. In any event, it must recaise wriiten confirmation on an annual basts from the auditars or auditing finms of
their independance fram the Campany or ariitles related ta It elther directly or indirectly, as well as information an any
addilional sarnvica of any kind providad tn =uch entities and the comesponding fees recelved by the aforemenlioned auditors or
by persons related to them in accordance with the provisions set farth In leglslation regarding auditing.

8. [ssue, once a year and prlor to the relezse of the auditar's report an the financial stalements, a repart expressing 2n
cpinton an the Independence of the auditess or audit firms. This report must always contain an assessment of the additional
services referenced In the above paragrapn, cansidered individually and together, that are separate from the [2gal audit and
with regard to their independence and to zudlt regulatians,

7. Provide previous Informatian for the Boerd of Directors an all matters established by law, the articles of assaclation
and In the Regulation of the Board, and, in particular on:

a. The financial information which the company musi periodically publish;

b. The creation or acquisition of any equity investments in special purpose vehicles and companies ragistered in tax havens;
and

¢. Related parly operations.

8. Safeguard the independence and effectiveness of the internal audit area; propose the selection, appsintment, re-election
and remaoval of the manager of the intemeai audit service; propose the budget for this service; recalvs pariadic information
about its activities; and verify that senior management tekes into eccount the conclusions and recommendations of its

reports.

9. Set up and oversee a mechanism that £'lows employees confidentislly and anonymously ta report any breaches of
the Code af Canduct.

10. Supenise campliance and intemal coces of conduct, as well as the niles of corporate gavemance.

The Audit and Cantral Committee will mee: at least once svery quartsr and as many timas as may be necessary, after being
called by the Chairpersan an their own iniliative or upon tha requaest of wo af tha Committee or the Board of Directars.

The Audit and Control Committas may raquire any of the Company's emplayses or managers. including the

Company's Accaunts Auditar, ta attend its mesiings.

Thraugh its Chairman, the Audlt and Contral Committes will give the board an acsount of its activities and work done, sithier at
the maatings schedulad for the purposs or at the very next meeting when the Chairman of the Audit and Contral Committee
deems it necessary. The minutas of (ts meatngs will ba availabie ta any member of the board that requests them.

Non-mambar Directors may attend Audit and Contral Commitiee meelings on a one-off basis, when invited by tha
Chairman of the Committee,
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Identify the director appointed as member of the audit committee taking into account their
knowledge and experience of accountancy, auditing, or both, and report on how many years
the chairman of this committee has held the post.

Namp of the experiancad directar MR FERNANDO LACADENA AZPEIT(A
No of years chalman |n post - 0

APPOINTMENTS. REMUNERATION AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Name Position Catagory
MR JOSE MARIA SAGARDOY LLONIS CHAIRMAN “Independent
MR JOSE MARIA CANTERO MONTES-JOVELLAR MEMBER Independent
GRUPQO INVERSOR HESPERIA, S.A MEMBER Propdetary
MR JOSE MARIA LOPEZ-ELOLA GONZALEZ MEMBER - Independent
% of Proprietary Directors 25.00%
% of Independent Directors 75.00%
% of other external directors 0.00%

Explain the functions of this committee, describe its arganisational and warking procedures and
rules and summarise its most irmportant activities during the financial year.

The Appoiniments, Remuneration and Corporate Gavernance Committee shali comprise a miniraum of three and maximum
of six Directors and shall be exclusively ncn-executive directars appointed by the Board of Direclers, two of whom, at least,
must be independent Direclars. The Chairman of the Committee shall he chosen by the Independent Directors that

comprise it

The Appointments, Remuneration and Cormporate Governance Committee will have at least the fallowing responsibilities:
1. Evaluate the skills, knawledge and experience necessary on the Board of Directors, For these purposes, it shall
define the abilities and functions required 2y candidates to cover each vacancy, and assess the time and dedication
required 1o correctly canry out their functions.

2, Establish a representaticn goal for the Jass represented sex on the Board of Directors and create guidelines far how ta
achieve said goal,

3. Pass along to the Board of Directors proposals for appointments of Independent Rirectors for their designatian by co-
apting or far their submission to the decisian of the General Sharehalders' Meeting, as well as proposals for the re-alection
or remaval of said Direclors by the Generzl Shareholders' Meeting.

4, Inform the Board of proposals for appointments of remaining Directors far their designation by co-opling or far thair
submission fo the decision of the General Shareholders' Meeting, as well as propasals for their reelectian ar ramoval hy the

General Sharehalders' Meeting.

5. Provida nolification of propasals for appainting ar remaving senior managamant and {he basic conditions of thelr contracts.

6. Examina or arganisa the Chairman of the Baard's and tha chiaf axacutive’s succesasion and, if appropriate, bring proposals
bafara tha Board sa that such succassiang ara effactad in an ardary faghiaon.

7. Propose to the Board of Directars the remumeration pollcy for the Directors and general managers or for those who
perform functicns of upper management that are directly dependent upon the Board, the Executive Commlttees
or Chlef Executlves, as well as IndMdual ramuneration and other cantractual condltlons for executive directors, ensuring

thelr compliance.

8. Supervise and monltor compliance with corporate govemance rules and with the comorate social responsibility policy
and plan, proposing any necessary Repars to the Board.

9. Periodically evaluate the suitability of th2 corporate governance system, with the aim of ensuring that it fuffils its
missian of pramoting the company's interests.

The Board of Directors shall be informed cf all the tasks carried out by the Appaintments, Remuneration and Carporate

Covemance Committee during its first meeling, and in all events the comespanding docurnentation shall be made
available to the Board so thal it can take these actions into consideration when performing its duties.

27



The Appointments, Remuneration and Corparale Govemance Cammittee shall meet as often as considered necessary by lis
Chaimrman, or when requested by twe of ils members or the Baard of Direclars.

Furthemmere, non-member Directors may attend Appoimtmants, Remuneration and Carporata Governance Committee
megings on a one-off basts, when invited by the Chairman of the Committes.

C.2.2 Fill in the table below with the information relating to the number of female directors on Board of
Directors' committees in the last four financial years:

Number of female
. o __dlrectors
2017 2016 20156 2014
Number % Mumber % Number % Numbar %
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE {0 (0.00% 0 0.00% ) 0.00% { 0.00%
AUDIT AND CONTRQOL 1 33.00% 1 20.00% 1 20.00% d 0.00%
CONMMITTEE !
APPQINTMENTS, o| 0.00% 1| 16,70% 1] 20.00% | a| 0.00%
REMUNERATION AND
CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE
COMMITTEE

C.2.3 Paragraph repealed
C.2.4 Paragraph repealed.

C.2.5 Indicate, as applicable, the existence of regulations governing the commitiees attached to the
Board, where they are available for consultation and any amendments that have been made to
them during the year. Also state whether an annual report on the activities of each committee
has been voluntarily drafted.

The Company Articles of Assaciation {(Articles 45 - 48), and the Regulations of the Baard of Diredtors (Arlicles 23 - 26)
comprenensively cover all regulations reialing ta the Board's Committees. The aforementioned intemal regulatians of the
Company are avallable on the campany wzbsite (www.nh-hotels.es), in the section "Infarmalion for Shareholders" -
"Corporate Governance™. Safd webslte alsd includes all information regarding the composition of each Committee.

The Audit and Control Cammittee and the Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Governance Committee annually
issue a report an the activilies they have carried out during the financial year.

C.2.8 Paragraph repealed.

E RELATED AND IN-GROUP TRANSACTIONS

D.1 Explain the procedure, if any, to apprave transactions with related parties and parties within the
group.

Procedure for reporting approval of related party transactions

Articles 33.1.c) of tha Articles of Assaciatian and 5.5.¢) of the Board Regulatians assign the Baard of Clrectors the duty of approving
related party transactians, understoad ta be transacticns between the Company and Oirectors, significant sharsholders or bodies
represented on the Board, or people associated with them, as defined in tha LSC. This appraval will follow a repart by the Audit and
Control Cammittee (Artide 48.4 of the Artides of Asscciation and 25 b} of the Board Regulztions).
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Aulhonsatian of the Board shell not be required however, for relaled parly transactions thal simultaneously meet the following thres
conditions:

1. That are camried out under agreements with standzndised conditionss and are applied in a general way o numeraus clients;

2. That are carried out at generally eslablished rates or prices, set by the supplier af the good ar sesvice; and

3. Operatians with a quantity that does nat exceed 1% of the campany’s annual revenues.

Additianally, on 26 March 2014 the Board of Directars approved a Pracedure an Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactiong,
avaiablke on the Company's website, which includes the approval of such fransactions in grealer detail. In this way, the aforementioned
Praceduwe impiements the provisions of the Regulations of the Board of Directars and the Intemal Cade of Conducl an the Securitias
Market of the NH Hotel Group, S.A., and aims ta detzil the rules to be followed in those transactions the Group performs with Directors,
wilh people subject fo rules of conflict of interest, or with major shareholders. Said Procedure establishes in detail everything relative to i)
the written comimunication that must be submitted by sharecholders or Directors regarding transactions to be performed by them or thair
respeclive Related Parties to the Secretary of the Baard of Directors, who will send it to the Audit and Caontral Commiitee periodically for
its review and, if necessary, to be passed alang to the Board, provided that it does not fall within the pre-gstablished criteria of cases that
da nol have to be submitted ta the Board; and ii) the abligation of maintaining a rnegistry of said transactions.

D.2 List transactions which are significant for their amount ar relevant due to their subject, between the
campany or entities in its group, and significant shareholders of the company:

Name or husineas name Name or comazany name Nature of Amount
of the major shareholder of the company or the Type of transaction {thousand
group company retationshi of eurcs}
P
GRUPQ INVERSOR HOTELES HESPZRIA, S.A. Contractual | Managsment contracts 2,191
HESPERIA, S.A
+ HNA GROUF CO UMITED HOTEL Confractual | Operating lease contracts ga4
EXPLOITATIEMAATSCHAPPL
. DIEGEM N.V |

D.3 List transactions which are significant for their amount or relevant due to their subject, between the
company or entities in its group, and the managers or directors of the company:

D.4 Repaort on the significant transactions carried out by the company with ather entities belonging to the
same group, provided they are not eliminated in the process of drafting the consolidated financial
statements and do not form part of the Company's normal business in relation to its purpose and
conditions.

In all cases, any in-group transaction with entities established in countries or territories considered tax
havens will be reported:

Business name of the entity in its group:

SOTOCARIBE, S.L.

Amount {€ thousands): 7,382
Brief description of the

transaction: _LOAN
D.5 State the amount of the transactions carried out with other related parties.

D.6 Describe the mechanisms established to detect, determine and resolve possible conflicts of interest
between the Company and/ar its Group, and their directors, managers or major shareholders.

Article 32 af the Regulatians of the Board establishes the duty of layalty and the duty te prevent situations of conflict of imterast that tha
Directors must comply with. Thus, the afarementioned article states thal Directors must perform their duties with the layalty of a faithful
representative, operefing under good faith end in the Campany's best interast. [n particular, the duty of kayalty abliges Directors ta:

a) Not exerciae their powera far purposes other than (nose for which they have been canceded.
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b) Keap tha infcrmation, data, reparts or background thal they have had access to In the performance of their duty confidential, even
when they havea left the position, except for cases whare allowed ar required by the law.

c) Abstain from participating In the dellberatlon and vating for agreements and decisions in which they or an assaciate have a direct ar
indirect conflict of interasts. Those agreements or deslslons that affect thelr position as a Director shall be exduded from the above
requirament to abstain, such as their selaction or removal for positlons In the administratian body or others of similar significance.

d) Parfarm thair duties under the princlple of persanz! responsibility with freedom of criteria or judgement and independence with regard
{a instructions fram and connectlons to third partles.

a) Adopt tha nacessary measures for avalding sltuatlons In which his/her interests may enter into conflict with the company’s interests
and with his/her rasponsibliltles to the campany.,

In particular, avelding the situations of conflict of inte-est referred to in the above letter &), obliges the Director to abstain from:

1) Canrylng out transactions with the Company, excep! where they were ordinary transactions carried out under standard condilions
for cllents and of little importance, with these being understood to be those whose information is not necessary ta express the true
Image of the equlty, finandial situation and proftt and loss of the campany.

iy Using the Company name or their position as director to unduiy influence the complelion of private transactions.
iii) Making use cf company assets, including canfideritial Company infarrnation, for private purposes,
Iv) Exploiting the Company's business appartunities.

v) Receiving benefils or remuneration from third partias other than the Campany and its Group of associate companies while canrying
out my duties, except where these wera mere acts of courlesy,

vi) Camying aut activities on their awn account, ar far third parties, which would entail either actual ar polential effective
competition with the Company or which, in any other say, would place them in permanent corflict with the Company's Interests,

The above provisions shall also be applicable in the case that the beneficiary of tha prohibited acts or activitles Is an associate of the
Director, in accordance with the definitian provided ir: article 231 LSC.

The Campany may waive the prohibitions set aut in this arlicle, as established in article 230 LSC.

In any event, directors must notify the Beard of Directars of any direct or indirect situation of canfilct of Interest that they ar their
associates may have with the Company.

Situations of conflict of interest involving Directars will be subject to inclusion in the Annual Report.

Forthe purposes of the provisions of this Regulation, assoclates are deflned as those persons referred to in Article 231 of tha Ravisad
Text of the LSC.

Additionally, on 26 March 2014 the Board of Directors approved a Procedure on Conflicts of Interest and Related Party Transactions,
availabie on the Company's website. which includes the approval of such transactlons In greater detai, In this way, the aforamentionad
Procedurs implements the provisions of the Regulaticns of the Boand of Directars and the Internal Code of Conduct on thae Sacurities
Markat of the NH Hotel Group, S.A., and aims to detz[ the rules to be followed when the Company’s interests or those of any of its
Group's companies directly or indirectly clash with a Clrector's personal Interests. Sald Procedure esiablishes in detad everything ralative
lo i) the obligation of communicating possible situations of conflict of Interest to the Secretary of the Board, who will send them to tha Audit
and Cantral Committee periodically; ii) the obligation of the affected Director te abstain from attending and intervening in tha phases of
delibaration and voting regarding those matters in which they are Involved In a conflict of Interest, both in meetings of the Baard of
Directors as well as before any other company body, commlittee or board that particlpates In the corresponding transaction or dacision,
and iii) the obligation of keeping a registry of said frarsactions.

D.7 Is more than one company in the Group listed in Spain?

Yas Na (X

|dentify the affiliate companies listed in Spain:

Listed Subsidiary Company

Indicate whether the respective areas of activity and the corresponding business relations
between them have been publicly defined in detail, as well as the areas and relations of the

listed subsidiary company with the other companies in the Group;
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State any possible business relationships hetween the parent
company and the listed subslidiary, and between the latter and other

State the mechanisms created far resolving any canflicts of interest between the listed
subsidiary and the other compénies in the Group:

| Mechanisms for resolving poaaible canflicta of interest

RISK CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

E.1Explain the scope of the company’s Risk Management System, including tax risks.

The NH Hatel Group {herelnafier Grupa NH) risk maiagement system is applicable to all the companies over which NH haa effective
control.

NH's risk management system aims 1o identify events that may negatively affect achievement of the objectives of the company’s
strateglc plan, providing the maximum level of assurance to sharehalders and stakeholders and protecting the goup's revenue and

reputation.

The model set up {0 manage risks is based on the ERM {Enterprise Risk Management) methodology and includes a set of
methodologies, procedures and support teols which enable NH to:

1. Identify the most significant risks that could affect achievement of stretegic objectives

2. Anailyse, measure and assess such risks depending on their probability of cccumence along with their impacl, which is assassed
from a financial and reputational paint of view

3. Prioritise such risks
4. ldentify measures to mitigate such risks based on the graup's risk appetite. This is firned up by defining risk managers and

setting up action plans agreed by the Management Committee.
3. Moniter miigation measures sl up far the main risks
6. Penodically update nsks and their assessment

Such methadelogies and pracedures are also used in refalian ta tax risk management,

NH Group has a Corparate Tax Strategy thal fonms part of the Group's Corporate Govemance System, the objective of which ts ta
estehlish the values, principles and rules that must govern the Group's activities in terns of tax, with a Tax Rlsk Managemeni and
Contral Procedure.

E.2ldentify the company bodies responsible for creating and impiementing the Risk Management System,
including tax risks.

Baoard of Directars
The entily's Baard of Directors is reaponsgibla for nverseaing the risk management system, in lirs wlih the pravisions of Article 5 of the

Regulstion of the Board of Directorg, including tax ris<s.

Audit and Canlral Committea
As regulated by paregraph 3 of article 25 b} of the Rejulation of the company’s Board of Directors, the Audil and Cantrol Committee

supparts tha Board of Diractors in supervising the effectiveness of the Company’s Intemal control, internal audit, if appropriste, and
tha risk managamaentk systeme, including tax risks, In additlon to discussing significant weakneasses in lhe intemal control system
datected during audit with tha auditars of accoums or audit firms.

Executive Committze on RIsks

In May 2017, the creatfon of an Executive Caommittee on Risks was approved to support the periadic monitaring of risks {manitoring
of action plans and KRIs — Key RIsk Indleators), supgart initiatives and activities related to the implementation of eclion plans, 2s
weil as creating a culture of risks in the company. This Committee met twice in 2017.

Management Committee
The Management Commiftee meets weekly and is made up of the Chief Officers or heads of general management far each area. The
Management Committee’s duties include, amongst others, risk management and control based on the rigk appetite. Tax risk cantral falls

ta the Finance department,
Furthermore. NH has the following committees:

Revenue Committee: In charge of monilaring revenue and defining such action plans as needed ta achiava objectives based on the

farecast of future demand.,
Assets Committee: Reviews the optimisatian of hatel spaces, rant renegotialions and the axit plan from NH's partfollo.
Expansion Committee: In charge of scrutinising invesiment eppartunities and managing risks assodated with Investment portfolio

managemeant,
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Investment Committee: In cherge of monitoring and cantroiling risks related ta hotel refurbishment and re-branding

projects.
Experience and Innovation Commiltze: In charge of manitoring the implementatian of experience improvement initiatives, their results

and proposing new projects.
Pricing Committee: In charge of monitaring the implemeantalion of pricing and revenue management strategy, its resulls and proposing

improvements.
Results Committee. Respanse for manitoring the incame statement, detecling deviances and implementing measures ta resolve

them.
Operating Madei Commiittee: In charge of monitoring the implementation of the new operating model, in addition to ensuring efficiency in

terms of inherenl costs.

Transformation Commitiee: In charge of manitoring the implementation af the Group's transfarmation plan, which encompaasas
arganisational changes ta processes and systems. Ir charge of new projects Lhat require systems developments.

Jaint Venture China Project Cammittee: In charge of monitaring the JV in China and the development of the actians required fram

NH Hotel Group ta ensure it is successful.

Finance Department
The Finance Department is the department responsible far establishing the design, implementation and comprehensive maniloring of the

Group's intemal Financial Repariing contral system. The Corporate Tax Department forms part of the Finance Departmant and is
respansible far designing, implementing and monitoring the Group’s Tax Risk Management.

Slrategy Department
The Strategy Department is in charge of averseeing &l atrategic initiatives using Key Performance Indicatars (KPIs).

Risk and Compliance Function
The Risk and Compliance function, which is part af the Internal Audit department, is in charge of drawing up the Corporate Risk Map,
monitoring the KRI mesults momnthly as well as the implementation status of the action plans agresd with each risk manager and thelr

association with strategic objectives.
The risk map was updated during 2017 and approvec by the Board of Direclors at their meeting on 25 October 2017, In addlitlon, action

plans ware defined ta mitigate the main risks, as well as KRIs to camry out pariodic monitoring on them, setting suitable tolerance levels
for this.

E.3State the main rigks, including tax risks, which may affect business goal achievement.

a) Financlal Rlsks, such as fluctuation of Interest rates, exchange rates, Inflation, liquldhty, non-compllanee with financing

undestakings, restrictlons on financlng and credit maragement.

b) Compllance Risks, arising from possible regulatory changes, interpretatian of leglslation, regulatians and centracts, and non-
compliance with intermal and extemal regulations. Tax and emdronmental risks are included under this heading. It alse covers
Reputational Risks, arising from the company's behadour which negatively affects fulfliment of the expectations of one or more

of its stakeholders (shareholders, customers, supplie:s, employees, the enviranment and soclety in general).

) Business Risks generated by inadequaie managanment of procedures and resources, whether human, material or technaiogicsl. This
category includes the difficulty of adapting to changes in cusiomer demands and requirements, including those resulting fram Extemal

Risks caused by natural disasters, political instability or temorist attacks.
d) Systems Risks, produced by attacks or faults in infrastructures, communications networks and applications that may affact security

(physical and logical) and the integrity, availability or reliability of operational and financial information. This heading also indudas

business interruption risk
g) Strategic Risks, produced by difficulty accessing markets and difficulties in asset disinvestment.

E.4State whether the entity has a risk tolerance level, including for tax risk.

Grupo NH has defined 69 KRIs for [ts 15 maln risks which have been measured perodically since June 2017. Tolerance levels have
been dafined far each of the main KRis. When the KR! indicates a specific level of lolerance, the Risk Qwner |s asked to define mitigation

measures to bring the level of sk back tc the desired tolerance |evel.

For tax matters, the Group acts in line with Its Corporate Tax Strategy and the Tax Risk Management and Gontrot Procedure. On 11
November 20135, the Group approved its adherence t¢ the Good Tax Practices Code which was approved on 20 July 2010 in Lhe
plenary sesslon of the Large Companles Farum.

E.5State which risks, including fax risks, have had an impact over the year.

In relation to risks which have materialised and had a neggtive effect on the company in 2017, the fact that a significant exposure to
geopalitical riaks exiats must be nated. In this, the unstable situation in Catalonia had a negalive impadt on the company. Additionally,
albeit lo 2 lesser extent, the terrarist attack in Barceloa and the strang earthquake in Mexico alao affect company oparations.



Additlonally, the Company's group has subsidiaries in several countries with operating cumrencies other than the euro, the graup’s
referance currency. Fluctuations in the exchange rate of some of these subsidiaries {mainly Mexica, Colombia, Chile and Argentina)
negatively affected Investments and/or operatians cavied out by group companies in these subsidiaries.

With the exception of thase previeusly mentioned, nc ather risk materialised which had a negative impact. in any event, the Company's
risk management system has managed to identify, aralyse and adequately deal wilh those risks which threaten compliance of the
Organisathon's cblectives,

E.6Explain the response and supervision plans for the entity's main risks, including tax risks.

The design of the response to Riak takes into accaur: the cost/benefit analysis betweaean the impact of Risk and the actians to he
taken to manage it, the appetite and lolerance for Ris< and the strategic goals of the NH Group.

The NH Graup follaws Bn extensive coverage policy by taking out insurance policies for the risks to which it is exposed. It also
has a palicy of continuausly reviewing this coverage.

The Strategy Cepariment oversees the achievement of strategic goals by continuously monitoring strategic initiatives and detectlan of
new riaks.

The Intermal Audit Department, in the exercisa of its Risk and Campliance funclion, supervises implementatfon of respanse plans to
manage the main risks.

In each of the Risk Committee's meetings sinca its creation in May 2017, it has monitared the evolutlon of the KRIs as well and the
degree of implementation of the risk map's action plais. The Risks Map is updated annualiy.

Finally, since Novembar 2017, tha company has had a tool to automate the identlfication and assessment of risks. This tool will
contribute to significantly reducing the tims invalved in the planning and assessment of risks and controls and will be the only point of
information at a global level for risk management.

The Audit and Control Committee regulary carres ov: the followlng supervisory and contral functions, as specified in Article 25
b) of the Regulation of the Board of Directors:

Thae Tax Departmant oversees the Graup's tax risk management. The Group has approved a Tax Risk Management and Control
Procedure in order to identify and, as far as possible, mitigate any tax risk that may arise in Spain or in the countries in which the Group
operates.

INTERNAL RISK CONTROL AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS IN RELATION TO THE
FINANCIAL REPORTING PROCESS (SCIIF)

Describe the mechanisms making up the nsk control and management systems in relation to the
process of issuing financial reports (SCIIF) on your company.

F.1The company's control environment

Repart, indicating the main characteristics of at least:

F.1.1. What bodies and/or areas are responsible for: (i) the existence and maintenance of an
appropriate and effective financ'al reparting system; (ii) its implementation; (iii) its supervision.

Amangst athers, the Beard of Diractors has tha powers to detarmina the risk managament and control policy as well as the
intemal information and coentral systems as stated in section 3 of erticle 5 af ita gavarning rues. Likewise, 1he Board of
Directors is respansible for an suitable anc effectiva Internal Control System ragarding the Group's Finanalal Information
which aims to provide the Group with a reasonable assuranca as te tha reliability of tha financial information produced and
published on the financial markets.

Tha Graup's Financa Managament is raspansible for the design, Implementation and praper working of the SCIIF. During

2017, tha transition of the SCIIF definition and custody functions from [mtemal Audit to the Internal Control Department,
within Finance Managamant, wera finalised lo comply with the three Ines of defence of the COSO framework.
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The Audit and Cantral Commitlee is rasponsibfe for monitoring the effectiveness of internal control in accordance with
section b} of article 25 of the Board of Directars' gaveming rules. This responsibility is in tum delegated Lo the Internal Audit
Cepartment.

F.1.2. If the following elements exist, particulary in relation to the financial report generation process:

* Departments and/or mechanisms resaonsibie for: (i) designing and reviewing the crganisational structure; (ii} clearly
defining areas of responsibility and authority, with a suitable distribution of tasks and functions; and (iii) the
existence of sufficient procedures for these to be properly disseminated within the entity

Defining and reviewing Ihe organisatianal structure of the Group is the responsibility of the Management Committes.

Significant changes to tha organisation chart, i.8., those affecting Senior Management, are approvad by the Board of
Directors, after baing proposed by the Appointments and Remuneration Committes. Tha organisation chart is available
to all employeas on both the Group's intranet and s website,

Both the hierarchical and functional lines of responsibility are duly communicated to all Group employees. The Intermnal
communicatian channels are used for this, amongst which we highlight the imranet, executive meetings and Information
baoards in each hotal.

[n order to fulfil the objectives and respansibilities relating to maintenance and supsrvisian of the Financla! Reporting
Contral procass, specific functions have besen defined which apply to those responsible for each process Involved with
Financial Reporting, in order to ensure compliance with the implemented controls, analyse how weli they function, and
repart any changes ar incidents that mzy oceur,

Qn an ascending scale of responsibility, this structure includes the supervisors of each process In the area aof eontral, the
dlrectors of each buslness unit and the directors of each corporate area directly concerned wilh the pracesses related to
the Intemal Financlal Reporting Contrg! System.

Within Finance Management, the Intemal Cantral Department ks entrusted with recelving Infarmation from the different
Indlviduals responslble for the process and [s also respansibie for ensuring comect operation of the Internal Control
System.

« Code of conduct, the approval hody the degree of dissemination and instruction, includad principles and values
(indicating if there are specific memions of the transactions registar and the generation of financial reports), the
bedy in charge of analysing breaches and proposing corrective actions and penalties.

The NH Group has had a Code of Conduct since 2008, whose last review was approved in June 2015. Rasponsibilily for
appraving the Code of Conduct rests with the MH Group's Board of Directars. This documant affects all NH Group
employees, and applies not anly 1o emgloyees, managers and members of the Board of Diractars, but alap, in cartain
cases, to other stakehalders, such as cuistomers, suppliers, campetitors, sharehalders ard the communitias in which NH
runs itg hotals.

Tha Cods of Conduct summarises the professional conduct expacted of all emplayass at cantres operating under NH
Group's branda (hereinaftar, NH Group employsas), who ara coinmitted to scting with intaegrity, honesty, respact and
prafassionalism in tha parfermance of their work. The NH Graup is committed to complying with the [aws and regulations In
the countries a2nd jurisdictions in which it oparates. Thase include laws and regulations on healih and safety, discriminalion,
taxation, data privacy, competition, anfi-corruption, praventian of monay laundering and commitment to the enviranment,
The kay areas caverad by the Cada ars:

- Commitment tc people.

- Commltrnent 1o custamers.

- Commitrment from suppliers.

- Commitment to competitors.

- Commitment {0 sharehokders.

- Commitment to comimunities and sociaty.

- Commitment to the Group's assets, krowledge and resources.
- Obligations regarding fraudwent or uriethical practices.

- Commitment ta the stock market.

Since 2014, NH Group has driven the ¢reation of the Compliance functian, the scope aof which applies to the following
kay areas:

- Intemal Cade of Canduct: Sets aut minimum standards ta be respected in relatian to the purchass and sals of sacurities
and privileged and confidential information and its procesaing.



- Confiict of Interests Pracedure: Estakiishes the niles ta be followed in situations where there 1s a canflict of intereslts
balween the Company, or any of the campanies making up the Group, and the direct or indirect personal interests of the
Directars or persans subject to the condict of interests rules.

= Cade of Conducl: Intends to establish the main velues and rules which should govern the conduct and actions of each of
the employees and executives of the Graup, as well as the members of the governing badies of the companies that farm
part of the Group.

- Criminal Risk Prevenlion Model: Dessribes the crime prevention and management principles in place at NH Group and
defines the structure and aperatian of the control and manitoring bodies set up within the Company, sysiematizing exiating
cartrols far the purpose of preventing end mitigating the risk of crimes being committed in the Company’s various areas.

Compliance Committee

NH Hatel Group set up the Compliance Committee in 2014, comprising members of the Management Commitiee and
Senicr Management. It has tha power to oversee compliance with the Group's Intemal Code af Conduet, Canflict of

Intarests Pracadura, Code of Comducl and Criminal Risk Prevention Madel.

The Compliance Committee submils a detalled report to the Board's Audit and Contrai Committee regarding the
activitles carried out and has the power to Impose dlgciplinary sanctions on employees in matters within its scope of

responsibility.
Compiiance Office

The Compliance Office is in charge of cistributing and averseelng compllance with the Cade of Canduct and drawing up

the Criminal Risk Prevention Model. The Campliance Office repeorts directly to the Compllance Commitiee and ks also
responsible for managing the confident'al Cade Compiaints Channel and Code of Conduct queres.

The Criminal Risk Prevention Model hes been impiemented in Spain (Business Unit and Corporate) and Italy, where
training was imparted on this topic during 2017.

At tha and of 2017 8 process lo rationalise the Criminal Risk Prevention Mairixin Spain began which aims ta provide the
company with 2 moere efficient model whilst during the year the Compliance Office has been working on implementing the
Criminal Risk Pravantion Madsl in the seven most important countries where Grupo NH aperates. This will be completed
thraughout 2018 with the launch of specific training for each country.

Likewige, Grupa NH has bagun the roil-out of an IT ool (SAP GRC) which wil help audit and manage the Criminal Risk
Pravention Madal and sllow managemeant of tha SCIIF, the risks map and the tax informaticn report.

The Code of Canduct ig availabls for smplayass on the company intranet, in the app for empioyees and for third partias
on the Group’s wabaite, Thraugh tha Human Rasources dapartmants af each business unit, the Group has put in placa
a pracedura for requasting all amployass to sdhare to the code, with training on the Code of Canduct being imparted ta

Grupo NH's emplayees.

At 31 December 2017, use of tha Cada of Canduct through the onlina caurse (s at 75.63%. This parcentags axciudes
Hateles Royal which was cammied out in 2016 through the phyzical signing of the documant and reached 88.71% adheranca,

The Code of Conduact contalns the following polnts specifically refating fa financial reparts and the recarding of
transactions:

The Group has is committed to reporting transparency, construed as the undertaking to release rellable Informatfon to the
finarclal markets, as well as 10 any other kind of markets. Hence, the company's imtemal and external financial and
economic reporting shal faithfully reflect its econamic, financlal and equity position In accordance with generally accepted
accounting standands.

The Manipulation of Information section stresses that “the Individuals responsible must transmit tuthful, camplete and
comprahensible financial reports. Under no clreumstances may they knowingly provide Incomrect, Inexact or ihaceurate
infarmation. Therefore, individuals respansible shall refrain fram:

- Keeping a recard of transactions in ncn-acccunting media not recorded in officlal books.

- Keeping accounts which, refemming ta the same activity and financial year, hide ar fake the company's true situation.

- Recarding expenses, income, assets or liabilities which are non-existent ar not in line with realily.

- Noting businesses, acts, transadions ar, in general, financial transactions in the compulsory boaks, or making a note
of them with figures ather than the true ones.

- Making entries in accounting books, incorrectly indicating their purpose.

- Lising false dacumenta.

- Deliberately destraying documents be’ore the end of the legally-required time limit for retaining them.
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* Reporting channel for informing the Audit Committee of financial and accounting irregularities, as well as any
breaches of the Code of Conduct and irregular activities in the organisation, nating if this ig confidential.

A pracedure has been established for . 2dging complaints about breaches of the principles enshrined in the Code of
Conduct, and this enabies employees 0 provide confidential infoermation about any non-campliance with the principles set
aut in the Code of Canduct. This procedure ensures transparency, confidentiality and respect throughout all its stages. As
meantioned previously, it is managed by the Compliance Office.

The procedure far reporting and dealing with possible non-campliance and reports redating to the Code of Conduct
Is administared by the Senior Vice President of the Group's Intemal Audit Department, who acts independently and
ensures the channel's confidentiality, civing an accaunt of the most significant incddents over the course the year to
the Group's Audit and Contral Commitize.

Complaints should preferably be lodged etectronically using a channel expressly set up for the purpose and availabla to
all stakeholders (codeofconduct@nh-hatels.com), through which they are forwarded 1o the Internal Audit Department. In
addition, they may be sent by post for the attention af the Senicr Vice President of NH Hotel Group, S.A. Intarmnal Audit
Department at Santa Engracia 120, 28203 Madrid, Spain,

The Seniar Vice President of the Intermal Audit Department is responsible for analysing lhe information prasanted and
requesting the corresponding evidence and reports. All complaints received are submitted to the Compliance Committee
and the Audit and Cantrol Committee, upholding the principle of confidentiality guaranteed in the Cede of Canduct.

* Reqular training and refresher courses on, at least, accounting standards, audits, internal control and risk
management for staff inveolved in preparing and reviewing financial reports and evaluating the reporting system.

Regarding the avolutlon of the SCIIF, through Intermal Control the Finance Deparbment has given the faliowing training
sessions In 2017.

intamal training of five employaes of th: Finance Department with an introductory framework on Intemat Cantrel and the
SCIIF with the aim of their acquiring the fundamental knowledge to carry out the review of the financial information
cantrois self-assessment mads by firstiine of dafence users and reported to Internal Control.

Intsrnal training of six ampioyees of the Finance Department's second line of defence for the management and contral
of risks through the SAP GRC intemal control reporting tool.

Training sessions aimed at first line of Jefence employees- 14 from the retained function of the European business units
and nine from Corporate- with the aim ¢f training in reporting the assessment of the design and selfassessment of SCIIF
controls to Intemal Control through the SAP GRC internal contral reporting tool,

Additionally, the Finance Department attends training courses or conferences on updated accounting standsrds,
consolidation standards and the specifiz financial reporting applicable to the sector, which are considerad espacially
relevant to its work. We highlight attencance at training sessions during 2017 on |FRS 16, |eases; IFRS 8, financial
instruments; and IFRS 185, revenue from ¢ontracis with customers; Royal Decree-law 18/2017 of 24 Movamhbar an non-
financial infermalion to be disclosed in 1he consolidated annual accounts and management report; and on tha new audit
report.

[n tum, and to guarantee an adequate raporting of risks identified in the Group, threughout 2017 tha Carporate Intemal
Audit Department has given fraining sessions to train 28 users involved in risk mansegament in an appropriate management
of the Risk Management madule of the SAP GRC intemal control taol,

F.2 Financial reporting risk assessment

Repart, at least

F.2.1. Which are the main characteristics of the risk identification process, including error and fraud,
regarding:



« Whether the process exists and is decumentad.

The gog! of ihe pracess of assessing financial risks is 10 establish end maintain an effective process far
identifying, analysing and managing tha risks relevant to the preparation of Financial Statements.

A: NH the risk management process consists of three levels of partiagpalion:

- 1he Board of Directors reviews the Audit and Controd Committee's supervision of risk managemeant policies,
pracesses, personnel and control systems.

~ The Internal Audit Department, which assumes the risk function, annually leads the updating of tha Carporate Risk Map
approved by the Baard of Direclors.

- The Chief Officars ar acting managers of each amea, including tha Executive Managing Diractors and other
professionals diractly involvad in tha risk managemant procass within thair area of responsihility.

Tha typas of risk identified in the Internal Control Systam on Financial Information are dassified as follows:
Tachnological risks

Tachnolagical risks relate to the management of Infarmation systems ta ensure the campieteness, availability and
reliability of financlal Information and avold exposure of the company's significant assets ta potenilal loss, damage or
misusa.

These risks relate to the following areas:
- Access security

- Avallabllity

- Completeness

- Supenvision of

Accounting Risks

These are the risks refated to the incorrect accaunting record of the transactians and breach of the applicable accounting
principles (the International Financial Rzporting Slandards in the case NH Hotel Group®s consalidated accaunts) whersby
the consolidated financial statements da not express, in all significant aspects, the true imege of the cansolidated aquity,
financial situation, profit and loss and cash flows, with them being able ta chiange or influence the reasonable judgemant

of 2 person.

In order to provide reasonable assuranze regarding the reliability of the finanaal information disseminatad to the market,
the Internal Controi area of NH Holel Group's Finance Department follows & permaneant review and risks ident/fication
pracess which it dacuments in two interrelated matrices; the risk and control ¢f the financial information matrix and the
scope of the SCIIF matrix.

Tre risk and cantrol of the financial infermation melrix cantains the risks and sub-rigks categories in each procass and
sub-pracess having & patentiel impact cn the finencial information as well aa the gs3ociated SCIIF zonlrols ta mitigata the

impact of these ricks.

The scape af the SCI|IF matrix identifias those headings of the consalidated balance sheet and Income statement with a
significarnt associated risk and a patentisl material impacl an the published financial informatiaon. Matarality is established
according lo qusntilslive criteria, based an the latest conzalidated annual sccounts, and on qualitallve criteria such as
the valume and unil amount of transactions, the automation of processes and the integration aof systems, the accounting
complexity, the degree aof estimation and application of judgememnts and asseasments, and tha level of criicalty based an

expenence.
Organisational and rasource management risks

These risks ncluda problems In the plaaning, management and monltering of financlal, material and human resources,
and difficuities In intardepartmental cormmunications and decision-making, Induding passible quality problems and other
threats In the course of the Group's activilies.

These risks relate to the following areas:
- Eudget Control

- Credit Management

- Receivables Management

- Fayabies Management

- Fersonnel Management

- Fraud

Data processing risks
These risks include prablems in data processing in information systems, mainly in tha following araas:

- uman Errar
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- Campleteness of invoicing

= Camplatanass of Master Files
~ Raview

Presentation and process risks

These risks can lead lo ineffectiveaness and inafiiciency within the Group structure when drawing up financial reports
in terms of quality, time and costs, and include the following aspacts:

- Timeliness of the information
- Complianca with intemal standards and

policies Business environment risks

Business environment rsks arlse due 1o extemal factors which can kead to signtficant changes in the basis undeatying
internal contral of the objectives of financial reparting and the Group's etrategies. Business environment risks are related
to the following matters:

- Fallure to comply with commbitments undertaken.
- Tax contingencies.

Outsourcing Risks

Qutsourging risks arise as a result of tha process of transferring part of the administration service ta a third party, and are
calegorised as follows:

- Service Leve] Agreements,
- Availahility

- Personnei Management

- Knowledge Management

- Legal

The risk identification and assessment orocess is carmiaed aut by the Intemal Audit Dapartment and supervised by the
Audit and Cantral Committee as pert of its dutias.

The risk identificatian process is documaniad in tha Carporata Rigk Manual.

» Whether the pracess covers all financial reporting assertions (existence and accurrance; completeness; evatuation:
presentation, disclosure and comparability; and rights and obligations), whether it is updated and how often.

In arder to ensure the reliabllity of FInancial Reporting, when Identlfying risks and cantrols, the accounting errors that may
arise from the following abjectives for frandal Information are always consldered:

- Completeness. balances or transactions that should be recorded but are nat,

- Transaction cut-off. those booked in 2 peried other than when they were accrued,

- Accuracy: transactions recorded with zrrars (amounts, conditions).

- Qeeurrence/Existence: registered ransactions which have not taken place within the period.

- Veluation/Allocation: record of transactions involving incarrect sums due to inadaquate valuation calculations.
- Presantation/Claggificatian: clagagification emrors in tha various entrias of tha financial stataments.

- Undarstandability: lack of quality of financial infarmation which makaa it difficult ta understand for a person with
raasonable aconomica and business krowledge.

With the transition of the SCIIF definition and custody functions to the Intemal Caontrol area of the Finance
Department. during 2017 a review of th2 associated risks and controls was carried out, consldering the fulfilment af
the aforementioned financial information objectives for this.

* Thea axistencs of a pracess far identfying the consolidation perimeter, taking aspects such as the possibie existence
of complex company structures, and instrumental entitias or those with a spacific purpose into account.

The Financial Department will consalidete 1he accounts every month,



This process involves the reporting of tne sub-consolidated income statement and balance sheet reported by each
Business Unit, in accordance with their consclidalion perimeter, to the Corporate Finance Department.

Each year, the Corparate Consolidaticn Department confirms the consalidation perimeters with the finance directors of
the business units,

Addilianally, thraughaut the year, the business units report on variations which arise in thelr consolldation perimeler to the
Firance Department which, in tum, coordinate the modification of these in all the Graup's financlal reporting and
conaolidatian systems.,

On the other hand, the tax depariment of the Corporate Finance Department is responsible for maintaining the Group's
organisational chart and periodically meporting lhe updated versian {a a distribution list of people within the Finance

Department to control changes in the consalidation perimeter.

- Whather the process takes into account the effects of other types of risks (operational, technological, financial,
legal, reputational, environmental, ac.) insofar as thase affact the financial accounts.

in designing the risk management proczss associated with generating Financial Reports, the following objectives have
been focused on:

- Definition of the Financial Information Control System processes and sub-pracesses.

Determination of the relevant risk categories and types far each aof the different Intemal Financial informatlon Control
System processes defined in the point above.

Corresponding subcategaries have heen defined for each of thesa risk categories.
= Definition and analysis of controis for sach specific risk and establishment of thelr degree of effectiveness.

A risk matrix has been established for each of the sub-pracesses detailed above, in which the mest relevant risks for sach
process are defined, along with the aps-ational controls and their sffectivensss in mitigating the Hsks that affect them.

* Which gavarning body of the company supervises the process.

The company's Board ef Directors is respansible for supervising the risk assessment process. In arder to carry out
the aforememtioned supervision duties, the Board of Directars tums ta the Audit and Control Committee, which
peifarms this duty thraugh the nternal Audit Department.

F.3Control Activities

Repori, indicating the main characteristics, on the availzhility of at least:

F.3.1. Procedures to review and authcrise the financial report and description of the SCIIF, to be
published on the securities market, indicating its responsible bodies, and documentation
describing the workflows and contrals {including those regarding fraud risk) of the different types
of transactions which can have a tangible effect on the financial accounts, including the
accounting close procedure and the specific review of the relevant judgements, estimations,
evaluations and projections.

There Is a financial information review anc autharisation procedure in the NH Hotel Group which iz set aut below:

- Internal reporting of financial infermation:

Each month, the Group's Finance Management send the Group's most significant informatian management to the Executhve
Committee and Board of Directors for their review which contains the income siatement and the main economiz Indicatars.,
Prior to reporting to these governing bodies, the infarmation undergaes a review process by the finance directars at a
business unit level and by Finance Manag:ment al a corparate level.

- Reparting of informatian ta stack markets:
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The cansdlidated eccounts and the halfsyzarly consolidated financial reports are prepared based on the informatlon reports
of the business units and, once reviewed dy their respective directars, the consalidation process is undertaken by Corporate
Consalidation and the information required ta prepare the consolidated accounts is provided both by the Finance
Department and other Carporate deparimants always wilh the review of the corresponding people respansible far It Once
the consolidated finandal statemants have been received, thay are reviews by the Group's Finance Management and by the
Audit and Cantrol Cammittee befare being prepared and appraved by the Board of Direclors (section b) of article 33 of the
Parent’'s Articles of Assaciation and seclicns 3. d) and 5. b) of Article 5 of the Board of Directors' Govemning rules). Once
prepared, they are published through the Natiansl Securities Market Coimnmissian.

Additionally, each quarter, the Group publishes finandai information to the stock markets, Finance Management s
responsible for the pracess aof issuing such information while the Board of Directors, in accordancs with sectlon 3 of article 40
of ta Governing rules, i8 responsible far ensuring the preparation is camried aut in line with the principles, crterla and
profeasiona} practices with which the Annual Accounts are praduced and enjoy the same rejiability. To this end, said
informatian is reviewed hy the Audil and Control Commifter which, when it deems it appropriate, requires the presence of
bath extermal and internal audifars.

Likewisa, the Board of Directors may requsst analysis of specific issues, as well as the detalls of particuar finandai
transactions which, because of their impartance, require greater analysls.

The Comparate Organisation Department is responsible for documenting and updating the year-end pracess which is published
on the corporate intranet. This procass includes the SCIIF controls implemented 10 miktlgate those risks identified at year-end
among which are those rigks related to 1he different review levels of the financtal Information generated.

On the other hand, NH has an Intemal financlal reporting control system (SCIIF) based on the CQSC madel (Commities
of Sponsoring Qrganisations of the Treadvray Commission) ta achleve the following oblectives:

- Effectiveness and efficlency of operations

- Reliahility of financlal reporting

- Campliance with appilcable laws and re¢ulations
- Safeguarding assets

NH Hotel Group's SCIIF model is documenied in a matrix af financial risks and cantrala which includss the following business
cydles, which are relevant to the preparatian of the financial information prepared and published by tha Group:

- Accounting close, consolidation and finandial reporting process
- Purchasing and suppliers

- Sales and customers

- Cash

- Financing

- Fixed assets

- Inter-company

- Tax

- Human resources

- Pravisions and contingencias

- Loyalty programima

- Shared =ervicas cantra

- Busginess support tachnalogizal procassas

Tha structure of the financial risk and cont=a:is matrix Includes the following Informatlon:

- Organigatianal unit the organisational level to which the controls are Implemented and determines the scope of the
assessed entitles.

- Process and sub-pracess: set of activities related to a specific function within the operatian of an organisational unit.
They include those with a patential skgnificant Impact an the financial information prepared by the Group.

- Risk: the possible events or actions which could affect the capacity of the campany ta meet financial reporting objectives
and/ar implement strategies successfuily.

- Description of the control: definition of the control activities included in the pelicies, procedures and practices
applied by the Group lo ensure it meets it control objectives and the nsk is mitigated.

- Evidence: the documentation maintained by thase responasible far the caniral {company persannel) so that the entlre
model can be regularly supervised and audited.

- Classification of the contrals: key ar not, preventive or detective, and manual or automatic; this |ast one depending on
whether they can be manilored using data fram automated toaols.

- Gwnership of the conlrola: they helang te the first line of defence in accordanca with the COS0O model. They are those who
execute the cantrels and thase responsible far their self-assessment and the assessment of their deslgn.

- Thass responsible for the contrals: within the first line of defence they are the supervisors of the correet execution and
reporting of the controls for each activity before their reporting te Internal Control, the model's second line of defence.
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= Frequency: how often the contrals are executed.

Within the risks identified in the business cycles defined in the SCIIF matrix are the risks of fraud and the controls asscciated
with its mitigatian.

Likewisa, the matrix indudes controls specific to the review of relevant judgements, estimales, valuations and

prajections whose execution mitigates the risk of reporting unreliable financial infarmatlon.

Additionally, the Group has a documented procedure which collates the palicies to follow In the valuation of those assets
of the cansolidated balance shest which involve the making of judgements, estimates, valuations andior projections with
a material impact on tha consolidated finzncial statements.

Internal Cantrol, within the Corporate Financa Department and the second Iine of defence in compliance with the COSO
madel, i3 charged with managing and upcaling the risks and SCIIF cantrols matrlx as well as the periodic review of the salf-
a2ssessment of the controls made by the cwners of those contrals, within the first line of defence, to ensure their
effectivaness and to mitigate associated reks.

The Corporate Intemal Audit Departiment, as the third line of defence, annually audlts the Group's intemal control madal ta
afford the Audit Cammittee and Board of Directors reasonable security as to lts effectiveness and, as a result, tha reliability of
the financia! informatian generaled and published on the stock market.

Additionally, section F of the Annual Corparate Govemance Repert published by the NH Hotel Group is subject fe an
axternal audit by a recognised firm to guarantee the truthfulness of Its content,

The Group Is curmrently In the final phase ¢f implementing the SAP GRC tool Pracess Cantral maduls to manage the SCIIF
which will end at the beglnning of 2018, From the end of January 2018, the tool will enter use and allow intagrations of the
SCIIF reporting into a single repository and Improve efficiency in menitoring changes to the risks and cantrals matrix and
communication between users Involved In SCIIF reporting, as well as lhe monitoring of action plans to corract waaknesses
found in the madel. Likewlse, Its Implementation will supposé a greater degree of involvement in SCIF raparting of all users
of the first line of the model and of the Groeup as a whole, induding an intemal certification model twica par year.

F.3.2. Internal control policies and procedures for the information systems (including secure access,
change menitoring and management, aperational continuity and separation of functions) which
support the company's processes relating to the preparation and publication of financial reports.

Intemal control of IT systems

There is an inlernal control mode! far tha Graup's infarmatian systams which covers the different IT processes and is based
on their associated risks. This model {basad on COSO and COBIT) includas a matrix of 130 general IT system contrals
(GITC) and poiicies and procedures ralatirg to the sacurity tha i'T sysfams need.

The internal contral modal cavers tha systams that contribinte to the preparation of the Graup's consolidated financial
statements and thus assuraes tha completeness, availahility, validity and quallty of the Information provided to the markels.

The GITC matrix ia aligned with the cantral models created by the NH Group for other business cycles, which are
structured into tha following pracesses:

Access to pragrammaes and data

There are palicies and procedures that sat up controls aver:

- Restricted access to the systems, awidirg unauthorised access or changes to programmes that could affect the
completenass, Integrity and reliabilily of firancial reports.

- Correct separation of functions, in order 1o guarantee secure access to the accounts information systems.
- Secunly In the facilties housing the systems, ensuring that anly authorised personnel have access ta them.

Operations

There are policies and procedures that set up controls over;

- The availability of the information, ensuring that financal data are complete, valid and accurate.

- Good menagement of incidents, enabling quick resolutions and minimising their impact.

- That operations are monitored, ensuring that they are executed campletely and on time. Any Inckients are resalved, enahling
jobs 10 be restarted and run comrectly.

The Group has had an Informatian Security area, part of tha | T Department, which manitors security In all IT processes,
assuring the availabdity, reliability and complatanass of infarmatian.

Security Policy
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The security palicy is the reference framework defining the directives to be followsd by all employees, and makes it possible
to ensure the security of the IT systems z1d, therefare, of all the business processss. This pollcy was revised during the
2015 finencial year.

During 2017, variaus initiatives linked to the Information Sacurity Master Plan continued to be Implemented, including those
relating to the arganisation of security, change management and physical security.

F.3.3. Internal control policies and procedures to supervise the management of outsourced activities
and those aspects of evaluation, calculation or appraisal entrusted to independent experts,
which may materially affect the financial accounts.

The function has besn outsourced fo a third party In the companles Included in the scope of the SCIIF.

The NH Group has implemented an intermai control model for the Shared Services Centre {(SSC) aligned with the cantrol
madals defined for the other husiness cydes.

Therefore, 2 matrfx has been deflned with 6 sub-processes and 18 control adtivities, including cantrals reiating to the handover
period of fransferring the administrative fLactlon fo the SEC, the setifing-in period, the provisian of tha service, compllance
with regulatiaons, the continuity of the service and the gavemance moded in the outsourcing contract.

The service provlder has also been askec to obtain an ISAE "International Standard on Assurance Engagements®
3402 report, allawing Grupo NH to check whether the contrel ebjectives and activities of the sarvice provider have
bean effective in the carresponding perloc.

F.4 |nformation and Communication

Report, indicating the main characteristics, on the availability of at least:

F.4.1. A specific area responsible for defining and updating accounting palicies (accaunting policies
area or department) and resoiving queries or conflicts arising from their interpretation,
maintaining constant communication with those responsible for operations in the arganisation,
and an updated manual of accounting policies communicated to the units through which the
company operates.

Thraugh Carporate Consolldation, NH Hot2l Group's Finance Management is respansible fer defining, updating and comectly
applying the accounting policles as well as responding to questions and gueries which ariga in their inlerpre*tation.

In this same sense, It is charged wlth communicating any change which oceurs in accaunting matiars to the heads of the
business and corporate units and which aects them in the reporting of financial informatian.

The Group has an aceounting policies manual and a consolidstion manual -bath published on the Intranet- in accordance
with the Intemationai Finangial Reporting Standards ([FRS), which are those which gavern tha NH Hotel Graup. Likewise, the
Group shares a single accaunting plan applicable in all the business unils in which it oparates.

The Organisation Department is respensible for unifying, anelysing end publishing tha rules and procedures applicable in the
Group. among which are the operational, edministrative {induding accounting), quality and regulatory procedures.

The Internal Audit Department is respansitla far pariodic raview of the processes, policles and procedures defined in the
Group.

F.4.2. Mechanisms to capture and prepare financial reports with standardised formats, applicable and
far use in all units of the company or the Group, suppoerted by the main financial statements and
notes, and the information provided on the SCIIF.

As discussad In sactlan F.4.1, the consdlicated financial information which NH Hotel Group publishes on the stock market Is in
accordancs with IFRS. In this sense, the information reported fram the Group's business units follows intematlonai
ragulations.
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Likewlse, there Is a single accounts plan zpplled by all the companles which are Included in the consalidated group.

Grupa NH has a common consalldation tcol for all companies. This tool centrallses all the Information corresponding to the
accounting of the companies which make up the financlal consalldation of the NH Hotel Group Into a single system. The
input of financial information from the ERF to the consolidation system Is automatic for those companles already migrated
ta tha comman ERP Implemented In most Group companies, or manually for those companies with a different ERP. In this
sanse, pravantive contrals have been defined in tha consolidation teal ilself which ensure data Is Input correctly, From
January 2018, the input of financial infarmation from the ERP to the cansolidation system wili be automatle for all Graup
campanies as tha companies recently incarporated inta the NH Hatel Group cansclidafion perimeter wlll be Included.

Finance diractors of the business units regort the financlal Information to the carporate office monthiy using two unique
standard reporting packets deslgned by the Cerporale Finance Department for reporting of the financial management
information and the consalidated balance sheet.

The dumping of iInformation from the acccunts and the accounting headings ta the reparting is the same for both models,
having praviously been approved by the Corporate Finance Department. Any change In eriteria far the dumping and
presentation of Infarmation to be reported Is communlcated from the corporate office ta the finance directors of the business

units.

I turn, the Carporate Finance Departmer uses the same reporting madels to prepare the management reparts and annusl|
accounts published an the stock market.

All this ensures that the information reporied between business units is comparable and homageneous to be included
In the Group's censolidated financial reporiing.

At ar. intemal control level, the Group has designed a single reperting model far the monthly sending of SCIIF cantrals self-
assessmenf to its owners. Likewise, the Inlernal Control area pursues the homogenisation of the processes in all the Graup's
business units so that the risk and control matrix is the same for all the arganisational units. In turn, whenever Internal Cantral
modifies the design of the contrals, it is communicated to the owners of the pracesses and controls so they are infarmed and
repart according to the |atest version of the SCIIF risks and controls matrix.

F.5Supervision of the system

Report, indicating the main characteristics of at least:

F.5.1. The supervision of the SCIIF by the Audit Committee and whether the company has an internal
auditing area whose competency includes supporting the committee in supervising the internal
control system, including the SCIIF. It will also report the scope of the evaluation of the ICFR
during the year and the pracedure by which the body in charge of the evaluation will repoit its
results, iIf the company has an action plan which details possible corrective measures, and if its
impact on financial reporting has been considered.

Supervisary actidtles of the Audit Commitize

The Audit and Contrel Committee is the acvlsory body te which the Board of Directors has delegated its powers to updale
and supervise the SCIIF. As part of this functlon and to fulll the tasks delegated by the Baard, the Committee receives and
reviews the financlal reports which the NH Group Issues to the markets and regulatory bedles, particularly the consolidated
annual flnandlal statements accampanied by the Audit Report. The Commitiee supenvises the preparation process and tha
completeness of the financlal repeorts of the Company and Its subsidlares, and checks that the legal requirements applicable
ta the NH Group are complled with, the consolldatlon perimeter Is apprepriate and that generally accepted accounting
standards are applled correctly.

The Audit and Control Committee receives an annual repart from the Intemal Audit SVP an its assessmant nf the
effectiveness of the SCIIF model, the weaknesses detected during internal audits, and the plans or actians zlraady in place

to remedy any detected weaknesses.
During 2017, the Intemail Control Function, reporting to the Financial Department assumed full responaibilily for
the SCIIF, in additian te its maintenance and extension to the different campanies which farm part of Grupa MH,

Currently, Grupa NH has a computer toal implemented which helps automasle the SCIIF assassmeant and certificalion
process, which will begin to ba used during 2018 far the asasssmant and monthly monitaring of tha SCIIF,

Tha Audit and Caentral Committaa supporis and suparvisaa the wark af the Intemal Audit department [h Its assessment of the
SCIIF. Tha Committea propnsas tha salaction, appointment and replacement of the body or person responsible for [ntemal
Audit sarvices, vslidstss and approvas thae strategy, the Intarnal Audit plan and objectivas far the year, and is responsible for
avaluating the parfarmanca of the Intamal Audit Departmani Manager annually.
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Tha Intamal Audit plan for assessing the 3CIIF is submittad ta tha Audit and Control Commlttee for approval before
baing put inta practica, in ardar 1o includa all tha cansidarationa of the Committas.

The |aval of implemenlation of the relevart recommendations ariging from tha SCIIF is reviewed by the Audit and Control

Cammittea at lagat onca a yaar.
The Audit and Control Committee procedw.ras are decumeanted in the presantations made by said Committee and

subsaquantly induded in tha carraspondirg gignad minutas.

Inteamal Audft Functlon

Intemal audits are carred out by the GroLo's Intemal Audit Department, which reports functlonally to the Audit and Control
Commitiee and administratively to the General Secretarlat. This hierarchical structure Is designed to enable the Intemal Audit
funclion 1o remaln structurally Independert and to encourage direct communication to and from the Audit and Control
Committea.

The ntemai Audlt function, vla a team corsisling of 9 auditors located In hoth Comporate and 1he business units, ensures,
within reason, the effectiveness of the intemal control system, supendsing and evaluating the design and effectiveness of
the rsk management system appiled to tk= campany. Including specific [T audits.

This function has internal auditing statutes which were updaied in 2017 and have been formally approved by the Audit and
Control Committee, and an intemal audit Manrual which sets out the Department's working methads.

In relation 10 monitoring the SCIIF, the Intemal Audit Department is responsible for:

- Independently evaluating the intemal co:vtrol model for financial reporting.

- Testing the assertions of the Eoard.

- Testing the effectiveness of inteamal conirois in the companies within the scope of application, in a maximum period of ohe
year for Key controls and three years far nan-key canirais.

- Hedxing to identify weakneases in conirels and reviewing action plans ta carrect inadequate cantrals,

- Conducting follow-up checks to see if weaknesses in controls have been properly remedied.

- Coordinating between the Board and the extemal euditar when clarification is needed on scope and testing plans.

Scope of SCIF 2017

The Group's SCIIF model covers the business units in Narthern Europe (Benelux and Central Eurapa), Southern Europe
{Spein, France, Portugal and ltaly) and Latin America (Mexico and Argentina, partially implemented), which consist af
280 hatels and 13 business cydes of majer importance in lhe presantalion of financial reports.

A total of 455 cantrol activities have been defined, divided between finandial reparting and IT systems, and classified as
key snd non=key cantrals. Those responsgisle for the cantrals have been defined at Corporate level, for Businass Units and
within the Shared Services Centre,

Grupa MH has defined a monthly calendar for internai control reporting whare, at the end of each month, each responsible
hody performs a self-assessment of the contrals far which il is responsible.

During 2017, the intemal Control Departmant supsrvised the self-assassment process and avidance depasited In a file
shared by the Shared Services Centre, Acministration and tha Intemal Conlrol Department.

The assessment process in 2017 analyses a total of 345 cantrals far the gecgraphic area of Spaln, the Netherlands, Belgium,
Ganmany, Austria, ftaly, Mexica, Argentinz and controls at Corporate lavel, which involved reaching 76% of thelr tetal. These
controls were evaluated according 1@ the cuidelines included in the “SCIIF Evaluation Procedure”, summarised belowr,

- The controls evaluated each month {redaing to Adminlistraticn and the Shared Services Centre) were subjected Lo two types
of review, one based on the supervision o7 the evaluatlan by the owners of the contrals, and another where the objedtive was

lo repeat the tests and checks of the effecilveness of the contral.
- Far the other canlrols, evidence was obtzlned and the necessary tests were run to enable conclusions to be drawn

on thelr effectiveness.
- User-defined files (UDA) have been idenified which impact the preparation of financial reports, where the existence has

been verified of controls of comipleteness, availability and security.

The review has detected weaknesses in irlemal contrals and roem for improvement in certain processes which da not have
a gignificant impact on the quality of financial reporting, and action plans agreed with the badies respangibla far tha controls
have been praposed. Jointly with the Interal Control Department, the Intemal Audit Department will chack tha
implementatian of these action plans during its reguiar tests of the SCIIF.

F.5.2. Whether there is a discussion praocedure through which the accounts auditar (as established in
the NTA), the internal auditing area and other experts can repart to senior management and the
Audit Committee or company administrators on the significant weaknesses in internal control
detected during the process of reviewing the annual accounts, or others for which they are
responsible.

44



Likewise, whether there is an action plan to correct or mitigate the weaknesses found.

The Audit Committee meeis perodically L review the regular financial reports. It algo discusses matiars ralating o
intermal controls and/or other cument initigives.

The Financial Department, through the Chief Financial Officer, is respensible for notifying senior managament of any
important matter relating fo the SCIIF and’or financial reparting through the meetings of the Management Committea,

All the weaknesses detecied by the Intermal Audit Department during its work are subject to recommaendalions and action
plans agreed with the audited departmen!. The intemal Audit Department supervises tha implamentation of the agreed
aclions and reports their status to the NH Group's various gaveming bodies (mainly the Audit Commitiag),

The axternal auditar notifies tha Audit anc Control Committea of tha canclusions aof its audit pracedures, and any other
matiers which may ba considarad important. The external auditor also has access to the Audit and Control Commlitee [n
order to share, commant on or repart any aspects they consider necessary or patinant. The extarnal audltar, without
breaching his/her independence, wifl part:zipata in tha dialogue with Managamani.

.6 Other relevant information
MNone.

F.7 Report by the external

auditor Report an:

F.7.1. Whether the SCIIF reports sent to the markets have been reviewed by the external auditor, in
which case the company must include the coresponding report as an appendix. If not, it must
report its reasons.

Tha Group's Managesmant has dacidad to submit tha infermatian ralating to tha SCIF included in this sectlon F of the Annual
Corparata Gavemancs Rapart for 2017, drawn up by tha Company’'s Managamant, ta tha external auditor for review. This

rapaort is attached 838 an Annax.

DEGREE OF COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE RECOMMENDATIONS

Indicate the Company’s degree of compliance with the recommendations of the Code of Good
Govemance for listed companies.

if any recommendation is not followed cr is only followed in part, a detailed explanation of the reasons
must be included so that shareholders, investors and the market in general have enough information to
assess the company’ methods. Generalised explanations will not be acceptable.

1. The articles of association of listed companies should not limit the maxdimum number of votes that a single
shareholder may cast, nor contain other restrictions that stand in the way of a company take-over

through the acquisition of its shares in the market.

Complies [X Explain

2. When a parent company and a subsidiary company are both stock market listed, both must provide
detailed disclosure on:

45



a) Their respeclive areas of activity and possible business relations between them, as well as
between the listed subsidiary and the other companies in the group;

b) The mechanisms in place for resolving potential conflicts of interest that may arise.

Complles Partially complies Explain Not applicable [ X

3. That during the ordinary general meeting, in addition to circulating the annual corporate governance

report in writing, the chairman of the board of directors verbally informs the shareholders, in sufficient
detail, of the most important aspects of the company’s corporate gavernance and, in particular:

a) About changes that have occurred since the last ordinary general meeting.

b) About specific reasons why the company does not follow any of the recommendations in the
Corporate Governance Code and, if any, alternative rules applicable in this area.

Compiies [X Parzally complies Explain

4. That the campany defines and promotes a policy of communication and contact with shareholders,

institutional investors and voting advisers which fully respects requlations against market abuse and
gives similar treatment to shareholders who are in the same position.

And that the company publishes the policy on its web site, including information relating to the way in
which it is put into practice and identifying the contact persons or thase responsible for carrying it out.

Complles | X Part'ally complies Explain

5. That the board of directors does not bring a proposal to the general meeting for delegation of powers to

issue shares or convertible securities which exclude preferential subscription rights for more than 20%
of the company’s capital at the time of delagation.

And that when the board of directors approves any issue of shares or convertible securities excluding
preferential subscription rights, the company immediately publishes reports an its web site about this
exclusion as referred to under company law.

Camplies (X Partially complles Explain

6. That listed companies drawing up the reports listed below, whether on a2 compulsory or voluntary basis,

publish then on their web site sufficiently in advance of the ordinary general meeting being held, even if
their circulation is not mandatary:

a) Report on the independence of the auditor.

b) Reports on the work of the audit and appointments and remuneration committees.
¢) Audit committee report on related-party transactions.

d) Report on the corporate social responsibility policy.

L |

Caomplies | X Partially complies Explain

7. That the company transmits general shareholders’ meetings live on its web site.

Complies (X Explain
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8. That the audit committee ensures that the Board of Directors makes every effort ta present financial
statements to the General Shareholders' Meeting that are free from limitations or qualifications in the
audnt report and, in exceptional circumstances where they may exist, both the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and the auditors shall provide the shareholders with a clear explanation of the content and
scope of such limitations or qualifications.

Complies [X Partially comglies Explain

8. That the company permanently publishes the requirements and procedures that it will accept to prove
ownership of shares, the right to attend the general shareholders’ meeting and the exercise or delegation

of the right to vote.

And that such requirements and procedures facilitate the shareholders' attendance and the exercise of
their nght to vate and that they are applied in a non-discriminatory manner.

Camplies | X Partially complias Explain

10. That where any legitimate shareholder has, priar to the general shareholders’ meeting being held,
exercised the right to supplement the agenda or submit new proposals for resclutian, the company:

a) Immediately circulates such supplementary points and new proposals for resolution.

b) Publicises the attendance card form or vote delegation or remote voting form with the amendments
needed so that the new paints on the agenda and alternative proposals for resolution may be vated
on under the same terms as those proposed by the board of directors.

¢) Puts all such points or altemative proposals to the vate and applies the same voting rules as those
for the points made by the board of directors including, in particular, the assumptions or deductions
an the outcome of the vote.

d) Report, after the general shareholders’ meeting, the breakdown of the vate on such supplementary
points or alternative proposals.

Complies Partially complies 1 Expl gin Not applicable [X

11.That, in the event that the company foresees payment of fees for attendance at the general
sharehaoiders’ meeting, it sets up a general policy on such fees beforehand and that said policy is stable.

Complies Partially complies Explain Not appllcabie (X

12. That the board of directors performs its duties with a unity of purpose and independence of judgement,
gives the same treatment to all shareholders who are in the same position and is guided by company
interest, understood to be the achievement of a profitable business that is sustainable in the long term,
that promotes its continuity and the maximisation of the company’s financial value.

And that in pursuing company interests, apart from respecting the laws and regulations and behaviour
based on good faith, ethics and respect for commonly accepted uses and good practice, it seeks to
reconclle company interest with, as appropriate, the legitimate interests of its employees, suppliers,
customers and other interest groups who may be affected, along with the impact of the company's
activities on the community as a whole and the environment

Complles | X Partially complies Explain
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13. That, in the interests of effectiveness and participation, the board of directors should comprise no
fewer than five and no more than 15 members.,

Camplies | X Explain

14. That the board of directors approves a policy for selecting directors that:
a) Is specific and verifiable.

b) Ensures that proposals for appointment ar re-election are based on prior analysis of the board of
directors’ needs.

c) Encourages diversity of knowiedge, experience and gender.

That the result of prior analysis of the board of directors’ needs is included in an explanatory report from
the appointments committee which is published when calling the general shareholders’ meeting ta which
it is submitted for ratification, appointment or re-election of each director.

And that the policy for selecting directors promotes the ohjective that by 2020 the number of female
directors is at least 30% of the total number of members of the board of directors.

The appointments committee will verify compliance with the policy for selecting directors annually and
will report on it in the annual corporate gavernance report.

Complies | X Partally camplies Explain

15. External proprietary directors and independent directors should comprise a significant majarity of the
Board of Directors, and the number of executive directors be kept to a minimum, taking into account the
complexity of the carporate group and the percentage shareholdings of the executive directors in the
company.

Complies [X Partdally complies Explain [ ]

16. That the ratio of praprietary directors to the total number of non-executive directors should not be greater
than the existing ratio between the capital of the company represented by such directors and the

remaining capital.
This criteria may be flexible:

a) In companies with high capitalisation where shareholdings that are legally considered to be
significant are scarce.

b} In companies in which there are numerous shareholders represented on the board of directors and
these shareholders have no links between them.

Complies | X Explain

17. That independent directors represent at least half of all the directors.

Nevertheless, where the company does not have high capitalisation or where, even if it does, it has one
sharehaolder, or several acting jointly, who control more than 30% of the company capital, the number of
independent directors represents, at least, one-third of all the directors.

Complies [X] Explaln

18. That companies publish and update the following information about their directors on their web site:
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a) Professional profile and biography.

b) Other boards of directors to which they belong, whether or not they are listed companies, along
with information about their other remunerated activities, whatever they may be.

c) Indication of the director's category stating, in the case of proprietary directors, the shareholder that
they represent or with whom they have ties.

d) Date of their first appointment as a director in the company as well as the date of subsequent re-
appointments.

e) Shares and share options held by the director.

Complies |X] Partially complies Explain

19. That the annual corporate governance report, after verificatian by the appointments committee, explains
the reasons why proprietary directors have been appointed on hehalf of shareholders with shareholdings
of less than 3% in the company capital and the reasons for ignoring, if applicable, formal requests for
presence on the Board from shareholders with shareholdings equal to ar greater than others who have

successfully proposed proprietary directors.

Complies Partially complias Expiain Not applicable [ X

20.That proprietary directors present their resignation when the shareholder they represent transfers its
entire sharehalding. And the number of proprietary directors is also reduced when the shareholders in
question reduce their haldings to a level that requires fewer such directors.

Complies Partially complies Explain X Naot applicabla j

Tha Company's Ganaral Shareholders' Mesting used Its votes to set the representation of the proprietary sharehalder on the Board of
Directars. As a result, there is (i) a propristary shareb alder with a holding of around 28% (HNA Group) without representalion on the
Hoard, (ii) another propriatary sharahalder with a holcding of around 12% (Qceanwaod) which, with one director would be under-
representad on the Board, and (iii) a third proprietary shareholder with a hokding of around 8% (Grupo Hesperia Inversar) which, with two
diractars wauld ba ovar-reprasented, With regard to this [ast shareholder, in 2014 they reduced their sharehoiding in NH but retzined two
represantatives on NH's Baard of Directors as [t was consldered that the in-depth knowledge both representatives had of the hotel
indusiry was an asset warth preserving for the benefi of all shareholders. And so it was approved by the General Shareholders' Meeting
an 29 June 2017 and by tha proxy advisars which covered sald Meeting who recommended vating in favaur of the appointment's

approval.

21. The Board of Directors does not propose the removal of any independent director before the statutory
period for which the director has been appointed concludes, unless the board of directors has just cause,
based on a repaort by the Appointments Committee. |n particular, it will be understood that just cause
exists where the director takes up new posts or undertakes new obligations which prevent him/her from
dedicating the tme needed to perform the duties of the post of director, or failing to carry out the duties
inherent to the post or he/she incurs in any of the circumstances which cause him/her to lose histher

independent status, in accordance with the provisions of applicable law.

The removal of independent directors may also be proposed as a result of mergers, take-overs or other
similar corporate actions that change the structure of the company’s capital when such changes in the
structure of the board of directors obey the criteria of proportionality indicated in Recammendation 16.

Complies [X Explain
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22. Companies establish rules that require directors to report and, as applicable, resign when circumstances
arnse that could damage the company’s credibility and reputation, and in particular to notify the board of
directors of any criminal proceedings in which they are involved, and the subsequent developments of

any court action.

If a director is indicted or sent for trial for any of the offences provided far in company law, the board of
directors shall examine the case as soon as possible and, based on the specific circumstances, decide
whether the director should continue in their post. The board of directors reports and explains all such
occurrences in the annual corporate governance report.

Complies | X| Parlally complies Explain

23. All directors clearly express their opposition when they believe that a proposal for a decision presented
ta the board of directors may not be in the Company's interests. Particularly independent and other
directors who are not affected by any potential conflict of interest should oppose decisions that may be
detrimental to shareholders not represented on the board of directors.

When the board of directors adopts significant or repeated decisions about which a director has serious
reservations, the director draws the appropriate conclusions and, if they decide to resign, explains the
reasons in the ietter referred to in the following recommendation.

This recommendation aiso applies to the secretary of the board of directars, even though they may not
be a director.

Complies | X Partially complies Explain Not applicable

24. When, due to resignation or for other reasons, a director vacates their post before the end of their term,
they explain the reasans in a letter sent to every member of the board of directors. And, notwithstanding
the fact that this departure is reported as a significant event, the reason for the departure is reported in

the annual corparate governance report.

Camplies | X Partlally complies Explain Nat applicable

23. That the appointments commitiee ensures that non-executive directors have sufficient time available
to perform their duties properly.

That the company rules set out the maximurn number of company boards that its directors may belong
to:

Complies [X Partially complies [] Explain

26. The board of directors is to meet as frequentiy as required to efficiently perfarm its functions, at least
eight times a year, following the schedule of dates and matters established at the start of the year, and
each director, individually, may propose other items not initially included on the agenda.

Campliag | X Partially complies Explzain

27 Directors may only be absent when it is essential and the number of absences should be included in the
annual corporate govemance report. When non-attendance is inevitable, the absent director may

nominate a proxy and provide instructions.
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Complies Partially complies Explain

Qut of a total of 11 meetings of the Board of Directors, it was not possible ta nominata a praxy with Instructions in 3 for reasans of
urgency. [n any case, the percantage of attendance aver total votes during the yaarwas §7.28%.

28. When directors or the secretary raise concems about a proposal or, in the case of directors, about the
performance of the company, and such concerns are not resolved by the board of directors, these
concerns are recorded in the minutes at the request of the director raising them.

Camplies [X Partially complies L] Explain Mot applicable

29. The company sets up appropriate channels so that directors may abtain the advice needed to perform
their duties, including, if the circumstances deem fit, extemal advice payable by the company.

Complies (X Partially complias Explaln

30. Independently of the knowledge demanded from the directors to camy out their duties, the companies
also offer directors with the opportunity to participate in knowledge refresher pragrammes where the

circumstances so require.

Complias [ X =xplain Not applicabla

31. The agenda at meetings clearly shows the points regarding which the board of directors must make a
decision or adopt a resolution so that the directors can study them or gather the information needed for

their adoption beforahand.

Where, exceptionally, an the grounds of urgency, the chairman wishes to submit decisions or resolutions
far the board of directors’ approval which do not appear on the agenda, prior, express consent will be
required from the majority of directars present, and this will be duly recarded in the minutes.

Complies | X Partally compliss Explain

—
S

32. Directors are periodically informed about changes in sharehaldings and the opinion that significant
shareholders, investors and ratings agencies have about the company and its group.

Complies | X Partiglly complies Explain

33. The chairman, being responsible for the effective functioning of the board of directors, in addition to
carrying out the duties that are legally and statutorily attributed thereto, prepares and submits a
programme of dates and matters to be addressed to the board of directors; organises and coordinates
the periodic assessment of the board and, if necessary, the company’s chief executive; ensures that
sufficient time is given to the discussion of sirategic matters, and agrees and reviews knowledge
refresher programmes for each directar where the circumstances so require.

Complies [X Partially complies Explan [ ]
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34. Where there is a coordinating director, the articles of association or board of directors’ regulations offer
him/her the following powers, in addition to the pawers provided by the law: chair the board of directors
in the absence of the chairman and vice-chairmen, if any; speak up for non-executive directors CONCErns;
mairtain contact with investors and shareholders to establish their points of view for the purposes of
forming an opinion on their concerns, particularly in relation to the company's corporate governance:
and coordinate the chairman's succession plan.

Complies Partially complies Explaln r_l Not applicable [X

33. That the secretary of the board of directors takes particular ¢are so that, in their actions and decisions,
the board of directors are aware of the recommendations aon good govemance contained in this Code
of Good Governance applicable to the company.

Complies [X Explaln  []

36. Oncae a year the board of directors, in plenary, assesses and adopts, as necessary, an action plan
correcting shortcomings detected in relation to:

a) The quality and efficiency of the board of director's work.

b) The operation and composition of its committees.

c) The diversity of the composition and powers of the board of directors.

d) The performance of the chairman of the board of directors and the chief executive of the company.

e) The performance and contribution of each director, paying particular attention to those responsible
for the various commitiees of the board.

Assessment of the various committees will be based on the report that they submit to the board of
directors and, with respect to the board, the report submitted by the appointments committee.

Every three years, the board of directors will be aided in carmying out the assessment by an external
conhsultant whose independence will be verified by the appointments committee.

The business relationship of the consultant, or any company in its group, with the company, or any
company in its group, must be broken down in the annual comporate govemance report.

The process and the areas assessed will be subject to description in the annual corporate governance
report.

Complies [X Partally complies Explain [

37. When there is an executive committee, the participation structure of the different director categories is
similar to that of the main Board and its secretary is the Secretary of the Board.

Complles Partially complies Explain Not applicable

The Campany's Exacutive Committee daes not have a similar director category structure as the Board of Dirscors itself as, in the
Executive Commitias there Is a greater weight of proprietary directors than on the Board of Directors. This is the result of an informed and
free decisian by tha Board of Directors which, lagically, has heen approved by qualifled maorifies considering that the make up of its
Executive Commiltae is adequate to carry oul its duties.

The Secratary and Deputy Secretary of the Board serve in the same positions on the Executive Committaa.
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38. The board of directors is always aware of the issues discussed and the decisions adopted by the
executive committee and each member of the board of directors receives a copy of the minutes of the
executive committee’s meetings.

Complies [X Partlally complies Explalin Not applicabla U

39. Members of the audit committee, particularly its chairman, are appointed on the basis of their knowledge
and experience in accountancy, auditing or risk management and the majority of its members are

independent directors,

Complies [X] Partially complies Explaln | ]

40. Under supervision of the audit commitiee, there is a unit that carries out the internal audit function,
tasked with ensuring the proper functioning of the information and internal caontrol systems and that
functionally comes under the non-executive chairman of the board or of the audit committee.

Complies (X Partialiy complles Expfain

41.The manager of the unit responsible for internal audit submits his/her annual work plan to the audit
committee, directly reports corresponding incidents and submits an activity report to the commitiee at
the end of every year.

Complies | X Partially camplies Explain Not applicabla

42. In addition to those pravided for by the law, the audit committee is responsible for the following
functions:

1. In relation to internal control and infarmation systems:

a) Supervising the preparation and safeguarding the integrity of the financial reporting relating
to the company and, if applicable, to the group, reviewing compliance with regulations, the
adequate delimitation of the consolidated group and the proper application of accounting
standands.

b} Safeguarding the independence and effectiveness of the unit responsible for internal auditing;
proposing the selection, appointment, re-election and removal of tha manager of the internal
audit service; proposing the budget for this service; approving its focus and work plans,
ensuring that its activity is mainly focussed on relevant risks for the company, receiving
periodic information about its activities; and verifying that senior Mmanagement takes into
account the conclusions and recommendations of its reports.

¢) Establishing and supervising a mechanism that allows employees to report canfidentially and,
if possible and considered appropriate, anonymously, any potentially significant irregularities,
particularly financial and accounting, they discover within the Company.

2. In relation to the external auditor:

a) In the case of the resignation of the external auditor, examining the circumstances that may
have lead to this.

b) Ensuring that the external auditor's remuneration for their work does not compromise their
quality or independence.

¢} Monitoring that the company notifies the Spanish Stock Market Commissian (CNMV) of the
change of auditor as a significant event and accompanies it with a statement about the
existence of disagreements with the outgoing auditor and the content of such disagreements,
if they exist.
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d} Ensuring that the external auditor has an annual meeting with the board of directors in plenary
ta report on the work carried out and on the evolution of the accounting position and risks to

the company.

e) Ensuring that the company and the external auditor follow prevailing regulations on the
provision of services other than audit services, the limits on the concentration of business with
the auditor and, in general, any other regulations on the independence of the auditors:

Complies [X Partially complies [] Expiain

43. The Audit Committee may summon any employee or director of the company, and may require the
appearance of the same without the presence of any other director.

Complias [X Partially camplies | Explain

44.The audit committee is informed about structural and corparate amendment transactions that the
company plans to camry out for analysis and prior reporting to the board of directors about their financial
terms and their accounting impact and, in particular, as appropriate, on the proposed swap ratio.

Caomplies | X Partialy complles Explain Not applicabie

45. The risk management and control policy identifies at least the following:

a) The different types of risk, either financial or non-financial, (operational, technological, legal, social,
environmental, reputational, amongst others) to which the company is exposed, including contingent
liabilities and other off-balance sheet risks amongst financial and economic risks.

b) The level of risk that the company cansiders acceptable,
¢) The measures planned to mitigate the impact of identified risks should they materialise.

d) The internal control and information systems that will be used to control and manage the
aforementioned risks, including contingent liabilities or off-balance sheet risks.

Complies |[X Partialiy complles Explain

46. Under the direct supervision of the audit committee or, as appropriate, a specialist committee of the
board of directors, there is an internal risk control and management system run by an intemal unit or
department at the company which is expressly given the following functions:

a) Ensure the proper functioning of the risk controf and management systems and, in particular, that all
significant risks that may affect the company are adequately identified, managed and quantified.

b) Actively take part in drawing up risk strategy and in important decisions on its management.

c) Ensure that risk control and management systems suitably mitigate risks within the framework of the
policy defined by the board of directors.

Complies |X Fartially complies Explain
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47.The members of the appointments and remuneration committee —or the appointments commitiee and
remuneration committee, if they are separate— are appointed endeavouring to ensure that they have
suitable knowledge, skills and experience for the functions that they are calied to perform and that the
majority of such members are independent directors.

Complies [X] Partially complies (] Explain

48, Companies with high capitalisation have separate appointments and remuneration commitiees.

Complies Explain Nat applicable | X

43. The appointments committee consults the chairman of the board of directors and the chief executive of
the company, particularly regarding issues conceming executive directors.

And that any director can request the appointments committee to take into consideration potentiai
candidates to cover any director vacancies, if, in their opinion, they deem the candidate appropriate.

Compies [ X Partally complies Explain | ]

90. The remuneration committee carries out its functions independently and, apart from the functions
aliotted to it by the law, also carnes out the following:

a) Propose the basic conditions of contracts for senior management to the board of directors.
b) Manitor compliance with the remuneration policy established by the company.

c) Periodically review the remuneration policy applicable to directors and senior management, including
systems of remuneration with shares and their application, in addition to ensuring that individual
remuneration is proportianate to that paid to the company’s other directors and senior management.

d) Ensure that possible conflicts of interest do not affect the independence of the extemal advice given
to the committee.

e) Verify the information regarding directors’ and senior management's remuneration contained in the
varnious corporate documents, including the annual report on directors' remuneration.

Complies [X Partially complies [ ] Explain

51. The Remuneration Committee consults the chairman and the Chief Exacutive Director of the
company, particularly regarding issues concerning executive directors.

Camplies (X Parially complies Expiain

52. The rules on the composition and functioning of the supervision and control committees are contained
in the board of directors’ rules and are consistent with those applicable to the committees that are legally
mandatory in accordance with the above-mentioned recommendations, including:

a) That they are exclusively made up of non-executive directors, with a majority of independent
directors.

b} The chairmen are independent directors.
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¢) The board of directors appoints the members of these committees taking into account the knowledge,
skills and experience of the directors and the tasks of each committee: it discusses their propasals
and reports, and during the first plenary session following their meetings, gives account of their
activities which responds to the work carmried out;

d) The committees have access to external advice when they deem it necessary to perform their duties.
e} Minutes of their meetings are drawn up and made available to all the directors.

Complies Partially compiles Explgin Not applicable [X]

53. Supervision of compliance with the corporate governance rules, internal rules of conduct and corporate
sacial responsibility policy is the responsibility of one or distributed amongst several committees of the
board of directors which may include the audit, appointment or corporate sacial responsibility committee,
If there is one, or a specialist committee that the board of directors, exercising its powers of self-
organisation, decides to create for that purpose, to which the foliowing functions are given, as a
minimum;

a) Supervise compliance and internal codes of conduct, as well as the company’s rules of corporate
governance

b) Supervise the communications strategy and relationship with shareholders and investors, including
small and medium shareholders.

¢} Periodically assess the adequacy of the company’s corporate governance system, for the purpose
that it complies with its mission to promote company interests and takes into account, as appropriate,
the legitimate interests of other stakeholders.

d) Review the campany's corporate responsibility policy, ensuring that it is directed at creating value.

e) Monitor corporate social responsibility strategy and practices and assess the level of compliance
therewith.

f) Supervise and assess relationship processes with the various stakeholders.

g) Assess all matters relating to the company's non-financial risks —including operational, tech nological,
legal, social, environmental, political and reputational.

h) Coordinate the process for non-financial and diversity information reporting in accardance with
applicable regulations and international reference standards.

Complies | X Partially complies Explain

54. The corporate social responsibility policy includes the principles or undertakings that the company
assumes voluntarily in its relationships with the various stakeholders and identifies, as a minimum:

a) The aims of the comporate social responsibility policy and the development of support tools.
b) Corporate strategy in relation to sustainability, the environment and social matters.

¢) Specific practices in matters related to: shareholders, employees, customers, suppliers, social
matters, the environment, diversity, tax responsibility, respect for human rights and the prevention of
illegal behaviour.

d) The methads ar systems for monitoring the results of the application of specific practices listed under
the previous letter, associated risks and their management.

e) Mechanisms for supervising non-financial risk, company ethics and behaviour,
f) Channels for communication, participation and dialogue with stakeholders.



g) Responsible communication practices that avoid the manipulation of information and protect
integrity and honour.

Complies [X Partially complies Explain

55. The company reports, in a separate document or in the management repart, an matters related to
corparate social responsibility, using one of the internationally accepted methodologies to do so.

Complies [X Partially complles ] Explain

56. Directors’ remuneration is sufficient to attract and retain directors with the desired profile and to
remunerate the dedication, qualification and responsibility that the post demands, but not so high as to
compromise the independent opinion of non-executive directors.

Complies [X] Explain

&7. Variable remuneration linked to company and personal performance is limited to executive directors, in
addition to remuneration with shares, options or rights over shares or instruments referenced ta share
value and long-term savings systems such as pension plans, retirement plans or other social benefits

systemns.

Giving shares by way of remuneration ta non-executive directors may be contemplated when this is
conditional on said shares being retained until they cease to be directors. The foregoing will not be
applicable to shares that a director needs to dispose of, as appropriate, to pay for the costs related to
their acquisition.

Complies [X] Partiaily complies Explain

58. In the case of variable remuneration, payment policies incorparate the limits and technical safeguards
required to ensure that such remuneration is in line with the professional performance of the
beneficiaries and is not solely derived from the general evolution of the markets or the business sector
of the company or from ather similar circumstances.

In particular, the variable components of remuneration:

a) Are bound to performance criteria that are predefined and measurable and that such criteria consider
the risk assumed to obtain a result.

b) Promote the company's sustainability and include non-financial criteria that are appropriate for the
creation of long-term value, such as compliance with the company's internal rules and procedures
and its policies for risk control and management.

c) Are set up on the basis of a balance between fulfiling objectives in the short-, medium- and long-
term that make it possible to reward continuous performance during a period of time that is sufficient
to appreciate the contribution to sustainable creation of value, in such a way that the elements far
measuring this performance are not solely based around one-off, occasional or extraordinary events.

Complies Partiafly complles X Explein Not applicable

The Company's executive directars' short-term variable remuneration has ten per cent linked to the prafesslanal performance of the
CEQ, l.e. his performance assessment. The eight competences measured in this performance sssessmant are non-financial and are
linked to predetermined and measurable performance criteria, as fs recommended.
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[n relation to lang-term variable remuneratlon, although it does nat include non-financial criterla as 2 measure of achievement, it doas
include a "dawback” clausa with an application pericd of two years from the end of each cyde and for which the payback of lhe award

may be demanded in the following cases:

I Reatatement af the Company's financlal statements wherever not due to the madification of applicable accounting slandards or
interpretations.

fl. The Executive Director belng sanctioned for serious breach of the code of conduct and othar Internal regulations which may ba applicable.
i, YWhen the settlerment and payment of the award was whally or partially produced on the hasis of Information whose falsehood or

Serious inaccuracy is manifastly demonstrated a posteriori.

59. Payment of a significant part of variable components of remuneration is deferred for a sufficient minimum
period of time to verify that the remuneration terms previously set up have been fulfilled.

Complles | Partially complies X Explain Not applicable

There is na deferral scheme in the Company's cumrent annual variabie remuneration system for any of its participants. With fang-tarm
variable remunaration, ita very nature allaws the Company's performance ta be seen in the madium and long term (3 years), in
additian o ax poest cantral Instruments which would be activated when circumstances arise which make it evident that tha payment
was made on an srananus premise.

60. Remuneration linked to the results of the company shall take into consideration any possible
qualifications in the auditor's report that might reduce such results.

Compiles (X Partially complias Explain Nat applicable

61. A significant percentage of the executive directors’ variable remuneration is linked to the handover of
shares or financial instruments referenced to their value.

Complles | X Fartially campliss Explain Not applicabie

62. Once the shares or options or rights over shares relating to the remuneration system have been allotted,
the directors may nat transfer ownership of a number of shares equivalent to twice their annual fixed
remuneration, nor may they exercise the options or rights until a period of, at least, three years has
passed since their allotment.

The foregoing will not be applicable to shares that a director needs to dispose of, as appropriate, to pay
for the costs related to their acquisition.

Complies Partially complies Exptain X Not applicable

Both the 2014-2018 and 2017-2022 "Performance Shares" Plans establish the abligation to retain the shares delivared to the Executive
Director for at least one year. In addition, the Exscutiva Diractar will be obllged o hald an amount in shares equivalent to at least one
yaar of fixed remuneration throughout their entira tenura. To determme compilance with this obligetion, it considaers the share price on the
day they were delivered.

6.3. Contractual agreements include a clause that allows the company to claim repayment of the variable
components of remuneration where the payment has not been adjusted to the terms for performance or
where they were paid in the light of data which is later proven to be inaccurate.

Complias X Partlally complies Explain Not applleable

64. Payments for tebmdination of contract do nbtlexceed an amoliit estabiished as thel dquivalent of two
years total annual remuneration and they are not paid until the company has been able to prove that the
directar fulfilled the performancs criteria set up beforehand.
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Complies [—I Partially complies Explain  [X Not applicable

Regarding the outgoing Exacutive Body, the passible compensation which could carrespond to it is pending |udlcial review, with the
court having set 20 November 2018 for the pre-trial earing. When any news arises, this information will be transferred quickly and
included into the new annual reports which may be recessary. Notwithstanding the foreqoing, and in accordance with criteria of
acgounting prudence, tha Company's Annual Accourt's have had the maximum amaounts which, if appiicable. could be derived fram
the eventual compensgation to Mr Federico Gonzalez Tejera fully provided far.

I ne event wil Raman Aragonés Marin, the Executive Director appointed in 2017, be enlitied to recelve any compensation daerivad
fram the terminatian of his posttlon and ending of such commercial relationship, However, the possible Indemnities derived from an
ending of tha emplayment relationship will continue ir effect during his term as Exeautive Director, recognising that period as time
emplayad. Once anded. as appropriate, the business relationship will take over the labour relationshlp which was in effect betwaen
company and employee untll the taking on of the new position in all its effects, except in serious and culpable breach and thus
deciared jurisdictionally.

OTHER RELEVANT INFORMATION

1. i there are any aspects reiating to the corporate govemnance of the Company or the Group's entities
which have nat been covered in the other sections of this report, but which are necessary to include
in order ta gather complete and detaiied information on the structure and practices of the governance
of the entity or the Group, please note them briefly.

2. You may include any other infarmation, clarification or detail in this section, related to the previous
sections of the report, which may be relevant but not repetitive.

Specifically, please indicate whether the company is subject to legislation other than that of Spain in
relation to corporate governance and., if applicable, include the information that must be provided and
that is different to the information required by this report.

3. The company may also indicate whether it has voluntarily committed to other codes of ethics or hest
practices, whether international, in the sector or in another context. If so, identify the code in question

and the date of adhesion.

SECTION A.2,

Although in the CNMV Recards il is recardad that the shareholding of Grupo HNA in NH is 29.50% at 31 December 2017,

Grupa HNA repeorted a decrease o 29.34% in its shareholding In NH ta the CNMV on 27 February 2017.

In addition, on 3 Novemnber 20417, Grupe HNA natified the CNMV of the signing of a sales contract and repurchase agreement
through which it would transfer NH shares rapresenting approximately 1.14% of the share capital.

Depending on whether the saie has bsan formalisad and the terms and conditions of it, Grupa HNA's sharaholding in NH could reech
28.20% of the share capital. Finally, on 18 Januars 2018, il notified the CNMV of the angagement to review its sharehokding in NH,
including Klentify potentia! buyers of its sharehalding.

Although the directars ara expressly excluded in s2¢tion A.2, ta show the sharehalding in NH Haotsl Group, SA. clearly, the

shareholding of Grupa Inversor Hesperla, S.A. is included in that seclion as it is also a director of the Company. The sharehaiding of
Grupo Hesparia consists of the direct shareholding held by Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A. (9.10%) and Eurofendo (0.1 7%).

SECTION A.5.

All ralations of a commercial, contractual ar corporate nature between significant shareholders and the Company and/ar its
graup have been described In the section on Related Party Transactions (insofar as the significant shareholders ere also
Company directors). These relations have not been inciuded in section A.5 since these transactions are considersd 1a arise
from the ordinary course of the Company's busineas.

SECTION A.8.

At 31 December 2017, final awnership of NH Hote' Graup, S.A. own shares came to 8,031,895 shares.

59



During 2017, the Company did not acquire own shares. The other oparations correspond ta refunds of shares undartaken as part of
the loan agreement for 9,000,000 shares in NH Hotei Group, S.A. antared Inta as part of the issue of ihe bonds convartible or
axchangeable for shares of NH Hotel Group in MNovember 2013 batwesn the Company and the three finencial ingtitutions Invelved in
the placament of the bonds. The oulstanding balance of the share lending Initiative at 31 December 2017 cams ta 1,384,473 shares.
By virtue of the foregaing, the final ownership of NH Hotel Group, S.A. own shares at 31 Decernber 2017 cams ta £.031,805 shares,
which ara attached to the same number of rights ta vote.

SECTION C.1.12

Given that the IAGC workforce only allows inciusian of positions which the Directors had on the Board of Directors of other listed
companises, it is hereby Infermed that Mr Femando Lacadana Azpeftia Is the Financiai Director et Merlin Properties Saciml, S.A,

SECTION C.1.17

Mr Jordi Ferrer Graupera, the individual representative of Grupo Inversor Hesperig, S.A., a signiflcant shareholder in the
Company, holds the position of joint and saveral director of Grupo inversor Hesperia, S.A.

SECTION C.1.33.
The Board alsa has a Deputy Secretary, Mr Carlos Ulecia Palacios, whe holds the past of Generai Secrelary of the Company.
SECTION C.1.43.

HNA, via lts company Tangla, S.L., brought criminal procasdings agalnst Mr José Antonio Castro S8ausa based on the
agreements adopted at the General Shareholdera’ Meating of 21 Juna 2016 at which Mr Castra served as the Chairman of the
Mesting. The Instructing Judge of said criminal s=tian dismissed and flled the proceadings an 21 September 2017, This order to
dismiss and file has been appezled by HNA, anc ig panding resclutlon,

SECTION C.2 1.

Notwithstanding the detalled composition of the Eoard of Directars, the Company has a co-chalmanship system which specifles
the appaintmant of a Chalrman of the Baard (Mr Alfrede Fernandez Agras) and a Chairman of the Executive Committaa {(Mr José

Antania Castra Sousa).

in relstion to the reference made to the Audit anc Cantral Committes and the idantification of the "member of tha audit
committea who has been appointed taking their knawledge and experience in accounting, audlting or both into account®, the
|IAGC form only allows the appointment of ane of the members (as required by artids 528m of the LSC, which requires that “ane
of them be sppainted taking their knowledge into account” in these matters), clarification Is wanted that all members of the Audit
and Control Cammiktee have extensive experiencs and knowledge in accounting and auditing, which is why they have been

appointed ta ba pan of the Committee in question.
SECTION D.2,

On 18 April 2017, NH and the sharshalder Grupc inversor Hesperia, S.A. signed a framework contract for hatel management for a
total net amaunt of 31,000 {thousand) auros, of which 11,000 (thousand) euras was paid in 2017 (published thraugh Relevant
Event with record number 250817 dated 18 April 2017). Said agreement has brought abaut a new strateglc and transformational
framework for the Campany when signing naw hatel management contracts for a term of 9 years.

it is hereby recorded that concaming the management agreement entered into between Hotelas Hesperia, S.A. and the major
sharehalder Grupo Inversor Hesperia, S.A., the tctal ransaction volume in 2017 came ta 8,969 {thousand) ewos. The balance at 31
December 2017 resulting from said management agreement is contained in this report and comas to 2,101 {thousand) euros.

SECTION D.3.

See note D.2. where the shareholder Grupo Inversor Hesperla, S.A. which carries out significant operations with the Company is a
Director of the Company al the same fimea.

SECTION G.3.

Although the General Sharcholders’ Meeting complisd with the provislons of this Recommendation, il was the Chairman of the
Appointments, Remuneration and Corporate Gavemanca Commilttee (and not the Chairman of the Board) who provided this

information.

This annual corparate govermnance repor: has been approved by the company’s Board of Directors in its
session on 28/02/2018.

Indicate whether any directors voted against or abstained in relation to the approval of this report.
Yes Na (X
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AUDITORS' REPORT ON THE "INFORMATION RELATING TO THE SYSTEM OF INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING (ICFR}" QF NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED ON

DECEMBER 31", 2017

To the Directors of
NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A.:

As requested by the Board of Directors of NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A, (“the Entity”} and in accordance
with our proposal-letter of Jlanuary 22", 2018, we have applied certain procedures to the
accompanying "Information relating to the ICFR” of NH HOTEL GROUP, S.A. for the fiscal year ended
on December 31, 2017, which summarises the internal contral procedures of the Entity in relation
to its annual financial reperting.

The Board of Directors is responsible for adopting the appropriate measures in order to reasonably
guarantee the implementation, maintenance and supervision of an adequate internal control system
and for making improvements te that system and for preparing and establishing the content of the
accompanying information refating to the ICFR system included in section F) of the accompanying
Annual Corparate Governance Report (ACGR).

It should be noted in this regard, irrespective of the quality of the design and operationai
effectiveness of the internal control system adopted by the Entity in relation to its annual financial
reporting, that the system can only permit reasonabie, but not absolute, assurance in connection
with the objectives pursued, due to the limitations inherent to any internal contral system.

In the course of our audit work on the financial statements and pursuant to Technical Auditing
Standards, the sole purpose of aur assessment of the internal control of the Entity was to enable us
te establish the scope, nature and timing of the audit procedures to be applied to the Entity’s financial
statements. Therefore, our assessment of internal control performed for the purposes of the
aforementioned audit of financial statements was not sufficiently extensive to enable us to axpress
a speclfic oplnion on the effectiveness of the internai control over the regulated annual financial
reporting.

For the purpose of issuing this report, we applied exclusively the specific procedures described below
and indicated In the Guidelines on the Aucitors’ Report on the Information relating to the System of
Internal Controi over Financial Reporting of Listed Companies, published by the Spanish National
Securities Market Commission on its website, which establishes the work to be performed, the
minimum scope thereof and the content of this repart. Since the work resulting from such procedures
has, in any case, a reduced scope that is significantly iess extensive than that of an audit or a review
of the internal control system, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness thereof, or on its
design or operating effectiveness, in relation te the Entity's annual financial reporting for the fiscal
year ended on December 31, 2017 described in the accompanying information on the ICFR system,
Therefore, had we applied procedures additional to those established in the aforementioned
Guidelines or performed an audit or a review of the internal control over the regulated annual financial
reporting, other matters or aspects might have been disclosed which would have been reported to

youl.

Alsa, since this special engagement does not constitute an audit of financial statements and is not
subject to the consolidated Spanish audit law, we do not express an audit opinion in the terms
provided for in that Law.
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The procedures applied were as follows:

8

Perusal and understanding of the information prepared by the Entity in relation to the ICFR
system - disclosure information included in the directors’ report - and assessment of whether
this information addresses all the 'nformation required considering the minimum content
described in section F, relating te the description of the ICFR system, of the ACGR form, as
established in CNMV Circular 7/2015 of December 22 2015, which amends CNMV Circular
5/2013 of June 12, 2013,

Inquiries of personnel in charge af preparing the information detailed in point 1 above for the
purpose of achieving: (i} familiarisation with the preparation process; (ii) obtainment of the
information requlred in order to assess whether the terminology used is adapted to the definitions
provided in the reference framework; (iil) obtainment of information on whether the
aforementioned control procedures have been implementad and are in use at the Entity,

Review of the explanatory documents supporting the information detailed in point 1 above,
including documents directly made available to those responsible for describing the ICFR
systems. In this respect, the aforementioned documentation includes reports prepared by the
Internal Audit Department, senior executives or other internal or external experts providing
support functions to the Audit Committee.

Comparison of the information detailed in point 1 above with the knowledge on the Entity's ICFR
obtained through the procedures applied during the financial statement audit work.

Reading of the minutes taken at meetings of the Board of Directors, Audit and Control Committee
and other committees of the Entity to evaluate the consistency between the ICFR business
transacted and the information detailed in point 1 ahove.

Obtainment of the representation letter in connection with the work performed, signed by those
responsible for preparing and farmulating the information detailed in point 1 above.

The procedures applied te the information relating to the ICFR system did not disclose any
inconsistencles or incidents that might affect the informatian.

This report has been prepared exclusively in the context of the requirements of article 540 of
Corporate Enterprises Act and by CNMV CZircular 7/2015 of December 22, 2015, which amends
CNMV Circular 5/2013 of June 12'%, 2013, published by the Spanish National Securities Market
Commission for the purposes of the description of the ICFR system in Annual Corporate Governance

Reports.

DELOITTE, S.L.
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